EXTRAPOLATION VIA SAWYER-TYPE INEQUALITIES

EDUARD ROURE-PERDICES

ABSTRACT. We present a multi-variable extension of Rubio de Francia's restricted weak-type extrapolation theory that does not involve Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm; instead, we rely on the following Sawyer-type inequality for the weighted Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M_u :

$$\left\|\frac{M_{u}(fv)}{v}\right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(uv)} \le C_{u,v} \|f\|_{L^{1}(uv)}, \quad u, \, uv \in A_{\infty}.$$

Our approach can be adapted to recover weak-type $A_{\vec{P}}$ extrapolation schemes, including an endpoint result that falls outside the classical theory.

Among the applications of our work, we highlight extending outside the Banach range the well-known equivalence between restricted weak-type and weak-type for characteristic functions, and obtaining mixed and restricted weak-type bounds with $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights for relevant families of multi-variable operators, addressing the lack in the literature of these types of estimates. We also reveal several standalone properties of the class $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$.



CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Preliminaries	7
	2.1. Notation and conventions	7
	2.2. Lorentz spaces and weights	8
	2.3. Types of bounds	2
	2.4. (ε, δ) -atomic operators	3
3.	Technical results	4
	3.1. Interpolation of weights	4
	3.2. Extensions of \widehat{A}_p	5
	3.3. Construction of weights	6
	3.4. Some properties of $A_n^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights	8
4.	A dual Sawyer-type inequality 1	9
5.	One-variable off-diagonal extrapolation	2
	5.1. Restricted weak-type results	2
	5.2. Weak-type results	8

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 42B25, 46E30.

Key words and phrases. Extrapolation, Lorentz spaces, restricted weak-type, weights, Sawyertype inequalities.

The author was partially supported by the MICINNU project PGC2018-094522-B-I00 and a Margarita Salas grant [University of Barcelona / Spanish Ministry of Universities / Spain's Recovery, Transformation and Resilience Plan / European Union NextGenerationEU].

EDUARD ROURE-PERDICES

6.	. Multi-variable extrapolation	35		
	6.1. Main results	35		
	6.2. A one-weight scheme	38		
7.	. Applications	42		
	7.1. Weak-type operators	42		
	7.2. Product-type operators and commutators	44		
	7.3. Averaging operators and NBV Fourier multipliers	46		
8.	• To $A_{\vec{P}}$ and beyond	51		
	8.1. Weighted weights	51		
	8.2. One-variable extrapolation remastered	56		
	8.3. Extensions of $A_{\vec{P}}$ and extrapolation	62		
Au	Author's note			
Re	leferences	67		

1. INTRODUCTION

In the topic of weighted theory, a result that has attracted the attention of many researchers in the field is the so-called *Rubio de Francia's extrapolation theorem* (see [76, 77]), which provides a precious shortcut when trying to prove weighted strong-type bounds. In its simplest form, it says that if a sub-linear operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^p(v) \longrightarrow L^p(v),$$

for some $1 \leq p < \infty$, and every Muckenhoupt weight v in A_p , then

$$T: L^q(w) \longrightarrow L^q(w).$$

for every $1 < q < \infty$, and every Muckenhoupt weight w in A_q (see Section 2 for definitions).

Many alternative proofs of this theorem are available in the literature (see [2, 28, 34, 41]), also tracking the sharp dependence of $||T||_{L^q(w)\to L^q(w)}$ in terms of $[w]_{A_q}$ (see [33]), and off-diagonal results where the domain and target Lebesgue spaces differ both in terms of exponents and weights (see [25, 35, 48] for strong-type results, and [69] for weak-type ones). Moreover, it was discovered that the operator T plays no role in the extrapolation process, and one can simply work with families of pairs of measurable functions (see [26, 31, 35]).

Around the beginning of the current millennium, the topic of multi-variable operators started gathering interest, with the resolution of Calderón's conjecture (see [54, 57]) and the development of a systematic treatment of multi-linear Calderón-Zygmund operators (see [47]), and the first results on multi-variable Rubio de Francia's extrapolation appeared.

In [46], it was proved that if an m-variable operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^{p_1}(v_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(v_m) \longrightarrow L^p(v_1^{p/p_1} \dots v_m^{p/p_m}),$$

for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_1 \in A_{p_1}, \ldots, v_m \in A_{p_m}$, then

$$T: L^{q_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^q(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

for all exponents $1 < q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_1 \in A_{q_1}, \ldots, w_m \in A_{q_m}$.

In [35], the sharp dependence of $||T||_{L^{q_1}(w_1)\times\cdots\times L^{q_m}(w_m)\to L^q(w_1^{q/q_1}\dots w_m^{q/q_m})}$ in terms of $([w_i]_{A_{q_i}})_{1\leq i\leq m}$ was established, and analogous multi-variable weak-type extrapolation schemes were studied in [19]. Once again, the operator T plays no role, and all the results can be stated for (m+1)-tuples of measurable functions.

Recently, multi-variable strong-type extrapolation theorems for $A_{\vec{P}}$ weights have been obtained in [61, 62, 70], solving in the affirmative a question that had been going around for about a decade, since the publication of [60], where such weights were introduced.

Rubio de Francia's extrapolation theory provides a potent set of tools in Harmonic Analysis, but it has a weak spot; namely, it does not allow to produce estimates in the endpoint $q_1 = \cdots = q_m = 1$, which can be easily seen by considering *m*-variable commutators (see [60]).

In the case of one-variable extrapolation, the works of M. J. Carro, L. Grafakos, and J. Soria (see [16]), M. J. Carro and J. Soria (see [18]), and S. Baena-Miret and M. J. Carro (see [3]) give a solution to this problem assuming a slightly stronger extrapolation hypothesis. They showed that if a sub-linear operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^{p,1}(v) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v),$$

for some exponent $1 \leq p < \infty$, and every weight v in \widehat{A}_p , then

$$T: L^{q,\min\left\{1,\frac{q}{p}\right\}}(w) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w),$$

for every exponent $1 \leq q < \infty$, and every weight w in \widehat{A}_q . Here, for $r \geq 1$, the class \widehat{A}_r contains all the weights of the form $(Mh)^{1-r}u$, where $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $u \in A_1$. If r = 1, then $\widehat{A}_1 = A_1$, but for r > 1, $A_r \subsetneq \widehat{A}_r \subseteq A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$.

In general, the classical strong and weak-type Rubio de Francia's extrapolation theorems rely on three fundamental ingredients: factorization of A_r weights, construction of A_1 weights via Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm (see [11, 76]), and sharp weighted bounds for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M. However, in the setting of restricted weak-type Rubio de Francia's extrapolation, many technical difficulties appear. For instance, no factorization result is known for $A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights, which justifies the need for the class \hat{A}_r . Also, within this framework, the Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm can not be defined and has to be carefully replaced by the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M in the construction of weights. Fortunately, we do have sharp weighted restricted weak-type bounds for M.

The main purpose of this project is to build upon [3, 16, 18, 19, 75] and extend to the multi-variable setting the restricted weak-type Rubio de Francia's extrapolation techniques discussed there.

The first result that we were able to deduce, presented in [75, Theorem 3.2.1], allows us to extrapolate down to the endpoint $(1, 1, \frac{1}{2})$ from a diagonal estimate. Simply put, if a two-variable operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^{r,1}(v_1) \times L^{r,1}(v_2) \longrightarrow L^{\frac{r}{2},\infty}(v_1^{1/2}v_2^{1/2}),$$

for some exponent $1 < r < \infty$, and all weights $v_1, v_2 \in \widehat{A}_r$, then

$$T: L^{1,\frac{1}{r}}(w_1) \times L^{1,\frac{1}{r}}(w_2) \longrightarrow L^{\frac{1}{2},\infty}(w_1^{1/2}w_2^{1/2}),$$

for all weights $w_1, w_2 \in A_1$. The crucial point in its proof is the endpoint bound

(1.1)
$$M^{\otimes}: L^1(w_1) \times L^1(w_2) \longrightarrow L^{\frac{1}{2},\infty}(w_1^{1/2}w_2^{1/2}),$$

proved in [60] and refined in [75, Theorem 2.4.1] and [74, Theorem 3]. Here, the operator M^{\otimes} is defined for locally integrable functions f_1 and f_2 by

$$M^{\otimes}(f_1, f_2)(x) := M f_1(x) M f_2(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where M is the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator.

For simplicity, in [75, Chapter 3] we decided to work on two-variable extrapolation; the extension from two variables to multiple variables is just a matter of notation.

The approach to establishing general downwards extrapolation schemes is now evident: find some auxiliary operator \mathscr{Z} for which we can prove mixed and restricted weak-type inequalities, and use the extrapolation hypotheses to transfer such bounds to the generic operator T. The operator \mathscr{Z} plays the same role as the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator plays in the one-variable restricted weak-type extrapolation theory of Rubio de Francia.

As it turns out, sometimes we can take M^{\otimes} to be our auxiliary operator (see [75, Theorem 3.2.4]). Moreover, our preliminary mixed-type inequalities for M^{\otimes} in [75, Theorem 2.2.10] encouraged us to develop the multi-variable mixed-type extrapolation theory of Rubio de Francia, partially presented in [75, Section 3.3] and completed in Section 6.

After a detailed analysis of the proof of (1.1) in [60], we concluded that the complete solution to multi-variable mixed and restricted weak-type extrapolation, along with the corresponding bounds for M^{\otimes} , relies on weighted inequalities for operators of the form

$$\mathscr{Z}f = \frac{Mf}{U}$$

on Lorentz spaces, being U some nice weight. This discovery forced us into developing our theory of Sawyer-type inequalities for Lorentz spaces, displayed in [75, Section 2] and [74].

One of our most remarkable achievements is the following, which, unexpectedly, keeps popping up in our calculations: if $u \in A_{\infty}$ and $uv \in A_{\infty}$, then there exists a well-behaved constant $C_{u,v}$ such that for every measurable function f,

(1.2)
$$\left\|\frac{M_u(fv)}{v}\right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(uv)} \le C_{u,v} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)| u(x) v(x) dx.$$

By exploiting (1.2), the Sawyer-type inequality in [74, Theorem 2], and its dual version in Theorem 4.1, we manage to produce Theorem 6.1, the multi-variable mixed and restricted weak-type extrapolation scheme that we were seeking, fulfilling the original goal of our project. In general terms, we have that if an *m*-variable operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^{p_1,1}(v_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_{\ell},1}(v_{\ell}) \times L^{p_{\ell+1}}(v_{\ell+1}) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(v_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v_1^{p/p_1} \dots v_m^{p/p_m}),$$

for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i,\infty}, i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $v_i \in A_{p_i}, i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, then

$$T: \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} L^{q_i,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\right\}}(w_i)\right) \times \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} L^{q_i,\min\left\{p_i,q_i\right\}}(w_i)\right) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1}\dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

for all exponents $1 \leq q_1, \ldots, q_\ell < \infty, 1 < q_{\ell+1}, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}, i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $w_i \in A_{q_i}, i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$. Here, for $r \geq 1$, the class $\widehat{A}_{r,\infty}$ is an extension of \widehat{A}_r such that $\widehat{A}_r \subseteq \widehat{A}_{r,\infty} \subseteq A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$.

In particular, and ignoring some technicalities (see Theorem 7.1), we get that if an m-variable operator T satisfies that

$$T: L^{p_1,1}(v_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m,1}(v_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v_1^{p/p_1} \dots v_m^{p/p_m}),$$

for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_1 \in \widehat{A}_{p_1}, \ldots, v_m \in \widehat{A}_{p_m}$, then

$$T: L^{q_1,1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,1}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

for all exponents $1 \leq q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, with $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_1 \in \widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}, \ldots, w_m \in \widehat{A}_{q_m,\infty}$. For a one-weight version, see Corollary 6.6. Following A. Cordoba's philosophy on strong-type extrapolation, we can say that:

Let us point out that in the mixed-type setting, and when working with A_r weights, we can either follow the classical approach, using Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm, or our new strategy, with (1.2) and related Sawyer-type inequalities, to run the extrapolation procedures, with the former leading to better constants than the latter, but in the restricted weak-type setting, the first option is not available, and we have no choice but to use Sawyer-type inequalities.

Our techniques can be further enhanced and, when combined with recently unearthed structures inside $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ (see Subsection 8.1), can be used to tackle extrapolation assuming multi-variable conditions on the tuples of measures involved (see Subsection 8.2 and Theorem 8.16), including endpoint results that are out of reach for the classical procedures in [61, 62, 70] (see Theorem 8.21).

Inspired by [35], we derive our multi-variable extrapolation theorems from onevariable off-diagonal extrapolation results (see Section 5 and Subsection 8.2).

For technical reasons, in all our extrapolation arguments, we require the constants in each estimate to depend increasingly on the constants of the weights involved. This hypothesis may seem restrictive at first, but it is not, since sharp constants are this way (see [33, Footnote 3]).

Note that for mixed and restricted weak-type bounds for multi-variable operators, the Lorentz spaces that we consider have first exponents $1 \leq r_1, \ldots, r_m < \infty$, and r such that $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{r_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{r_m}$. Hence, we can identify each choice of exponents r_1, \ldots, r_m with the point $(\frac{1}{r_1}, \ldots, \frac{1}{r_m})$ in the space of parameters $(0, 1]^m$.

A relevant region inside this *m*-cube is the so-called *Banach range* (see Figure 1),

$$\mathfrak{B}_m := \{(x_1, \dots, x_m) \in (0, 1]^m : x_1 + \dots + x_m < 1\},\$$

where the corresponding values of the exponent r are strictly bigger than one, and hence, $L^{r,\infty}(v)$ is a Banach space, being v a weight. In particular, duality is available (see [43, Theorem 1.4.16.(v)]).

Duality has proved to be a powerful tool in the study of weighted inequalities for classical operators, especially when combined with sparse domination techniques. Thus, working with Lorentz spaces where duality is not available is a problem in practice, and it gets worse as we increase the number of variables m, since the Banach range shrinks fast. In fact, one can check that

$$|\mathfrak{B}_m| = \frac{1}{m!}.$$

This lack of duality can sometimes be circumvented by wisely using Kolmogorov's inequalities (see [74] and [75, Chapter 5]), but not always, and that's when our extrapolation kicks in. We can prove bounds in the Banach range by hand, and



FIGURE 1. Pictorial representation of the Banach range for one, two, and three variables.

then effectively extend them outside it via multi-variable mixed or restricted weaktype extrapolation techniques.

In particular, our extrapolation schemes are handy for overcoming two fundamental problems of weak Lebesgue spaces $L^{r,\infty}(v)$ with $0 < r \leq 1$, strongly related to the absence of duality: the lack of Hölder-type inequalities with the change of measures, and Minkowski's integral inequality.

The first problem becomes an obstacle when working with product-type operators. Nevertheless, using our Hölder-type inequalities from [75, Subsection 2.2.1], we can obtain bounds for such operators in the Banach range, and then apply an extrapolation result to extend them past such a range of exponents. For the exact details, see Proposition 7.6 and Theorem 7.8. These arguments also apply to some multi-variable commutators, as shown in Corollary 7.9.

The second problem is an impediment when trying to produce bounds for averaging operators. Here, the strategy is to prove estimates in the Banach range using Minkowski's integral inequality and then extrapolate outside it, as we see in Theorem 7.11.

As a particular case, we started working with multi-linear multipliers of the form

$$T_{\mathfrak{m}}(f_1,\ldots,f_m)(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{m}(\vec{\xi}) \widehat{f_1}(\xi_1) \ldots \widehat{f_m}(\xi_m) e^{2\pi i x (\xi_1 + \cdots + \xi_m)} d\xi_1 \ldots d\xi_m,$$

initially defined for Schwartz functions f_1, \ldots, f_m , and $x \in \mathbb{R}$. The study of such operators was initiated by R. R. Coifman and Y. Meyer (see [21, 22]). In recent years, the interest in them has increased, following the works by M. Lacey and C. Thiele on the bi-linear Hilbert transform and Calderón's conjecture (see [55, 56, 57]). For more information and results on *m*-linear multipliers and related topics, see [40, 44, 45, 47, 51, 64, 68].

Following [34], we found that for nice symbols \mathfrak{m} , it is possible to write $T_{\mathfrak{m}}$ as an averaging operator of products of modulated and translated Hilbert transforms, and hence, in Theorem 7.13, we are able to establish mixed-type inequalities for these operators using our multi-variable extrapolation tools, combined with bounds on weighted Lorentz spaces for the point-wise product of Hilbert transforms.

It's time to face the elephant in the room: mixed and restricted weak-type results with $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights are scarce in the literature and generally difficult to prove, even in the Banach range. This means that the required estimate to start extrapolating will not always be available. Fortunately, we can find plenty of weak-type $(1, \ldots, 1, \frac{1}{m})$ operators out there, and extrapolate upwards from the endpoint $p_1 = \cdots = p_m = 1$ with Corollary 6.3 or Theorem 7.1 to cover the full range of mixed and restricted weak-type bounds for them. A remarkable example is the family of so-called multilinear bounded oscillation operators (see [13]), including Calderón-Zygmund operators, Littlewood-Paley square operators, Fourier integral operators, higher order Calderón commutators, and maximally modulated singular integrals. See Theorem 7.5 for details.

Developing (1.2) and its corollaries, Sawyer-type inequalities for Lorentz spaces and mixed and restricted weak-type bounds for M^{\otimes} , and using them to deduce multi-variable extrapolation schemes is an original idea of the author—E. R. P. and was first described by him in [75]. What follows is a satisfactory closure of that piece of work.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we introduce some basic concepts that we will use throughout this document.

2.1. Notation and conventions.

In general, we will work in \mathbb{R}^n , with $1 \leq n \in \mathbb{N}$. Unless otherwise specified, by a function f we mean a real or complex-valued function on \mathbb{R}^n . If we say that a function f is measurable, but we don't specify any measure, then it is with respect to the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^n . The same applies to measurable sets, integrals, and also to the expression a.e.; that is, almost everywhere.

Given a measure ν , and a ν -measurable set E, we use the notation

$$\nu(E) := \int_E d\nu.$$

If ν is the Lebesgue measure, then we simply write |E|. Given a measurable function f, and a measurable set E, with $|E| \neq 0$, we use the notation

$$\oint_E f := \frac{1}{|E|} \int_E f(x) dx.$$

A cube Q is a subset of \mathbb{R}^n that admits an expression as a Cartesian product of *n* intervals of the same length, the *side length of Q*, denoted by ℓ_Q . If these intervals are all open, then the cube is called *open*, and if they are all closed, then the cube is called *closed*. By default, our cubes will be open, and we can find a unique $x_Q \in \mathbb{R}^n$, called the *center of* Q, such that $Q = \{x_Q + \ell_Q y : y \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})^n\}$. For $\gamma > 0$, $\gamma Q := \{x_Q + \gamma \ell_Q y : y \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})^n\}$. With the obvious modifications, these notions extend to arbitrary cubes.

Given non-negative quantities \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} , we write $\mathscr{A} \leq \mathscr{B}$ if there exists a finite constant C > 0, independent of \mathscr{A} and \mathscr{B} , such that $\mathscr{A} \leq C\mathscr{B}$. If $\mathscr{A} \leq \mathscr{B} \leq \mathscr{A}$, then we write $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{B}$. The constant C is called the *implicit constant*. Usually, we will denote implicit constants by $\kappa, c, \mathfrak{c}, \mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{or } \mathfrak{C}$. In many cases, they will depend on some parameters $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_\ell$, and if we want to point out that dependence, we will use subscripts, e.g., $\mathscr{A} \leq_{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_\ell} \mathscr{B}$, or $\mathscr{A} =_{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_\ell} \mathscr{B}$, or $\mathscr{A} \leq C_{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_\ell} \mathscr{B}$. We shall use numerical subscripts and superscripts to label different implicit constants appearing in the same argument. We write $\mathscr{A} \leq C(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_\ell)\mathscr{B}$ when we want to interpret C as a function of the parameters $\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_\ell$. In these cases, we may replace C by other symbols, like $\phi, \varphi, \Phi, \psi$, or Ψ , especially when the dependence on the parameters is monotonically increasing.

Given real or complex vector spaces X_1, \ldots, X_m , and Y, endowed with quasinorms $\|\cdot\|_{X_1}, \ldots, \|\cdot\|_{X_m}$, and $\|\cdot\|_Y$, respectively, and an operator T defined on $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m$ and taking values in Y, we use the notation

$$T: X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m \longrightarrow Y$$

to indicate that T is a bounded operator from $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m$ to Y; that is, there exists a finite constant C > 0 such that for all $f_1 \in X_1, \ldots, f_m \in X_m$,

$$||T(f_1,\ldots,f_m)||_Y \le C \prod_{i=1}^m ||f_i||_{X_i}.$$

Among all such constants C, we shall denote by $||T||_{\prod_{i=1}^m X_i \to Y}$ the smallest one.

We adhere to the usual convention that the *empty sum* (the sum containing no terms) is equal to zero, and the *empty product* is equal to one.

2.2. Lorentz spaces and weights.

We include a brief exposition about Lebesgue and Lorentz spaces, containing definitions and well-known properties. For a detailed discussion, see [9, 43].

Given $0 , and a <math>\sigma$ -finite measure space (X, ν) , $L^p(X, \nu)$ is the set of ν -measurable functions f on X such that

$$||f||_{L^p(X,\nu)} := \left(\int_X |f|^p d\nu\right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$

and $L^{\infty}(X,\nu)$ is the set of ν -measurable functions f on X such that

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}(X,\nu)} := \nu \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in X} |f(x)| < \infty.$$

The Lebesgue space $L^p(X, \nu)$ is a Banach space for $1 \le p \le \infty$, and a quasi-Banach space for 0 .

Given $0 < p, q < \infty$, and a ν -measurable function f on X, define

$$\|f\|_{L^{p,q}(X,\nu)} := \left(p \int_0^\infty y^q \lambda_f^{\nu}(y)^{q/p} \frac{dy}{y}\right)^{1/q} = \left(\int_0^\infty t^{q/p} f_{\nu}^*(t)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q},$$

and for $q = \infty$, define

$$||f||_{L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)} := \sup_{y>0} y \lambda_f^{\nu}(y)^{1/p} = \sup_{t>0} t^{1/p} f_{\nu}^*(t)$$

where λ_f^{ν} is the distribution function of f with respect to ν , defined on $[0,\infty)$ by

$$\lambda_f^{\nu}(y) := \nu(\{x \in X : |f(x)| > y\}),$$

and f_{ν}^* is the decreasing rearrangement of f with respect to ν , defined on $[0,\infty)$ by

$$f_{\nu}^{*}(t) := \inf\{y > 0 : \lambda_{f}^{\nu}(y) \le t\}.$$

The set of all ν -measurable functions f on X with $||f||_{L^{p,q}(X,\nu)} < \infty$ is denoted by $L^{p,q}(X,\nu)$, and it is called the *Lorentz space with indices* p and q. The space $L^{\infty,\infty}(X,\nu)$ is $L^{\infty}(X,\nu)$ by definition.

For $0 , <math>L^{p,p}(X,\nu) = L^p(X,\nu)$, and hence, Lebesgue spaces are particular examples of Lorentz spaces. The space $L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)$ is usually called *weak* $L^p(X,\nu)$.

Some Lorentz spaces that will be of great interest for us are $L^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, $L^{p,p}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, and $L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, where $d\nu(x) = w(x)dx$, and w is a weight; i.e., $0 < w \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For such measures on \mathbb{R}^n , we shall write $L^{p,q}(\nu)$, $L^{p,q}(w)$, or $L^{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if w = 1.

In general, $L^{p,q}(X,\nu)$ is a quasi-Banach space, but if $1 and <math>1 \le q \le \infty$, or p = q = 1, or $p = q = \infty$, then it can be normed to become a Banach space.

Lorentz spaces are nested; that is, if $0 , and <math>0 < q < r \le \infty$, then

$$L^{p,q}(X,\nu) \hookrightarrow L^{p,r}(X,\nu),$$

and for every $f \in L^{p,q}(X,\nu)$,

$$\|f\|_{L^{p,r}(X,\nu)} \le \left(\frac{q}{p}\right)^{\frac{r-q}{rq}} \|f\|_{L^{p,q}(X,\nu)}$$

Given parameters $0 < r < p < \infty$, consider the quantity

$$|||f|||_{L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)} := \sup_{0 < \nu(E) < \infty} \nu(E)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{r}} \left(\int_E |f|^r d\nu \right)^{1/r}$$

where the supremum is taken over all ν -measurable sets $E \subseteq X$ such that $0 < \nu(E) < \infty$. We have that

$$||f||_{L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)} \le |||f|||_{L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)} \le \left(\frac{p}{p-r}\right)^{1/r} ||f||_{L^{p,\infty}(X,\nu)}$$

This is classical (see [43, Exercise 1.1.12]), and we will refer to these inequalities as *Kolmogorov's inequalities*.

For $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M, introduced in [49], is defined by

$$Mf(x) := \sup_{Q \ni x} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} |f(y)| dy, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ containing x. For an exponent $\mu > 0$, we write $M^{\mu}f := M(|f|^{1/\mu})^{\mu}$.

In [66], Muckenhoupt studied the boundedness of M on Lebesgue spaces $L^{p}(w)$, obtaining that for 1 ,

$$M: L^p(w) \longrightarrow L^p(w)$$

if, and only if $w \in A_p$; that is, if

$$[w]_{A_p} := \sup_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} w \right) \left(\oint_{Q} w^{1-p'} \right)^{p-1} < \infty.$$

Moreover, if $1 \leq p < \infty$,

$$M: L^p(w) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(w)$$

if, and only if $w \in A_p$, where a weight $w \in A_1$ if

$$[w]_{A_1} := \sup_Q \left(\oint_Q w \right) \left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x \in Q} w(x) \right)^{-1} < \infty.$$

Buckley proved in [12] (see also [72]) that for $1 \le p < \infty$,

$$||M||_{L^p(w)\to L^{p,\infty}(w)} \lesssim_n [w]_{A_p}^{1/p}$$

and if p > 1, then

$$||M||_{L^p(w)\to L^p(w)} \lesssim_n p'[w]_{A_p}^{\frac{1}{p-1}}.$$

In [32, 52], Chung, Hunt, and Kurtz, and Kerman, and Torchinsky proved that for $1 \le p < \infty$,

$$M: L^{p,1}(w) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(w)$$

if, and only if $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, where a weight w is in $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ if

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} := \sup_{Q} w(Q)^{1/p} \frac{\|\chi_Q w^{-1}\|_{L^{p',\infty}(w)}}{|Q|} < \infty,$$

or equivalently, if

$$\|w\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} := \sup_{Q} \sup_{E \subseteq Q} \frac{|E|}{|Q|} \left(\frac{w(Q)}{w(E)}\right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

We have that $[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq ||w||_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq p[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}$, and

 $\|M\|_{L^{p,1}(w)\to L^{p,\infty}(w)}\eqsim_{n,p} [w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}.$

A remarkable subclass of $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ is \widehat{A}_p , introduced in [16]. Given $1 \leq p < \infty$, a weight w belongs to the class \widehat{A}_p if there exist a function $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = (Mh)^{1-p}u$. It is possible to associate a constant to this class of weights, given by

$$||w||_{\widehat{A}_p} := \inf [u]_{A_1}^{1/p},$$

where the infimum is taken over all weights $u \in A_1$ such that $w = (Mh)^{1-p}u$. If $w \in \widehat{A}_p$, then $\|w\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq_{n,p} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_p}$, and $\widehat{A}_p \subseteq A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, but it is not known if this inclusion is strict for p > 1. Note that $\widehat{A}_1 = A_1$, and for p > 1, $A_p \subsetneq \widehat{A}_p$.

We now introduce some other classes of weights that will appear later. For more information about them, see [27, 30, 36, 42, 43, 50, 82].

Define the class of weights

$$A_{\infty} := \bigcup_{p \ge 1} A_p = \bigcup_{p \ge 1} A_p^{\mathcal{R}}.$$

It is known that a weight $w \in A_{\infty}$ if, and only if

$$[w]_{A_{\infty}} := \sup_{Q} \frac{1}{w(Q)} \int_{Q} M(w\chi_{Q}) < \infty.$$

Given s > 1, we say that a weight $w \in RH_s$ if

$$[w]_{RH_s} := \sup_Q \frac{|Q|}{w(Q)} \left(\oint_Q w^s \right)^{1/s} < \infty,$$

-1 /

and $w \in RH_{\infty}$ if

$$[w]_{RH_{\infty}} := \sup_{Q} \frac{|Q|}{w(Q)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in Q} w(x) < \infty.$$

We have that

$$A_{\infty} = \bigcup_{1 < s \le \infty} RH_s$$

For a positive Borel measure ν on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$M_{\nu}f(x) := \sup_{Q \ni x} \frac{1}{\nu(Q)} \int_{Q} |f(y)| d\nu(y), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ containing x and such that $0 < \nu(Q) < \infty$. If $d\nu(y) = w(y)dy$ for some weight w, we simply write M_w , and call it the weighted Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator.

Given a positive Borel measure ν on \mathbb{R}^n , we say it is *locally finite* if $\nu(Q) < \infty$ for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and *doubling* if there exists a constant C > 0 such that for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, $\nu(2Q) \leq C\nu(Q)$; the smallest of such constants is the *doubling constant of* ν . For a measure ν with these properties, and $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, $|f(x)| \leq M_{\nu}f(x) \nu$ -a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ (see [39, Theorem 7.8] and [7, Theorem 8.4.6]). A particular case of interest is $d\nu(y) = w(y)dy$, with $w \in A_{\infty}$.

Given a positive, locally finite, doubling Borel measure ν on \mathbb{R}^n , and $0 < w \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, we say that $w \in A_p(\nu)$, with p > 1, if

$$[w]_{A_p(\nu)} := \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\nu(Q)} \int_Q w d\nu \right) \left(\frac{1}{\nu(Q)} \int_Q w^{1-p'} d\nu \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

and $w \in A_1(\nu)$ if

$$[w]_{A_1(\nu)} := \sup_Q \left(\frac{1}{\nu(Q)} \int_Q w d\nu\right) \left(\nu - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x \in Q} w(x)\right)^{-1} < \infty$$

Also, for $p \ge 1$, $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\nu)$ if

$$[w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}(\nu)} := \sup_{Q} \left(\int_{Q} w d\nu \right)^{1/p} \frac{\|\chi_{Q} w^{-1}\|_{L^{p',\infty}(w d\nu)}}{\nu(Q)} < \infty$$

and $w \in \widehat{A}_p(\nu)$ if there exist a function $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n, \nu)$, and $u \in A_1(\nu)$ such that $w = (M_{\nu}h)^{1-p}u$. To this class of functions we can associate the constant

$$||w||_{\widehat{A}_p(\nu)} := \inf [u]_{A_1(\nu)}^{1/p},$$

where the infimum is taken over all $u \in A_1(\nu)$ such that $w = (M_{\nu}h)^{1-p}u$.

As before, we define

$$A_{\infty}(\nu) := \bigcup_{p \ge 1} A_p(\nu).$$

For $w \in A_{\infty}(\nu)$,

$$[w]_{A_{\infty}(\nu)} := \sup_{Q} \frac{1}{\int_{Q} w d\nu} \int_{Q} M_{\nu}(w\chi_{Q}) d\nu < \infty.$$

If p > 1, then $M_{\nu} : L^p(wd\nu) \longrightarrow L^p(wd\nu)$ if, and only if $w \in A_p(\nu)$, and if $p \ge 1$, then $M_{\nu} : L^{p,1}(wd\nu) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(wd\nu)$ if, and only if $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\nu)$.

In [60], the following multi-variable extension of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator was introduced in connection with the theory of multi-linear Calderón-Zygmund operators:

$$\mathcal{M}(\vec{f})(x) := \sup_{Q \ni x} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} |f_i(y_i)| dy_i \right), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

for $\vec{f} = (f_1, \dots, f_m)$, with $f_i \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ i = 1, \dots, m.$

For $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\vec{P} = (p_1, \ldots, p_m)$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and weights w_1, \ldots, w_m , with $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m)$, and $\nu_{\vec{w}} := w_1^{p/p_1} \ldots w_m^{p/p_m}$,

$$\mathcal{M}: L^{p_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})$$

if, and only if $\vec{w} \in A_{\vec{P}}$; that is, if

$$[\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{P}}} \coloneqq \sup_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} \nu_{\vec{w}} \right)^{1/p} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\oint_{Q} w_i^{1-p_i'} \right)^{1/p_i'} < \infty,$$

where $\left(\int_{Q} w_{i}^{1-p_{i}'}\right)^{1/p_{i}'}$ is replaced by $\left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x\in Q} w_{i}(x)\right)^{-1}$ if $p_{i} = 1$. Moreover, if $1 < p_{1}, \ldots, p_{m} < \infty$, then

$$\mathcal{M}: L^{p_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^p(\nu_{\vec{w}})$$

if, and only if $\vec{w} \in A_{\vec{P}}$.

More generally, for $0 \le \ell \le m$, and $\vec{R} = (p_1, \ldots, p_\ell)$,

$$\mathcal{M}: L^{p_1,1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_{\ell},1}(w_{\ell}) \times L^{p_{\ell+1}}(w_{\ell+1}) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})$$

if, and only if $\vec{w} \in A^{\mathfrak{M}}_{\vec{P},\vec{B}}$; that is, if

$$[\vec{w}]_{A^{\mathfrak{M}}_{\vec{P},\vec{R}}} \coloneqq \sup_{Q} \nu_{\vec{w}}(Q)^{1/p} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\|\chi_{Q} w_{i}^{-1}\|_{L^{p'_{i},\infty}(w_{i})}}{|Q|} \right) \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} \frac{\|\chi_{Q} w_{i}^{-1}\|_{L^{p'_{i}}(w_{i})}}{|Q|} \right) < \infty.$$

If $\ell = 0$, then $A_{\vec{P},\vec{R}}^{\mathfrak{M}} = A_{\vec{P}}$, and if $\ell = m$, then $A_{\vec{P},\vec{R}}^{\mathfrak{M}} = A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$ (see [74, Theorem 9] and [75, Remark 5.2.9]).

2.3. Types of bounds.

Let $m \geq 1$, and let T be an m-variable operator defined for suitable measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Given exponents $0 < p_1, q_1, \ldots, p_m, q_m, p, q \leq \infty$, and weights w_1, \ldots, w_m, w , suppose that

$$T: L^{p_1,q_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m,q_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,q}(w);$$

that is, T is a bounded operator from $L^{p_1,q_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m,q_m}(w_m)$ to $L^{p,q}(w)$.

- (a) We say that T is of strong type (p_1, \ldots, p_m, p) if $q_1 = p_1, \ldots, q_m = p_m$, and q = p.
- (b) We say that T is of weak type (p_1, \ldots, p_m, p) if $q_1 = p_1, \ldots, q_m = p_m$, and $q = \infty$.
- (c) We say that T is of restricted weak type (p_1, \ldots, p_m, p) if $q_1 = \cdots = q_m = 1$, and $q = \infty$. We may also use this terminology if $0 < q_i \le 1, i = 1, \ldots, m$.
- (d) We say that T is of mixed type $(p_1, \ldots, p_\ell, p_{\ell+1}, \ldots, p_m, p)$, with $1 \le \ell < m$, if $q_1 \le 1, \ldots, q_\ell \le 1$ and $q_{\ell+1} = p_{\ell+1}, \ldots, q_m = p_m$, and $q = \infty$. We may also use this terminology if $1 \le p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, and $w_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$, for $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $w_i \in A_{p_i}$, for $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, independently of the choice of the other exponents. We first introduced this definition in [75].

Analogously, we will talk about strong, weak, mixed, and restricted weak-type inequalities.

The definitions of types strong and weak are standard (see [43, Section 1.3]), but the ones of mixed and restricted weak may vary depending on the source (see [1], [9, Chapter 4], [16, 18, 37], [43, Section 1.4], [81]). In the long run, referring to our mixed type as *mild type* may be convenient.

2.4. (ε, δ) -atomic operators.

We introduce multi-variable extensions of some topics presented in [14, 15, 16].

Definition 2.1. Given $\delta > 0$, we say that a tuple of functions $(\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_m)$ in $\prod_{i=1}^m L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a δ -atom if

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathfrak{a}_1(x_1) \dots \mathfrak{a}_m(x_m) dx_1 \dots dx_m = 0,$$

and there exist cubes $Q_1, \ldots, Q_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ such that for $i = 1, \ldots, m, |Q_i| \leq \delta$ and supp $\mathfrak{a}_i \subseteq Q_i$.

Recall that for a measurable function f,

$$||f||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)+L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \int_0^1 f^*(s) ds.$$

Definition 2.2. Let T be a multi-sub-linear operator defined for suitable measurable functions (see [44, Page 494]).

(a) We say that T is (ε, δ) -atomic if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that for every δ -atom $(\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_m)$,

$$\|T(\mathfrak{a}_1,\ldots,\mathfrak{a}_m)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)+L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)}\leq \varepsilon\prod_{i=1}^m\|\mathfrak{a}_i\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

(b) We say that T is (ε, δ) -atomic approximable if there exists a sequence $\{T_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of (ε, δ) -atomic operators such that for all measurable sets $E_1, \ldots, E_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and all $f_1, \ldots, f_m \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\|f_i\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1, i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$|T_k(\chi_{E_1},\ldots,\chi_{E_m})| \le |T(\chi_{E_1},\ldots,\chi_{E_m})|, \quad \text{and} \quad |T(\vec{f})| \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} |T_k(\vec{f})|.$$

(c) We say that T is *iterative* (ε, δ) -*atomic* (resp. *approximable*) if for all functions $g_1, \ldots, g_m \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $||g_i||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, the m onevariable operators of the form $T(g_1, \ldots, g_{i-1}, \cdot, g_{i+1}, \ldots, g_m)$ are (ε, δ) -*atomic* (resp. *approximable*).

The next result will be needed later. It is a two-weight version of [16, Theorem 3.5], and the proof is the same.

Theorem 2.3. Let T be a sub-linear operator that is (ε, δ) -atomic approximable, and fix $0 < q < \infty$. Given weights $u \in A_1$ and v, if there exists a constant C > 0such that for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$||T(\chi_E)||_{L^{q,\infty}(v)} \le Cu(E),$$

then

 $T: L^1(u) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(v),$

with constant bounded by $2^n C[u]_{A_1}$.

A remarkable multi-variable extension of Theorem 2.3 is the following, the proof of which is similar to that of [15, Theorem 3.9], with obvious modifications based on the proof of [16, Theorem 3.5].

Theorem 2.4. Let T be a multi-sub-linear operator that is (ε, δ) -atomic approximable or iterative (ε, δ) -atomic approximable. Given weights $u_1, \ldots, u_m \in A_1$, and $u = u_1^{1/m} \ldots u_m^{1/m}$, if there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all measurable sets $E_1, \ldots, E_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$||T(\chi_{E_1},\ldots,\chi_{E_m})||_{L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(u)} \le Cu_1(E_1)\ldots u_m(E_m),$$

then

$$T: L^1(u_1) \times \cdots \times L^1(u_m) \longrightarrow L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(u),$$

with constant bounded by $2^{mn}C[u_1]_{A_1}\ldots [u_m]_{A_1}$.

3. Technical results

In this section, we gather some technical results that we will use throughout this article.

3.1. Interpolation of weights.

The next theorem gives us a restricted weak-type interpolation result for weights.

Theorem 3.1. Fix an integer $m \geq 2$. Let $0 , and <math>0 \leq \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_m \leq 1$ such that $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_m = 1$. Let $u_1, \ldots, u_m, v_1, \ldots, v_m$ be weights, and write $u = u_1^{\theta_1} \ldots u_m^{\theta_m}$, and $v = v_1^{\theta_1} \ldots v_m^{\theta_m}$. Let T be a sub-linear operator defined for characteristic functions. Suppose that for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, there exists a constant $C_i > 0$ such that for every measurable set $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

(3.1)
$$||T(\chi_F)||_{L^{p,\infty}(u_i)} \le C_i ||\chi_F||_{L^{p,1}(v_i)}.$$

Then, for $C = \min\{C_1 + \dots + C_m, mC_1^{\theta_1} \dots C_m^{\theta_m}\}$, and every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

(3.2)
$$||T(\chi_E)||_{L^{p,\infty}(u)} \le C ||\chi_E||_{L^{p,1}(v)}.$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, we can assume that for i = 1, ..., m, $\theta_i \neq 0$. First, we prove that (3.2) holds for $C = C_1 + \cdots + C_m$. The case m = 2 is part of popular folklore; in [75, Lemma 4.1.3] we gave a proof based on [83, Lemma 3].

For the case m > 2, we proceed by applying the case m = 2 iteratively m - 1 times. Let us assume that we are performing the kth iteration, with $1 \le k \le m - 1$, and that all the previous iterations are already done. We choose the weights

$$u_1^{(k)} := \prod_{i=1}^k u_i^{\frac{\theta_i}{\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_k}}, \quad v_1^{(k)} := \prod_{i=1}^k v_i^{\frac{\theta_i}{\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_k}}, \quad u_2^{(k)} := u_{k+1}, \quad v_2^{(k)} := v_{k+1}$$

and the exponents

$$\theta_1^{(k)} := \frac{\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_k}{\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_{k+1}}, \quad \theta_2^{(k)} := \frac{\theta_{k+1}}{\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_{k+1}}$$

and write

$$C^{(k)} := C_1 + \dots + C_k.$$

In virtue of (3.1), if we apply the case m = 2 for the kth time, with exponents $\theta_1^{(k)}$ and $\theta_2^{(k)}$, and weights $u_1^{(k)}, u_2^{(k)}, v_1^{(k)}$, and $v_2^{(k)}$, then we get that for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|T(\chi_E)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(u_1^{(k+1)})} \le C^{(k+1)} \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(v_1^{(k+1)})}$$

since $(u_1^{(k)})^{\theta_1^{(k)}}(u_2^{(k)})^{\theta_2^{(k)}} = u_1^{(k+1)}, (v_1^{(k)})^{\theta_1^{(k)}}(v_2^{(k)})^{\theta_2^{(k)}} = v_1^{(k+1)}, \text{ and } C^{(k+1)} = C^{(k)} + C_{k+1}.$ In particular, for $k = m - 1, u_1^{(m)} = u$ and $v_1^{(m)} = v$, and we conclude that

$$||T(\chi_E)||_{L^{p,\infty}(u)} \le (C_1 + \dots + C_m) ||\chi_E||_{L^{p,1}(v)}$$

Now, by hypothesis, for i = 1, ..., m, and for every measurable set $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|T(\chi_F)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(u_i)} \le C_i \, \|\chi_F\|_{L^{p,1}(v_i)} = \|\chi_F\|_{L^{p,1}(C_i^p v_i)},$$

and applying the result that we have just proved, we deduce that for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|T(\chi_E)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(u)} \le m \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(C_1^{p\theta_1} \dots C_m^{p\theta_m} v)} = mC_1^{\theta_1} \dots C_m^{\theta_m} \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}.$$

3.2. Extensions of \widehat{A}_p .

Let us start by defining the following class of weights, which was introduced in an unpublished version of [16].

Definition 3.2. Given $1 \leq p < \infty$, and $1 \leq N \in \mathbb{N}$, we say that a weight w belongs to the class $\widehat{A}_{p,N}$ if there exist measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that

(3.3)
$$w = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} u$$

We can associate a constant to this class of weights, given by

$$||w||_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} := \inf [u]_{A_1}^{1/p},$$

where the infimum is taken over all weights $u \in A_1$ such that w can be written as (3.3).

We also define

$$\widehat{A}_{p,\infty} := \bigcup_{N=1}^{\infty} \widehat{A}_{p,N}$$

with the corresponding associated constant, given by

$$[w]_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} := \inf_{N \ge 1} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}}.$$

For convenience, we take $\widehat{A}_{p,0} := A_p$.

It is clear that $\widehat{A}_{1,\infty} = A_1$, and $\widehat{A}_{p,1} = \widehat{A}_p$. Also, observe that for every $N \ge 1$, $\widehat{A}_{p,N} \subseteq \widehat{A}_{p,N+1}$, and $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}} \le \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}}$, but we don't know if these inclusion relations are strict.

We will use Theorem 3.1 to show that for $p \geq 1$, $\widehat{A}_{p,\infty} \subseteq A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, but due to the dependence on m of the constant C obtained there, we can't work with $[\cdot]_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}}$, and we need to introduce a new constant for weights in $\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$.

Definition 3.3. Given $1 \le p < \infty$, and $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, we define the constant

$$\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \coloneqq \inf_{N \ge 1} N \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}}.$$

We can see that $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{1,\infty}} = [w]_{\widehat{A}_{1,\infty}} = [w]_{A_1}$, and in general, $[w]_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \leq \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}}$. Moreover, $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} < \infty$ if, and only if $[w]_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} < \infty$, but we don't know if there exists an increasing function $F : [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ such that $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \leq F([w]_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}})$.

We can now prove that for $p \ge 1$, $\widehat{A}_{p,\infty} \subseteq A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$.

Theorem 3.4. Given $1 \le p < \infty$, there exists a constant C > 0, depending only on p and the dimension n, such that for every $N \ge 1$, and every weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$,

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le CN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}}.$$

In particular, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, then $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, and

 $[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le C \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}}.$

Proof. Observe that if p = 1, then the result is true for any $C \ge 1$, so we will assume that p > 1.

For N = 1, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,1}$, then we can find a locally integrable function h, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = (Mh)^{1-p}u$. It was proved in [16, Corollary 2.8] that $[(Mh)^{1-p}u]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq c_{n,p}[u]_{A_1}^{1/p}$, and taking the infimum over all such weights $u \in A_1$, we get that $[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq c_{n,p} ||w||_{\widehat{A}_{p,1}}$. By Lemma 8.4, we can take $c_{n,p} = \mathfrak{c}_n^{1/p'}$.

For $N \ge 2$, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$, then we can find locally integrable functions h_1, \ldots, h_N , a weight $u \in A_1$, and real values $0 < \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \le 1$, with $\sum_{i=1}^N \theta_i = 1$, such that

$$w = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} u = \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left((Mh_i)^{1-p} u \right)^{\theta_i} =: \prod_{i=1}^{N} w_i.$$

Note that for i = 1, ..., m, $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{p,1}$, and we already know that $\widehat{A}_{p,1} \subseteq A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, so in virtue of [74, Remark 10], for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|M(\chi_E)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w_i)} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} [w_i]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(w_i)} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} c_{n,p} [u]_{A_1}^{1/p} \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(w_i)}.$$

We can now apply Theorem 3.1 to deduce that for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|M(\chi_E)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w)} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} c_{n,p} N[u]_{A_1}^{1/p} \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(w)}.$$

Thus, [74, Theorem 10] implies that

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le \|w\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} pc_{n,p} N[u]_{A_1}^{1/p},$$

and taking the infimum over all suitable representations of w, we conclude that

 $[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} pc_{n,p} N ||w||_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}},$

and hence, (3.4) holds taking $C = 2^n 72^{n/p} pc_{n,p}$. In particular, $C \leq_n p$.

Finally, given $w \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, we have that

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le C \inf_{N \ge 1 : w \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}} N \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} = C \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}},$$

because if $N \ge 1$ is such that $w \notin \widehat{A}_{p,N}$, then $||w||_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} = \inf \emptyset = \infty$. $\triangleright \triangleright \triangleright$

3.3. Construction of weights.

The following result produces weights in A_{∞} .

Lemma 3.5. Let $1 \leq p, q < \infty$. Let $u \in A_q$, $v \in A_p$, and take $W = \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{1/p}$. Then, $W \in A_{1+\frac{q}{v}}$, and

$$[W]_{A_{1+\frac{q}{p}}} \le [u]_{A_{q}}^{1/p} [v]_{A_{p}}^{1/p}$$

Proof. By definition,

(3.5)
$$[W]_{A_{1+\frac{q}{p}}} = \sup_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} \left(\frac{u}{v} \right)^{1/p} \right) \left(\oint_{Q} \left(\frac{u}{v} \right)^{-\frac{1}{q}} \right)^{q/p}$$

Fix a cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. To estimate the first factor in (3.5), in virtue of Hölder's inequality with exponent $p \ge 1$, we get that

(3.6)
$$\int_{Q} \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{1/p} \leq \left(\int_{Q} u\right)^{1/p} \left(\int_{Q} v^{1-p'}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}}$$

where the last term is interpreted as $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in Q} v(x)^{-1}$ if p = 1.

Similarly, to estimate the second factor in (3.5), in virtue of Hölder's inequality with exponent $q \ge 1$, we have that

(3.7)
$$\int_{Q} \left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{-\frac{1}{q}} \leq \left(\int_{Q} v\right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{Q} u^{1-q'}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{q}},$$

where the last term is interpreted as $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in Q} u(x)^{-1}$ if q = 1. Combining (3.5), (3.6), and (3.7), we obtain that

$$[W]_{A_{1+\frac{q}{p}}} \le \sup_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} u \right)^{1/p} \left(\oint_{Q} u^{1-q'} \right)^{\frac{q-1}{p}} \left(\oint_{Q} v \right)^{1/p} \left(\oint_{Q} v^{1-p'} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \le [u]_{A_{q}}^{1/p} [v]_{A_{p}}^{1/p}.$$

The next lemma allows us to construct nice weights in $A_{p,\infty}$.

Lemma 3.6. Let $1 \leq q \leq p$ and $1 \leq N \in \mathbb{N}$, and let w be a weight. For a measurable function $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let $v = (Mh)^{q-p}w$. If $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, then $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N+1}$, and

(3.8)
$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}} \le \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$$

In particular, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$, then $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, and

(3.9)
$$||v||_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \le 2||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}.$$

Proof. Fix $\gamma > 1$. For a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, we can find measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = \left(\prod_{i=1}^N (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-q} u$, with $[u]_{A_1}^{1/q} \leq \gamma \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}$.

Note that if p = 1, then v = w = u, so (3.8) holds. If p > 1, then

$$v = \left((Mh)^{\frac{q-p}{1-p}} (Mh_1)^{\theta_1 \frac{1-q}{1-p}} \dots (Mh_N)^{\theta_N \frac{1-q}{1-p}} \right)^{1-p} u$$

and since $\frac{q-p}{1-p} + (\theta_1 + \dots + \theta_N) \frac{1-q}{1-p} = 1$, we have that $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N+1}$, with

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}} \le [u]_{A_1}^{1/p} \le \gamma^{q/p} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$$

and (3.8) follows letting γ tend to 1. If q = 1, then $v \in \widehat{A}_p$, and $||v||_{\widehat{A}_p} \leq [w]_{A_1}^{1/p}$.

Finally, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$, then we can find a natural number $N \ge 1$ such that $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, and in virtue of (3.8), we get that

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \le (N+1) \, \|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}} \le 2N \, \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p} \le 2N \, \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}} \,,$$

and taking the infimum over all such $N \ge 1$, we obtain (3.9).

The following result also lets us construct nice weights in $A_{p,\infty}$.

 $\triangleright \triangleright \triangleright$

Lemma 3.7. Let $1 and <math>1 \leq N \in \mathbb{N}$, and let w be a weight. For a measurable function $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let $v = w^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}}(Mh)^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}}$. If $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, then $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$, and

(3.10)
$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \le c \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$$

with c independent of h. In particular, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$, then $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, and

(3.11)
$$||v||_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \le c ||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}^{q/p}$$

Proof. Fix $\gamma > 1$. For a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, we can find measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = \left(\prod_{i=1}^N (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-q} u$, with $[u]_{A_1}^{1/q} \leq \gamma \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}$. Thus,

$$v = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} u^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}} (Mh)^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}} =: \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} \widetilde{u}.$$

Applying [18, Lemma 2.12], we see that $\widetilde{u} \in A_1$, with $[\widetilde{u}]_{A_1} \leq \kappa_n \frac{q-1}{p-1} [u]_{A_1}$, and hence, $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$, with

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \leq [\widetilde{u}]_{A_1}^{1/p} \leq \left(\kappa_n \frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p} [u]_{A_1}^{1/p} \leq \left(\gamma^q \kappa_n \frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p},$$

and letting γ tend to 1, (3.10) holds with $c = \left(\kappa_n \frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p}$.

Finally, if $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$, then we can find a natural number $N \ge 1$ such that $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, and in virtue of (3.10), we get that

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}} \le N \|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \le cN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p} \le c(N \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{q/p},$$

and taking the infimum over all such $N \ge 1$, we obtain (3.11).

$$\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$$

3.4. Some properties of $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights.

The following result allows us to construct $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ weights and settles a question raised in [75, Remark 4.1.8].

Proposition 3.8. Fix an integer $m \geq 2$. Let $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, and $0 < \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_m \leq 1$ such that $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_m = 1$. Given weights $w_1 \in A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}, \ldots, w_m \in A_{p_m}^{\mathcal{R}}$, the weight $w = w_1^{\theta_1} \ldots w_m^{\theta_m}$ is in $A_{\max\{p_1, \ldots, p_m\}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, and

$$[w]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\max\{p_1,\dots,p_m\}}} \lesssim \prod_{i=1}^m [w_i]^{\theta_i}_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{p_i}}.$$

Moreover, for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\int_{Q} w_{i} \right)^{\theta_{i}} \lesssim \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} [w_{i}]_{A_{p_{i}}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p_{i}\theta_{i}} \right) \int_{Q} w_{i}$$

Proof. For i = 1, ..., m, and $p := \max\{p_1, ..., p_m\}$, we know from [74, Remark 10] that for every measurable set $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|M(\chi_F)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w_i)} \le 2^n 72^{n/p} [w_i]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \|\chi_F\|_{L^{p,1}(w_i)}.$$

In virtue of Theorem 3.1, we get that for every measurable set $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} \|M(\chi_E)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w)} &\leq 2^n 72^{n/p} m \left(\prod_{i=1}^m [w_i]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{\theta_i}\right) \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(w)} \\ &\leq 2^n 72^{n/p} m \left(\prod_{i:p_i \neq p} p_i^{\theta_i}\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^m [w_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{\theta_i}\right) \|\chi_E\|_{L^{p,1}(w)}, \end{split}$$

and hence (see [74, Theorem 10]),

$$[w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq \|w\|_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq 2^{n} 72^{n/p} m p\left(\prod_{i: p_{i} \neq p} p_{i}^{\theta_{i}}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{m} [w_{i}]_{A_{p_{i}}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{\theta_{i}}.$$

Now, fix a cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. It follows from [10, Proposition 12] that there exist measurable sets $G_1, \ldots, G_m \subseteq Q$ such that for $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$|Q| \le 2^m |G_i|$$
 and $\prod_{i=1}^m w_i (G_i)^{\theta_i} \le 2^{1-\frac{1}{m}} w(Q).$

Since $w_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$, we have that

$$w_i(Q) \le 2^{mp_i} \|w_i\|_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p_i} w_i(G_i) \le 2^{mp_i} p_i^{p_i} [w_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p_i} w_i(G_i),$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} w_i(Q)^{\theta_i} \le 2^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} 2^{mp_i \theta_i} p_i^{p_i \theta_i} \right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} [w_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p_i \theta_i} \right) w(Q).$$

Remark 3.9. Our approach is different than the one presented in [84]. In the case $p_1 = \cdots = p_m = 1$, a better result was obtained there: for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\prod_{i=1}^m w_i(Q)^{\theta_i} \le \left(\prod_{i=1}^m [w_i]_{A_1}^{\theta_i}\right) w(Q).$$

It can be deduced directly from the fact that for $v \in A_1$, $f_Q v \leq [v]_{A_1} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x \in Q} v(x)$.

Remark 3.10. Under the hypotheses of Proposition 3.8, if for some $1 \leq \ell \leq m$, $w_1 \in A_{p_1}, \ldots, w_\ell \in A_{p_\ell}$, then we get that for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} w_i(Q)^{\theta_i} \le 2^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} 2^{mp_i\theta_i} p_i^{p_i\theta_i} \right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} [w_i]_{A_{p_i}}^{\theta_i} \right) \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} [w_i]_{A_{p_i}}^{p_i\theta_i} \right) w(Q),$$

which provides a quantitative extension of [17, Lemma 3.1] and [29, Corollary 1.5].

4. A DUAL SAWYER-TYPE INEQUALITY

We devote this section to the study of a novel restricted weak-type inequality for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M. It can be interpreted as a dual version of [74, Theorem 2], and generalizes [18, Lemma 2.6] and [3, Lemma 2.5]. It is based on our study of the case $\theta = \mu = 1$ in [74, Theorem 7], and the proof borrows some ideas from the aforementioned sources.

Theorem 4.1. Fix exponents p > 1 and $\frac{1}{p'} < \theta < 1$, and an integer $N \ge 1$. Given measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $w \in A_1$, consider the $\widehat{A}_{p,N}$ weights u =

 $\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$

 $\left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} w \text{ and } u_{\theta} = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-p} w^{\theta}, \text{ and let } v \text{ be a weight such that } uv^p \in A_{\infty}. \text{ Then, for every exponent } \theta < \mu \leq 1, \text{ there exists a constant } C > 0 \text{ such that for every measurable function } f,$

(4.1)
$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(f u_{\theta} v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}}\right\|_{L^{p',\infty}(u)} \le C \|f\|_{L^{p',1}(uv^{p})}.$$

Proof. Since p' > 1, it is enough to establish the result for characteristic functions. Let $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be a measurable set such that $0 < uv^p(E) < \infty$, and take $f = \chi_E$. In virtue of Kolmogorov's inequality, we obtain that

In virtue of Kolmogorov's inequality, we obtain that

(4.2)
$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(fu_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}}\right\|_{L^{p',\infty}(u)} \leq \sup_{0 < u(F) < \infty} \left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(fu_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}}\chi_{F}\right\|_{L^{1/\theta}(u)} u(F)^{\frac{1}{p'}-\theta},$$

where the supremum is taken over all measurable sets $F \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ with $0 < u(F) < \infty$.

For one of such sets F, and applying Fefferman-Stein's inequality (see [38, Lemma 1]), we have that

(4.3)
$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(fu_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}}\chi_{F}\right\|_{L^{1/\theta}(u)}^{1/\theta} = \int_{F} M(u_{\theta}^{1/\mu}v^{\frac{p-1}{\mu}}\chi_{E})^{\mu/\theta} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N}(Mh_{i})^{\theta_{i}}\right)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)} \leq \kappa_{n}^{\mu/\theta}\frac{\mu}{\mu-\theta}\int_{E} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N}(Mh_{i})^{\theta_{i}}\right)^{\frac{1-p}{\theta}}wv^{\frac{p-1}{\theta}}M(\nu\chi_{F}),$$

with $\nu := \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}$. Note that $\nu \in A_1$, with $[\nu]_{A_1} \le \frac{c_n}{1-(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}$.

We now deal with $M(\nu\chi_F)$. Fix $x \in E$, and let $P \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be a cube containing x. Then,

(4.4)

$$\frac{1}{|P|} \int_{P} \chi_{F} \nu = \frac{1}{|P|} \int_{P} \chi_{F} \nu u^{-1} u \leq \frac{1}{|P|} \|\chi_{P} \nu u^{-1}\|_{L^{\theta p',\infty}(u)} \|\chi_{F} \chi_{P}\|_{L^{(\theta p')',1}(u)} \\
= \frac{\theta p'}{\theta p' - 1} \left(\frac{u(P)^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}}}{\nu(P)} \|\chi_{P} \nu u^{-1}\|_{L^{\theta p',\infty}(u)} \right) \frac{\nu(P)}{|P|} \left(\frac{u(F \cap P)}{u(P)} \right)^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}} \\
\leq \frac{\theta p'}{\theta p' - 1} \left(\sup_{Q} \frac{u(Q)^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}}}{\nu(Q)} \|\chi_{Q} \nu u^{-1}\|_{L^{\theta p',\infty}(u)} \right) [\nu]_{A_{1}} \nu(x) M_{u}(\chi_{F})(x)^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}}.$$

Write $\alpha := (\theta p')'$ and observe that $\alpha > p$. Kolmogorov's inequality gives us that

$$[u\nu^{-1}]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\nu)} := \sup_{Q} \frac{u(Q)^{1/\alpha}}{\nu(Q)} \|\chi_{Q}\nu u^{-1}\|_{L^{\alpha',\infty}(u)}$$
$$\leq \sup_{Q} \sup_{G \subseteq Q} \frac{\nu(G)}{\nu(Q)} \left(\frac{u(Q)}{u(G)}\right)^{1/\alpha} =: \|u\nu^{-1}\|_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\nu)}.$$

Now, for a cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and a nonempty measurable set $G \subseteq Q$,

$$\left(\frac{u(Q)}{u(G)}\right)^{1/\alpha} = \left(\frac{|Q|}{|G|}\right)^{p/\alpha} \left(\frac{|G|}{|Q|} \left(\frac{u(Q)}{u(G)}\right)^{1/p}\right)^{p/\alpha} \le \left(\frac{|Q|}{|G|}\right)^{p/\alpha} \|u\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p/\alpha},$$

and applying Hölder's inequality and Remark 3.9, we deduce that

$$\frac{\nu(G)}{\nu(Q)} \le \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} [(Mh_i)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}]_{A_1}^{\theta_i}\right) \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left(\frac{(Mh_i)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}(G)}{(Mh_i)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}(Q)}\right)^{\theta_i}$$

Note that for N = 1, this last estimate is not necessary.

By [18, Lemma 2.5],

$$\frac{(Mh_i)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}(G)}{(Mh_i)^{(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)}(Q)} \le \frac{c_n}{1-(p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta}-1\right)} \left(\frac{|G|}{|Q|}\right)^{p/\alpha},$$

so the previous computations yield that

$$[u\nu^{-1}]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\alpha}(\nu)} \leq \frac{c_n^2}{\left(1 - (p-1)\left(\frac{1}{\theta} - 1\right)\right)^2} \|u\|_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_p}^{p/\alpha},$$

and form (4.4) we obtain that $M(\nu\chi_F)(x) \leq C_1\nu(x)M_u(\chi_F)(x)^{\frac{1}{(\theta_F')'}}$, with

$$C_1 := \frac{c_n^3 \theta p' \|u\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{\overline{(\theta p')'}}}{(\theta p'-1) \left(1 - (p-1) \left(\frac{1}{\theta} - 1\right)\right)^3} = c_n^3 p \left(\frac{\theta}{1 + p(\theta - 1)}\right)^4 \|u\|_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{\frac{1}{\theta} + p\left(1 - \frac{1}{\theta}\right)}.$$

Thus,

$$(4.5)$$

$$\int_{E} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_{i})^{\theta_{i}} \right)^{\frac{1-p}{\theta}} wv^{\frac{p-1}{\theta}} M(\nu\chi_{F}) \leq C_{1} \int_{E} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{N} (Mh_{i})^{\theta_{i}} \right)^{\frac{1-p}{\theta}} wv^{\frac{p-1}{\theta}} \nu M_{u}(\chi_{F})^{\frac{1}{(\theta_{P}')'}}$$

$$= C_{1} \int_{E} uv^{\frac{p-1}{\theta}} M_{u}(\chi_{F})^{\frac{1}{(\theta_{P}')'}} = C_{1} \int_{E} \left(\frac{M_{u}(\chi_{F})}{v^{p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{(\theta_{P}')'}} uv^{p},$$

and applying Hölder's inequality with exponent $(\theta p')' > 1$, we get that

(4.6)
$$\int_{E} \left(\frac{M_{u}(\chi_{F})}{v^{p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{(\theta_{P}')'}} uv^{p} \leq \theta p' \left\| \frac{M_{u}(\chi_{F})}{v^{p}} \right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(uv^{p})}^{\frac{1}{(\theta_{P}')'}} uv^{p}(E)^{\frac{1}{\theta_{P}'}}$$

Finally, in virtue of [74, Theorem 1], if $r \ge 1$ is such that $uv^p \in A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$, then

(4.7)
$$\left\|\frac{M_u(\chi_F)}{v^p}\right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(uv^p)} \leq \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}^n_{r,p}([u]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}, [uv^p]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}})u(F) =: C_2u(F),$$

where $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{r,p}^n : [1,\infty)^2 \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function that increases in each variable and depends only on r, p, and the dimension n. Note that if v = 1, then we can take $C_2 \equiv_n 2^{np} ||u||_{A_n^{\mathcal{R}}}^p$.

Combining (4.3), (4.5), (4.6), and (4.7), we deduce that

$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(\chi_{E}u_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}}\chi_{F}\right\|_{L^{1/\theta}(u)}^{1/\theta} \leq \kappa_{n}^{\mu/\theta}\frac{\mu}{\mu-\theta}C_{1}\theta p'C_{2}^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}}u(F)^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}}uv^{p}(E)^{\frac{1}{\theta p'}},$$

and from (4.2) we obtain that

$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(\chi_E u_\theta v^{p-1})}{u_\theta}\right\|_{L^{p',\infty}(u)} \le C_3 u v^p(E)^{1/p'},$$

with $C_3 := \kappa_n^{\mu} \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu - \theta} C_1 \theta p' C_2^{\frac{1}{(\theta p')'}} \right)^{\theta}$, from which the desired result follows by a standard extension argument (see [9, Page 231], [43, Exercise 1.4.7] or [81, Appendix]). Indeed, for an arbitrary measurable function f, if $||f||_{L^{p',1}(uv^p)} = \infty$, we are done. Take $f \in L^{p',1}(uv^p)$ and observe that, by Hölder's inequality with exponent $\mu p' > 1$,

$$|f|^{1/\mu} u_{\theta}^{1/\mu} v^{\frac{p-1}{\mu}} = \left(|f|^{p'} u v^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{\mu p'}} \left(u w^{p(\theta-1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{\mu p}} \in L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

Now, for every integer k, consider the set $E_k := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : 2^k < |f(x)| \le 2^{k+1}\}$. Then, $|f|^{1/\mu} \le 2^{1/\mu} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k/\mu} \chi_{E_k}$, so $M^{\mu}(f u_{\theta} v^{p-1}) \le 2 \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^k M^{\mu}(\chi_{E_k} u_{\theta} v^{p-1})$, and hence,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(fu_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{p',\infty}(u)} &\leq 2p \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} \left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(\chi_{E_{k}}u_{\theta}v^{p-1})}{u_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{p',\infty}(u)} \\ &\leq 2pC_{3} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k}uv^{p}(E_{k})^{1/p'} \leq 2pC_{3} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k}\lambda_{f}^{uv^{p}}(2^{k})^{1/p'} \\ &\leq 4pC_{3} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{2^{k}}^{2^{k+1}} \lambda_{f}^{uv^{p}}(t)^{1/p'} dt \leq 4(p-1)C_{3} \|f\|_{L^{p',1}(uv^{p})}, \end{split}$$

 $\triangleright \triangleright \triangleright$

concluding that (4.1) holds with $C = 4(p-1)C_3$.

Remark 4.2. The constant C that we have obtained satisfies that

$$C \leq \mathfrak{c}_n p^3 \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu-\theta}\right)^{\theta} \left(\frac{\theta}{1+p(\theta-1)}\right)^{4\theta} \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{r,p}^n([u]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}, [uv^p]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\theta-1+\frac{1}{p}} [u]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{1+p(\theta-1)}$$
$$=: \phi([u]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}, [uv^p]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}}).$$

Since the function ϕ behaves well at the endpoint p = 1, it would be interesting to study an analog of (4.1) involving the limit spaces $L^{\infty}(uv)$ and W(u) (see [8] and [9, Page 385]), and its applications to upper endpoint extrapolation (see [63, 70, 71]).

5. One-variable off-diagonal extrapolation

In [35], multi-variable strong-type extrapolation theorems were obtained as corollaries of one-variable off-diagonal strong-type extrapolation schemes; that is, results in which the target space is different from the domain, both in terms of exponents and weights. In the case of multi-variable restricted weak-type extrapolation, we observe a similar phenomenon, and we can also deduce our results from one-variable off-diagonal restricted weak-type extrapolation theorems.

5.1. Restricted weak-type results.

Let us start with the downwards extrapolation. The following result generalizes and extends [16, Theorem 2.11], [16, Theorem 2.13], and [75, Theorem 4.2.14].

Theorem 5.1. Let $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let $\nu \in A_{\infty}$. Fix an integer $N \geq 1$. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponent $1 \leq p < \infty$, and every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N+1}$,

(5.1)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p}v^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every exponent $1 \le q \le p$, and every weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$,

(5.2)
$$||g||_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi(||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}) ||f||_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)},$$

22

where $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q}\nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. The same result is valid in the case $N = \infty$. If q = 1, then we can take N = 0.

Proof. Observe that if q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q < p. Pick a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$. We may also assume that $\|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)} < \infty$. In particular, f is locally integrable. Fix y > 0 and $\gamma > 0$. We have that

(5.3)
$$\lambda_g^W(y) = \int_{\{|g|>y\}} W \le \lambda_{\mathscr{Z}}^W(\gamma y) + \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \left(\frac{\gamma y}{\mathscr{Z}}\right)^{p_\alpha - q_\alpha} W =: I + II,$$

where $\mathscr{Z} := (Mf)^{q/q_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{w}{\nu}\right)^{\alpha}$.

To estimate the term I in (5.3), we have that

(5.4)
$$I = \frac{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \lambda_{\mathscr{Z}}^{W}(\gamma y) \le \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \|\mathscr{Z}\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)}^{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left\|\frac{Mf}{U}\right\|_{L^{q,\infty}(wU^{q})}^{q}$$

with $U := \left(\frac{\nu}{w}\right)^{\frac{\alpha q_{\alpha}}{q}}$. Note that $U \in A_{\infty}$. Indeed, if $\alpha = 0$, then U = 1, and if $\alpha > 0$, then $\widehat{A}_{q,N} \subseteq A_{q+\frac{1}{\alpha}}$, so in virtue of Lemma 3.5, $U = \left(\frac{\nu}{w}\right)^{\frac{1}{q+\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \in A_{\infty}$. Moreover, since $\nu \in A_{\infty}$, and $\frac{q_{\alpha}}{q} + \alpha q_{\alpha} = 1$, $W \in A_{\infty}$, and there exists $r \ge 1$ such that $W \in A_{r}^{\mathcal{R}}$. If $s \ge 1$ is such that $\nu \in A_{s}^{\mathcal{R}}$, then we can choose $r := \max\{q, s\}$, and applying Proposition 3.8, we get that $[W]_{A_{r}^{\mathcal{R}}} \le \mathfrak{c}_{n}r(q[w]_{A_{q}^{\mathcal{R}}})^{q_{\alpha}/q}(s[\nu]_{A_{s}^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$.

In virtue of [74, Theorem 2] and Theorem 3.4, we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} (5.5) \\ \left\| \frac{Mf}{U} \right\|_{L^{q,\infty}(wU^q)} &\leq \mathscr{E}_{r,q}^{on}([w]_{A_q^{\mathcal{R}}}, [W]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)} \\ &\leq \mathscr{E}_{r,q}^{on}(CN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}, \mathfrak{c}_n r(qCN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{q_{\alpha}/q} (s[\nu]_{A_s^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)} \\ &\leq p^{1-\frac{p}{q}} \mathscr{E}_{r,q}^{on}(CN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}, \mathfrak{c}_n r(qCN \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{q_{\alpha}/q} (s[\nu]_{A_s^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)} \\ &=: p^{1-\frac{p}{q}} \phi_{\nu,w} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}, \end{aligned}$$

and combining (5.4) and (5.5), we obtain that

(5.6)
$$I \leq \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} p^{q-p} \phi^{q}_{\nu,w} \|f\|^{q}_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}$$

We proceed to estimate the term II in (5.3). Take $v := (Mf)^{q-p}w$. Since $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$, it follows from Lemma 3.6 that $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N+1}$, with $\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N+1}} \leq \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$. Note that if q = 1, then $v \in \widehat{A}_p$, with $\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_p} \leq [w]_{A_1}^{1/p}$. Observe that

$$\mathscr{Z}^{q_{\alpha}-p_{\alpha}}W = (Mf)^{q\left(1-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}\right)}w^{\alpha(q_{\alpha}-p_{\alpha})+\frac{q_{\alpha}}{q}}\nu^{\alpha(p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha})+\alpha q_{\alpha}}$$
$$= (Mf)^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p}(q-p)}w^{p_{\alpha}/p}\nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} = v^{p_{\alpha}/p}\nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}},$$

so by (5.1) and the monotonicity of ψ , we get that

(5.7)
$$II = \frac{(\gamma y)^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \int_{\{|g|>y\}} v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} \le \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}^{p_{\alpha}},$$

with

(5.8)
$$\|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)} = p \int_0^\infty \left(\int_{\{|f|>z\}} v\right)^{1/p} dz$$
$$\leq p \int_0^\infty z^{q/p} \left(\int_{\{|f|>z\}} w\right)^{1/p} \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{p}{q} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}^{q/p}$$

Combining the estimates (5.3), (5.6), (5.7), and (5.8), we conclude that

$$\lambda_{g}^{W}(y) \leq \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} p^{q-p} \phi_{\nu,w}^{q} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}^{q} + \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{p_{\alpha}} \psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}^{\frac{p-q}{p}},$$

and taking the infimum over all $\gamma > 0$ (see [75, Lemma 3.1.1]), it follows that

$$y^{q_{\alpha}}\lambda_{g}^{W}(y) \leq \frac{p_{\alpha}}{p_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{p_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}\right)^{q_{\alpha}/p_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{q_{\alpha}} p^{q_{\alpha}\left(2 - \frac{q}{p} - \frac{p}{q}\right)} \\ \times \phi_{\nu,w}^{q_{\alpha}\left(1 - \frac{q}{p}\right)} \psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p})^{q_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)}^{q_{\alpha}}.$$

Finally, raising everything to the power $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}}$ in this last expression, and taking the supremum over all y > 0, we see that (5.2) holds, with

(5.9)
$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathfrak{C}^{\alpha}_{p,q} \mathscr{E}^{n}_{r,q} (CN\xi, \mathfrak{c}_n r(qCN\xi)^{q_\alpha/q} (s[\nu]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_s})^{\alpha q_\alpha})^{1-\frac{q}{p}} \psi(\xi^{q/p}), \quad \xi \ge 1,$$
where

where

$$\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{\alpha} := p^{3-\frac{q}{p}-\frac{p}{q}} q^{-1} \left(\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha}}\right)^{1/q_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}\right)^{1/p_{\alpha}}$$
discuss the case $N = \infty$. By hypothesis, we h

It remains to discuss the case $N = \infty$. By hypothesis, we have that for every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$,

(5.10)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}.$$

Pick a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$. We can find an integer $N_0 \geq 1$ such that $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N_0}$, with $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}} \leq N_0 \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N_0}} \leq 2\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}$. From (5.10), we deduce that for every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N_0+1}$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi((N_0+1)\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N_0+1}})\|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)} =: \psi_{N_0}(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N_0+1}})\|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)},$$

and applying Theorem 5.1 for N_0 , we conclude that

$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi_{N_0}(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N_0}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)} \le \Psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{q}{p}}(w)},$$

with Ψ_{N_0} as in (5.9), and

(5.11)
$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathfrak{C}^{\alpha}_{p,q} \mathscr{E}^{n}_{r,q} (2C\xi, \mathfrak{c}_{n} r(2qC\xi)^{q_{\alpha}/q} (s[\nu]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{s}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}})^{1-\frac{q}{p}} \psi(4\xi), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$
$$\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright \bullet$$

Remark 5.2. For N = 1 and $\alpha = 0$, a version of Theorem 5.1 for sub-linear operators and \widehat{A}_p weights was obtained in [16, Theorem 2.13], avoiding the class $\widehat{A}_{p,2}$ via an interpolation argument based on Theorem 3.1 for m = 2.

We now discuss the upwards extrapolation. The following result generalizes and extends [3, Theorem 1.6], [18, Theorem 3.1], and [75, Theorem 4.2.18], using some ideas from their proofs.

Theorem 5.3. Let $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let $\nu \in A_{\infty}$. Fix an integer $N \geq 1$. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponent $1 \leq p < \infty$, and every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$,

(5.12)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} v^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every finite exponent $q \ge p$, and every weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$,

(5.13)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q\alpha,\infty}(W)} \le \Psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)},$$

where $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. The same result is valid in the case $N = \infty$.

Proof. If q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q > p. Pick a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N}$. We can find measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = \left(\prod_{i=1}^N (Mh_i)^{\theta_i}\right)^{1-q} u$, with $[u]_{A_1}^{1/q} \leq (1 + \frac{1}{q}) \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}$. As usual, we may assume that $\|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)} < \infty$.

Fix a natural number $\varrho \geq 1$, and let $g_{\varrho} := |g|\chi_{B(0,\varrho)}$, where $B(0,\varrho)$ is the ball of center 0 and radius ϱ in \mathbb{R}^n . We will prove (5.13) for the pair (f, g_{ϱ}) . Since $g_{\varrho} \leq |g|$, we already know that (5.12) holds for (f, g_{ϱ}) . Fix y > 0 such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^W(y) \neq 0$. If no such y exists, then $\|g_{\varrho}\|_{L^{q\alpha,\infty}(W)} = 0$ and we are done.

In order to apply (5.12), we want to find a weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$ such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y) \leq \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{V}(y)$. We take

(5.14)
$$v := w_{\beta}^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}} \left(M^{\mu} (w_{\theta} w^{-\frac{1}{q'}} W^{1/q'} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}) u^{\tau(1-\mu)} \right)^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}},$$

where $w_{\beta} := w u^{\beta-1}$ and $w_{\theta} := w u^{\theta-1}$, with

$$\tau := 1 + \frac{1}{2^{n+1}[u]_{A_1}}, \quad \frac{1}{q'} < \theta < 1,$$

$$\beta := \begin{cases} 1, & p = 1, \\ \frac{q-1}{p-1} - \theta \cdot \frac{q-p}{p-1}, & p > 1, \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \mu := \begin{cases} 1 - \frac{1-\theta}{\tau}, & p = 1, \\ 1, & p > 1. \end{cases}$$

For p > 1, we also impose that $\beta \leq \tau$, or equivalently,

$$\frac{q-1}{q-p} - \tau \cdot \frac{p-1}{q-p} \le \theta.$$

If p = 1, then $v = M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}w^{-\frac{1}{q'}}W^{1/q'}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})u^{\tau(1-\mu)}$. In virtue of [72, Lemma 3.26], $u^{\tau} \in A_1$, with $[u^{\tau}]_{A_1} \leq [u]_{A_1}$, and we can use [18, Lemma 2.12] to deduce that $v \in A_1$, with

(5.15)
$$[v]_{A_1} \lesssim_n \frac{[u]_{A_1}}{1-\mu} \le \frac{\tau(1+\frac{1}{q})^q}{1-\theta} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^q \lesssim \frac{\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^q}{1-\theta}$$

If p > 1, then applying Lemma 3.7 we see that $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N}$, and $\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \leq c \|w_{\beta}\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$, with $c \approx_{n} \left(\frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p}$. Since $1 < \beta \leq \tau$, $\|w_{\beta}\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}} \leq [u^{\beta}]_{A_{1}}^{1/q} \leq [u]_{A_{1}}^{1/q} \leq (1+\frac{1}{q}) \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}$, so $\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \lesssim_{n} \left(\frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$. Thus, $||v||_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}} \leq C_{\theta} ||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}$, with $C_{\theta} \equiv_n \frac{1}{1-\theta}$ for p = 1, and $C_{\theta} \equiv c$ for p > 1. Observe that

$$V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} \ge w_{\beta}^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p} \cdot \frac{p-1}{q-1}} w_{\theta}^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1}} w^{-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{pq'} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1}} W^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{pq'} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1}} u^{\tau(1-\mu)\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1}} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}} = w^{\gamma_{1}} u^{\gamma_{2}} \nu^{\gamma_{3}} = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}} = W \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}},$$

since

$$\begin{split} \gamma_1 &\coloneqq \frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{p-1}{q-1} + \frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} - \frac{p_\alpha}{pq'} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} + \frac{q_\alpha}{q} \cdot \frac{p_\alpha}{pq'} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} \\ &= \frac{p_\alpha}{p} \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{p}{q} \right) \left(1 - \frac{q_\alpha}{q} \right) \right) = \frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{1+\alpha p}{1+\alpha q} = \frac{q_\alpha}{q}, \\ \gamma_2 &\coloneqq (\beta-1)\frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{p-1}{q-1} + (\theta-1)\frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} + \tau(1-\mu)\frac{p_\alpha}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} \\ &= \frac{p_\alpha}{p} \left(\frac{p-1}{q-1} \cdot \beta + \frac{q-p}{q-1} \left(\theta + \tau(1-\mu) \right) - 1 \right) = 0, \\ \gamma_3 &\coloneqq \alpha p_\alpha + \alpha q_\alpha \cdot \frac{p_\alpha}{pq'} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1} = \frac{\alpha p}{1+\alpha p} + \frac{1}{1+\alpha p} - \frac{1}{1+\alpha q} = \alpha q_\alpha, \end{split}$$

so (5.12) implies that

(5.16)
$$\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y) \leq \int_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}} v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} = \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{V}(y) \leq \frac{1}{y^{p_{\alpha}}} \psi(C_{\theta} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}^{p_{\alpha}}.$$

We want to replace $||f||_{L^{p,1}(v)}$ by $||f||_{L^{q,1}(w)}$ in (5.16). Applying Hölder's inequality with exponent $\frac{q}{p} > 1$, we obtain that for every t > 0,

(5.17)
$$\lambda_{f}^{v}(t) = \int_{\{|f|>t\}} \left(\frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}w^{-\frac{1}{q'}}W^{1/q'}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w_{\theta}} \right)^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}} w$$
$$= \frac{q}{p}w(\{|f|>t\})^{p/q} \left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}w^{-\frac{1}{q'}}W^{1/q'}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{q',\infty}(w)}^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}}$$
$$= \frac{q}{p}w(\{|f|>t\})^{p/q} \left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}U^{q-1}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{q',\infty}(w)}^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}},$$

with $U := \left(\frac{W}{w}\right)^{1/q} = \left(\frac{\nu}{w}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha q}}$. Note that if $\alpha = 0$, then U = 1, and for $\alpha > 0$, $w \in A_q^{\mathcal{R}} \subseteq A_{q+\frac{1}{\alpha}}$, so $U \in A_{\infty}$ by Lemma 3.5.

Moreover, if $s \ge 1$ is such that $\nu \in A_s^{\mathcal{R}}$, then by Proposition 3.8, $W \in A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$, with $r := \max\{q, s\}$, and $[W]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}} \le \mathfrak{c}_n r(q[w]_{A_q^{\mathcal{R}}})^{q_\alpha/q}(s[\nu]_{A_s^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_\alpha}$. Also, since $wU^q = W$, Theorem 4.1, Remark 4.2, and Theorem 3.4 give us that

$$\left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}U^{q-1}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{q',\infty}(w)} \leq q'\phi([w]_{A_{q}^{\mathcal{R}}}, [W]_{A_{r}^{\mathcal{R}}})W(\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\})^{1/q'} \leq \phi_{\nu,w}W(\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\})^{1/q'},$$

with

$$\phi_{\nu,w} \coloneqq q'\phi(CN\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}, \mathfrak{c}_n r(qCN\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{q_\alpha/q}(s[\nu]_{A_s^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_\alpha}).$$

Plugging this bound into (5.17), we get that

(5.18)
$$\lambda_f^{\nu}(t) \le \frac{q}{p} \phi_{\nu,w}^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}} W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{1-\frac{p}{q}} w(\{|f| > t\})^{p/q},$$

26

and hence,

(5.19)
$$\|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)} = p \int_0^\infty \lambda_f^v(t)^{1/p} dt$$
$$\leq p \left(\frac{q}{p}\right)^{1/p} \phi_{\nu,w}^{\frac{1}{p},\frac{q-p}{q-1}} W(\{|g_\varrho| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}} \int_0^\infty w(\{|f| > t\})^{1/q} dt$$
$$= \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/p'} \phi_{\nu,w}^{\frac{1}{p},\frac{q-p}{q-1}} W(\{|g_\varrho| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}} \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)}.$$

Combining the estimates (5.16) and (5.19), we have that

(5.20)
$$\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y) \leq \frac{1}{y^{p_{\alpha}}} \Psi_{\theta}(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)}^{p_{\alpha}} \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y)^{1-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}},$$

with

$$\Psi_{\theta}(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}) := \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/p'} \phi_{\nu,w}^{\frac{1}{p},\frac{q-p}{q-1}} \psi(C_{\theta}\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^{q/p}).$$

By our choice of y and g_{ϱ} , $0 < \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y) \leq W(B(0,\varrho)) < \infty$, so we can divide by $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y)^{1-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}}$ in (5.20) and raise everything to the power $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}}$, obtaining that

$$y\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y)^{1/q_{\alpha}} \leq \Psi_{\theta}(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)},$$

and taking the supremum over all y > 0, we deduce (5.13) for the pair (f, g_{ϱ}) and the function Ψ_{θ} ; the result for the pair (f, g) follows by taking the supremum over all $\varrho \geq 1$. It remains to compute a function Ψ independent of θ .

We need to control the term $\phi_{\nu,w}$ appropriately, possibly by performing crude estimates and not paying much attention to optimality. Recall that by Remark 4.2,

$$\begin{split} \phi_{\nu,w} &\lesssim_n \frac{q^4}{q-1} \left(\frac{\mu}{\mu-\theta}\right)^{\theta} \left(\frac{\theta}{1+q(\theta-1)}\right)^{4\theta} \\ &\times \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}^n_{r,q}(CN\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}, \mathfrak{c}_n r(qCN\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}})^{q_{\alpha}/q} (s[\nu]_{A_s^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}})^{1/q} CN\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}, \end{split}$$

and note that

$$\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu-\theta}\right)^{\theta} \left(\frac{\theta}{1+q(\theta-1)}\right)^{4\theta} \leq \frac{1}{\mu-\theta} \left(\frac{1}{1+q(\theta-1)}\right)^{4} =: F(\theta,\mu)$$
 If $p = 1$, then for $\theta_* := 1 - \frac{1}{5q}$,

$$\inf_{\frac{1}{q'} < \theta < 1} \mathcal{F}(\theta, \mu) = \tau' \mathcal{F}(\theta_*, 1) \eqsim_n q[u]_{A_1} \lesssim q \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^q, \quad \text{and} \quad C_{\theta_*} \eqsim_n \frac{1}{1 - \theta_*} \eqsim q.$$

If p > 1, then $\mu = 1$, and we argue as follows: if $\tau \ge \frac{p'}{(5q)'} - \frac{4}{5(p-1)}$, then we choose $\theta = \theta_*$; otherwise, we choose $\theta = \frac{q-1}{q-p} - \tau \cdot \frac{p-1}{q-p}$. Thus,

$$F(\theta,1) \lesssim_n \max\left\{q, \frac{q-p}{p-1}\right\} [u]_{A_1} \lesssim \max\left\{q, \frac{q-p}{p-1}\right\} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N}}^q.$$

In conclusion, (5.13) holds, with $\Psi(\xi)$ defined for $\xi \ge 1$ as (5.21)

$$\mathfrak{c}_{n}\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{0}(CN\xi^{q+1})^{\frac{1}{p}\cdot\frac{q-p}{q-1}}\widetilde{\mathscr{C}}_{r,q}^{n}(CN\xi,\mathfrak{c}_{n}r(qCN\xi)^{q_{\alpha}/q}(s[\nu]_{A_{s}^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{pq}\cdot\frac{q-p}{q-1}}\psi(\mathfrak{c}_{n}\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{1}\xi^{q/p}),$$

where

$$\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{0} := \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/p'} \left(\frac{q^{4}}{q-1} \times \left\{\begin{array}{l}q, & p=1, \\ \max\left\{q, \frac{q-p}{p-1}\right\}, & p>1,\end{array}\right\}\right)^{\frac{1}{p} \cdot \frac{q-p}{q-1}}, \quad \text{and} \\ \\ \mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{1} := \left\{\begin{array}{l}q, & p=1, \\ \left(\frac{q-1}{p-1}\right)^{1/p}, & p>1.\end{array}\right.$$

Now, we discuss the case $N = \infty$. By hypothesis, we have that for every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, (5.10) holds. Pick a weight $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,\infty}$. We can find an integer $N_0 \ge 1$ such that $w \in \widehat{A}_{q,N_0}$, with $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}} \le N_0 \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N_0}} \le 2\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}$. From (5.10), we deduce that for every weight $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,N_0}$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(N_0 \|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N_0}}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)} =: \psi_{N_0}(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p,N_0}}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)},$$

and applying Theorem 5.3 for N_0 , we conclude that

$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi_{N_0}(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,N_0}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)} \le \Psi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q,\infty}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)}$$

with Ψ_{N_0} as in (5.21), and $\Psi(\xi)$ defined for $\xi \ge 1$ as (5.22)

$$\mathfrak{c}_{n}\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{0}(C(2\xi)^{q+1})^{\frac{1}{p}\cdot\frac{q-p}{q-1}}\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{r,q}^{n}(2C\xi,\mathfrak{c}_{n}r(2qC\xi)^{q_{\alpha}/q}(s[\nu]_{A_{s}^{\mathcal{R}}})^{\alpha q_{\alpha}})^{\frac{1}{pq}\cdot\frac{q-p}{q-1}}\psi(\mathfrak{c}_{n}\mathfrak{C}_{p,q}^{1}(2\xi)^{q/p}).$$

5.2. Weak-type results.

The arguments and techniques we have used to produce restricted weak-type extrapolation schemes can be easily modified to cover weak-type extrapolation in a context much broader than that of A_p weights. We begin by defining the classes of functions that will play their role in what follows.

Definition 5.4. Given exponents $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $0 < \sigma < \infty$, a positive function w belongs to the class A_p^{σ} if there exist a weight $v \in A_1$, and a positive function u such that $u^{\sigma} \in A_1$, and $w = v^{1-p}u$. Equivalently, $w \in A_p^{\sigma}$ if, and only if $w^{\sigma} \in A_{1+\sigma(p-1)}$, and we associate to this class of functions the constant given by

$$[w]_{A_p^{\sigma}} := [w^{\sigma}]_{A_{1+\sigma(p-1)}}.$$

Similarly, given an index $1 \leq N \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, a positive function w belongs to the class $\widehat{A}_{p,N}^{\sigma}$ if $w^{\sigma} \in \widehat{A}_{1+\sigma(p-1),N}$, and we associate to this class of functions the constant given by

$$||w||_{\widehat{A}_{p,N}^{\sigma}} := ||w^{\sigma}||_{\widehat{A}_{1+\sigma(p-1),N}}.$$

Remark 5.5. Note that in virtue of [30, Theorem 2.2], if $\sigma \geq 1$, then $w \in A_p^{\sigma}$ if, and only if $w \in A_p \cap RH_{\sigma}$, and this last condition was extrapolated in [2, 25, 35, 48]. In [61, 62], a slightly different notation was used. There, they worked with $A_{p,r}$, with $0 < r < \infty$, which is the class of positive functions w such that $w^r \in A_{1+\frac{r}{p'}}$. We have that $w \in A_{p,r}$ if, and only if $w^p \in A_p^{\sigma}$, with $\sigma = \frac{r}{p}$.

The next result allows us to construct functions in the previous classes. It is an adaptation of Lemma 3.6.

Lemma 5.6. Let $1 \leq q < p$, and fix $\sigma, \varsigma > 0$ such that $0 \leq \frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{\sigma(p-1)} \leq 1$. For a measurable function $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $w \in A^{\varsigma}_q$, let $v = (Mh)^{1-p+\frac{\varsigma}{\sigma}(q-1)}w^{\varsigma/\sigma}$.

(a) If q > 1, then $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, and

$$[v]_{A_p^{\sigma}} \le c[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$$

with c independent of h. (b) If q = 1, then $v \in \widehat{A}_p^{\sigma}$, and

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p}^{\sigma}} \leq [w]_{A_{1}^{\varsigma}}^{\frac{1}{1+\sigma(p-1)}}.$$

Proof. To prove (a), since $w^{\varsigma} \in A_{1+\varsigma(q-1)}$, we can find positive, measurable functions ϖ_0 and ϖ_1 such that $w^{\varsigma} = \varpi_0^{\varsigma(1-q)} \varpi_1^{\varsigma}$, with

$$\varpi_0 \in A_1, \quad [\varpi_0]_{A_1} \le \mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}} [w]_{A_q^\varsigma}^{\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}, \quad \varpi_1^\varsigma \in A_1, \quad \text{and} \quad [\varpi_1^\varsigma]_{A_1} \le \mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\varsigma(q-1)} [w]_{A_q^\varsigma}.$$

The details on the construction of such functions are available in [24, Theorem 4.2] and [72, Lemma 3.18]. Write

$$v = \left((Mh)^{1 - \frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{\sigma(p-1)}} \overline{\varpi}_0^{\frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{\sigma(p-1)}} \right)^{1-p} \overline{\varpi}_1^{\varsigma/\sigma} =: \widetilde{\varpi}_0^{1-p} \overline{\varpi}_1^{\varsigma/\sigma}$$

In virtue of [18, Lemma 2.12], $\widetilde{\varpi}_0 \in A_1$, with $[\widetilde{\varpi}_0]_{A_1} \lesssim_n \frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)} [\varpi_0]_{A_1}$. Hence, applying [24, Theorem 4.2], $v^{\sigma} \in A_{1+\sigma(p-1)}$, with

$$[v]_{A_{p}^{\sigma}} \leq [\widetilde{\varpi}_{0}]_{A_{1}}^{\sigma(p-1)} [\varpi_{1}^{\varsigma}]_{A_{1}} \leq \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)} \left(\mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}\right)^{\sigma(p-1)} [w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$$

To prove (b), observe that $v = (Mh)^{1-p} \overline{\omega}_1^{\varsigma/\sigma}$, so $v^{\sigma} \in \widehat{A}_{1+\sigma(p-1)}$, and

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p}^{\sigma}} \leq [\varpi_{1}^{\varsigma}]_{A_{1}}^{\frac{1}{1+\sigma(p-1)}} = [w]_{A_{1}^{\varsigma}}^{\frac{1}{1+\sigma(p-1)}}.$$

 $\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$

We can now present a weak-type version of the downwards extrapolation in Theorem 5.1, working with the class A_p^{σ} .

Theorem 5.7. Fix $0 \le \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 and <math>\sigma > 0$, and every $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$,

(5.23)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha,\infty}}(V)} \le \psi([v]_{A_p^{\sigma}}) \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every exponent $1 < q \leq p$, and every $w \in A_q^{\varsigma}$,

(5.24)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi([w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}) \|f\|_{L^{q}(w)},$$

where $\varsigma = \frac{\sigma p}{\sigma p + (1-\sigma)q}$, $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function.

Proof. We will prove this statement adapting the proof of Theorem 5.1. If q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q < p. Pick $w \in A_q^{\varsigma}$. We may also assume that $||f||_{L^q(w)} < \infty$. Fix y > 0 and $\gamma > 0$. We have that

(5.25)
$$\lambda_g^W(y) = \int_{\{|g|>y\}} W \le \lambda_{\mathscr{Z}}^W(\gamma y) + \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \left(\frac{\gamma y}{\mathscr{Z}}\right)^{p_\alpha - q_\alpha} W =: I + II,$$

where

$$\mathscr{Z} := \left(\frac{v^{p_{\alpha}/p}\nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}}{W}\right)^{\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}-p_{\alpha}}} \quad \text{and} \quad v := M(|f|^{\frac{q}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}w^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}})^{1-p+\frac{\varsigma}{\sigma}(q-1)}w^{\varsigma/\sigma}.$$

To estimate the term I in (5.25), writing $U := \left(\frac{\nu^{\alpha q}}{w^{(1+\alpha q)\varsigma-1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{(1+\alpha q)(1+\varsigma(q-1))}}$, we obtain, after some involved computations, that

$$I \leq \frac{\|\mathscr{Z}\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)}^{q_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} = \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left\| \frac{M(|f|^{\frac{q}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}w^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}})}{U} \right\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}$$

$$(5.26) \leq \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left\| M(|f|^{\frac{q}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}w^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}) \right\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}$$

$$\leq \frac{\mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left((1+\varsigma(q-1))' \right)^{1+\varsigma(q-1)} [w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \| f \|_{L^{q}(w)}^{q},$$

where in the last inequality we have used the classical Buckley's bound for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M in [12, Theorem 2.5] (see [72, Theorem 3.11]). It is worth mentioning that we need the second inequality because an optimal weak-type version of the Sawyer-type inequality in [74, Theorem 2] is not known.

To estimate the term II in (5.25), since $0 < \frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{\sigma(p-1)} < 1$, it follows from Lemma 5.6 that $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, with

$$[v]_{A_p^{\sigma}} \leq \mathfrak{C}_0[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{C}_0 \coloneqq \mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\varsigma(q-1)} \left(\mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}\right)^{\sigma(p-1)}$$

so by (5.23), we get that

(5.27)
$$II \leq \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(v^{p_{\alpha}/p_{\nu},\alpha_{p_{\alpha}}})}^{p_{\alpha}} \leq \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \psi(\mathfrak{C}_{0}[w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{p_{\alpha}}$$

with

(5.28)
$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f|^{p} M(|f|^{\frac{q}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}} w^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}})^{1-p+\frac{\varsigma}{\sigma}(q-1)} w^{\varsigma/\sigma}\right)^{1/p} \\ \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f|^{p} |f|^{q\left(1-\frac{p}{q}\right)} w^{(1-\varsigma)\left(1-\frac{p}{q}\right)+\varsigma/\sigma}\right)^{1/p} = \|f\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{q/p}.$$

Finally, if we argue as in the last steps of the proof of Theorem 5.1, we can combine (5.26), (5.27), and (5.28) to conclude that (5.24) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathfrak{C}_1 \xi^{\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)\left(1 + \frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}\right)} \psi(\mathfrak{C}_0 \xi^{1 + \frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1,$$

where (5.29)

$$\mathfrak{C}_{1} := \mathfrak{C}\left(\mathfrak{c}_{n}\left(1+\varsigma(q-1)\right)'\right)^{\left(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}\right)\left(1+\varsigma(q-1)\right)}, \quad \mathfrak{C} := \left(\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha}}\right)^{1/q_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha}}{q_{\alpha}}\right)^{1/p_{\alpha}}.$$

Remark 5.8. We can use Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm to improve Theorem 5.7, producing a better function Ψ . Indeed, for q > 1, we can take

$$v := \mathscr{R}(|f|^{\frac{q}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}w^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}})^{1-p+\frac{\varsigma}{\sigma}(q-1)}w^{\varsigma/\sigma},$$

30

where for a measurable function $h \in L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})$,

$$\mathscr{R}h := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M^{k}(|h|)}{2^{k} \|M\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})}^{k}}$$

is the Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm (see [35, 76]). In virtue of [35, Lemma 2.2], we have that $\|\mathscr{R}h\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})} \leq 2\|h\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})}$, $|h| \leq \mathscr{R}h$, and $\mathscr{R}h \in A_1$, with $[\mathscr{R}h]_{A_1} \leq 2\|M\|_{L^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(w^{\varsigma})} \leq 2\mathfrak{c}_n (1+\varsigma(q-1))' [w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$. Moreover, applying [35, Lemma 2.1], we obtain that $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, with $[v]_{A_p^{\sigma}} \leq \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_0[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_0 := (2\mathfrak{c}_n (1+\varsigma(q-1))')^{\sigma(p-1)-\varsigma(q-1)}$. Hence, we can rewrite the proof of Theorem 5.7 to conclude that (5.24) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = 2^{\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)(1 + \varsigma(q-1))} \mathfrak{C}\psi(\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_0 \xi^{\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

Remark 5.9. Note that given $0 < r \leq p$, if in (5.23) we replace $||f||_{L^{p}(v)}$ by $||f||_{L^{p,r}(v)}$, then we can replace estimate (5.28) by

$$\|f\|_{L^{p,r}(v)} \le p^{1/r} \left(\int_0^\infty t^{\frac{rq}{p}} \lambda_f^w(t)^{r/p} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} = \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/r} \|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{rq}{p}}(w)}^{q/p}$$

and follow the proof of Theorem 5.7, using that

$$||f||_{L^{q}(w)} \le \left(\frac{r}{p}\right)^{\frac{p-r}{rq}} ||f||_{L^{q,\frac{rq}{p}}(w)}$$

in (5.26) (see [43, Proposition 1.4.10]), to conclude that

$$\|g\|_{L^{q\alpha,\infty}(W)} \le \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/r} \left(\frac{r}{p}\right)^{\left(\frac{p}{r}-1\right)\left(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}\right)} \Psi([w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}})\|f\|_{L^{q,\frac{rq}{p}}(w)}.$$

We can extrapolate down to the endpoint q = 1 by following the same argument in the proof of Theorem 5.7 and using in (5.26) the classical Sawyer-type inequality for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator (see [27, Theorem 1.4] and [74, Theorem 2]).

Theorem 5.10. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponents 1 $and <math>\sigma > 0$, and every function $v \in \widehat{A}_p^{\sigma}$,

$$||g||_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(||v||_{\widehat{A}_{p}^{\sigma}}) ||f||_{L^{p,1}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every function $w \in A_1^{\varsigma}$ such that $W \in A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$ for some $r \ge 1$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi_r([w]_{A_1^{\varsigma}}, [W]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}}) \|f\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p}}(w)}$$

where $\varsigma = \frac{\sigma p}{1+\sigma(p-1)}$, $W = w^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha}} \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, and $\Psi_r : [1,\infty)^2 \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable.

It is worth mentioning that the following conjecture would allow us to prove Theorem 5.10 for an arbitrary exponent $1 \le q < p$.

Conjecture 5.11. Fix exponents $q \ge 1$ and $\varsigma > 0$ (or $0 < \varsigma \le 1$), and write $\varrho = 1 + \varsigma(q-1)$. Let u and v be positive, measurable functions such that $u^{\varsigma} \in A_{\rho}^{\mathcal{R}}$

and $u^{\varsigma}v^{\varrho} \in A_r^{\mathcal{R}}$ for some $r \geq 1$. Then, there exists a function $\phi: [1,\infty)^2 \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$, increasing in each variable, such that for every measurable function f,

$$\left\|\frac{M(|f|^{q/\varrho}u^{\frac{1-\varsigma}{\varrho}})}{v}\right\|_{L^{\varrho,\infty}(u^{\varsigma}v^{\varrho})}^{\varrho} \leq \phi([u^{\varsigma}]_{A_{\varrho}^{\mathcal{R}}}, [u^{\varsigma}v^{\varrho}]_{A_{r}^{\mathcal{R}}})\|f\|_{L^{q,1}(u)}^{q}$$

Remark 5.12. If q = 1 or $\varsigma = 1$, then Conjecture 5.11 follows from [74, Theorem 2] and [74, Lemma 3]. In general, for $h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $w \in A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\rho}$,

$$Mh(x) \le [w]_{A_{\varrho}^{\mathcal{R}}} \sup_{Q \ni x} \frac{\|h\chi_{Q}\|_{L^{\varrho,1}(w)}}{w(Q)^{1/\varrho}} =: [w]_{A_{\varrho}^{\mathcal{R}}} M_{L^{1,\frac{1}{\varrho}}(w)}(|h|^{\varrho})(x)^{1/\varrho}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

so the desired result may require to better understand the operator $M_{L^{1,\frac{1}{\varrho}}(w)}$ in the context of Sawyer-type inequalities. For $s \ge 1$, $M_{L^{1,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ was studied in [6, 58, 80].

Next, we study a weak-type version of the upwards extrapolation in Theorem 5.3 for the class A_n^{σ} .

Theorem 5.13. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 \le p \le q < \infty$ and $\varsigma > 0$, and every $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$,

(5.30)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi([v]_{A_{p}^{\sigma}}) \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)},$$

where $\sigma = \frac{\varsigma q}{(1-\varsigma)p+\varsigma q}$, $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p}\nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every $w \in A_q^{\varsigma}$,

(5.31)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi([w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,p}(w)},$$

where $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function function.

Proof. We will adapt the proof of Theorem 5.3. To do so, we have to choose an appropriate function $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, and find suitable replacements for estimates (5.17), (5.18), and (5.19) to control $||f||_{L^{p}(v)}$ by $||f||_{L^{q,p}(w)}$, and keep track of the changes in the constants involved.

If q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q > p. As usual, pick $w \in A_q^{\varsigma}$ and choose positive, measurable functions ϖ_0 and ϖ_1 such that $w^{\varsigma} = \varpi_0^{\varsigma(1-q)} \varpi_1^{\varsigma}$, with

$$\varpi_0 \in A_1, \quad [\varpi_0]_{A_1} \le \mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}} [w]_{A_q^\varsigma}^{\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}, \quad \varpi_1^\varsigma \in A_1, \quad \text{and} \quad [\varpi_1^\varsigma]_{A_1} \le \mathfrak{c}_n^{1+\varsigma(q-1)} [w]_{A_q^\varsigma}.$$

Fix a natural number $\varrho \geq 1$, and let $g_{\varrho} := |g|\chi_{B(0,\varrho)}\chi_{\{W \leq \varrho\}}$. It is enough to prove (5.31) for the pair (f, g_{ϱ}) . We know that (5.30) holds for (f, g_{ϱ}) because $g_{\varrho} \leq |g|$. Fix y > 0 such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y) \neq 0$. If no such y exists, then $\|g_{\varrho}\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} = 0$ and we are done. Since $W\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, instead of (5.14), we can take

$$\zeta = \pi_1^{1/q} M(\varpi_0^{-1} W \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{1/q'}, \qquad \varsigma \ge 1, \, p = 1,$$

$$v := \begin{cases} \frac{1-\varsigma}{q} M(w^{1/q} W^{1/q'} \varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma-1}{q}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}), & \varsigma < 1, \ p = 1, \\ w^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}} M(w^{\frac{1}{q} \cdot \frac{q'}{(1+\varsigma(q-1))'}} W^{\frac{1}{(1+\varsigma(q-1))'}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{(1-\frac{p}{q})(1+\varsigma(q-1))'}, & p > 1. \end{cases}$$

32

Note that $(1 + \varsigma(q-1))' = 1 + \frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}$, so for p > 1, $\frac{\sigma}{\varsigma} \left(\frac{p-1}{q-1} + \frac{(1+\varsigma(q-1))(q-p)}{q(q-1)}\right) = 1$, and for p = 1, $\frac{\sigma}{\varsigma q} + \frac{\sigma}{q'} = 1$ and $\frac{\sigma(1-\varsigma)}{\varsigma q} + \sigma = 1$, so in virtue of [18, Lemma 2.12], $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, with

$$[v]_{A_{p}^{\sigma}} \leq \mathfrak{C}_{0}[w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{C}_{0} := \begin{cases} \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}(1+\varsigma(q-1)), & \varsigma \geq 1, \ p=1, \\ \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)}\frac{1+\varsigma(q-1)}{1-\varsigma}, & \varsigma < 1, \ p=1, \\ \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{1+\varsigma(q-1)+\sigma(p-1)+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}\frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{\sigma(p-1)}, & p>1. \end{cases}$$

Observe that $V \ge w^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p}\left(\frac{p-1}{q-1}+\frac{q-p}{q(q-1)}\right)} W^{\frac{p_{\alpha}}{p}\left(1-\frac{p}{q}\right)} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}} = W \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}}.$ Now, estimate (5.17) for p > 1 should be replaced by

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le w(\{|f| > t\})^{p/q} \left\| \frac{M(w^{\frac{\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}W^{\frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{1+\varsigma(q-1)}{\varsigma q}}}{w} \right\|_{L^{q'}(w)}^{\frac{q-p}{q-1}}.$$

for p = 1 and $\varsigma \ge 1$ by

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le qw(\{|f| > t\})^{1/q} \left\| \frac{M(\varpi_0^{-1}W\chi_{\{|g_{\ell}| > y\}})}{\varpi_0^{-q}\varpi_1} \right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(w)}^{1/q'}$$

and for p = 1 and $0 < \varsigma < 1$ by

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le w(\{|f| > t\})^{1/q} \left\| \frac{M(w^{1/q}W^{1/q'}\varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma-1}{q}}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})}{w\varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma-1}{q}}} \right\|_{L^{q'}(w)}$$

Since $w^{\varsigma} \in A_{1+\varsigma(q-1)}, w^{\frac{1}{1-q}} \in A_{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$, with $[w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}]_{A_{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}} = [w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}$, and by the classical Buckley's bound for M (see [12, Theorem 2.5], [72, Theorem 3.11]),

$$\begin{split} \left\| M(w^{\frac{\varsigma}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}} W^{\frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}) \right\|_{L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})} &\leq \mathfrak{c}_{n}(1+\varsigma(q-1))[w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}} \\ &\times W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{\frac{\varsigma(q-1)}{1+\varsigma(q-1)}}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, for $0 < \varsigma < 1$, since $\varpi_0^{1-q} \varpi_1^{\varsigma} \in A_q$, $\varpi_0 \varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma}{1-q}} \in A_{q'}$, with $[\varpi_0 \varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma}{1-q}}]_{A_{q'}} = [\varpi_0^{1-q} \varpi_1^{\varsigma}]_{A_{q}}^{\frac{1}{q-1}}$, so

$$\left\| M(w^{1/q}W^{1/q'}\varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma-1}{q}}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}}) \right\|_{L^{q'}(\varpi_0\varpi_1^{\frac{\varsigma}{1-q}})} \leq \mathfrak{c}_n^{q+\frac{1}{\varsigma}+\varsigma(q-1)}q[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma}}W(\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\})^{1/q'}.$$

Also, for $\varsigma \ge 1$, $w = (w^{\varsigma})^{1/\varsigma} \in A_{1+\varsigma(q-1)}$, so in virtue of [74, Theorem 2] (see also [27, Theorem 1.4]),

$$\left\|\frac{M(\varpi_0^{-1}W\chi_{\{|g_\varrho|>y\}})}{\varpi_0^{-q}\varpi_1}\right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(w)} \leq \mathscr{E}_{\varsigma,q}^n([w]_{A_q^\varsigma})W(\{|g_\varrho|>y\}),$$

where $\mathscr{E}_{\varsigma,q}^n : [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is an increasing function that depends only on q,ς , and the dimension n. Once again, the required optimal weak-type versions of [74, Theorem 2] and [74, Theorem 7] are unavailable.

Now, we can replace (5.18) by

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le \phi([w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}})W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{1-\frac{p}{q}}w(\{|f| > t\})^{p/q},$$

and (5.19) by

(5.32)
$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \leq \left(\frac{p}{q}\phi([w]_{A^{\varsigma}_{q}})\right)^{1/p} W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}} \|f\|_{L^{q,p}(w)},$$

with

$$\phi([w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}) := \begin{cases} q \mathscr{E}_{\varsigma,q}^n([w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}})^{1/q'}, & \varsigma \ge 1, \ p = 1, \\ \mathfrak{c}_n^{q + \frac{1}{\varsigma} + \varsigma(q-1)} q[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}^{1 + \frac{1}{\varsigma}}, & \varsigma < 1, \ p = 1, \\ (\mathfrak{c}_n(1 + \varsigma(q-1))[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}})^{\left(1 - \frac{p}{q}\right)\left(1 + \frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}\right)}, & p > 1. \end{cases}$$

Finally, if we follow the proof of Theorem 5.3 performing the previous changes and keeping track of the constants, we conclude that (5.31) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \left(\frac{p}{q}\phi(\xi)\right)^{1/p}\psi(\mathfrak{C}_0\xi^{1+\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

Remark 5.14. Alternatively, if $1 \le p < q < \infty$, then we can take

$$v := w^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}} \mathscr{R}' (w^{\frac{1}{q} \cdot \frac{q'}{(1+\varsigma(q-1))'}} W^{\frac{1}{(1+\varsigma(q-1))'}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{(1-\frac{p}{q})(1+\varsigma(q-1))'},$$

where for a measurable function $h \in L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})$,

$$\mathscr{R}'h := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M^k(|h|)}{2^k \|M\|_{L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})}^k}$$

is the Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm (see [35, 76]). In virtue of [35, Lemma 2.2], we have that $|h| \leq \mathscr{R}'h$, $||\mathscr{R}'h||_{L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})} \leq 2||h||_{L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})}$, and $\mathscr{R}'h \in A_1$, with $[\mathscr{R}'h]_{A_1} \leq 2||M||_{L^{1+\frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}})} \leq 2\mathfrak{c}_n(1+\varsigma(q-1))[w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}$. Moreover, applying

[35, Lemma 2.1], we get that $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$, with $[v]_{A_p^{\sigma}} \leq (2\mathfrak{c}_n(1+\varsigma(q-1)))^{1-\frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}} [w]_{A_q^{\varsigma}}$. Hence, we can argue as before to conclude that (5.31) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/p} 2^{\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)\left(1 + \frac{1}{\varsigma(q-1)}\right)} \psi((2\mathfrak{c}_n(1 + \varsigma(q-1)))^{1 - \frac{\sigma(p-1)}{\varsigma(q-1)}} \xi), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

Remark 5.15. Note that given r > 0, if in (5.30) we replace $||f||_{L^{p}(v)}$ by $||f||_{L^{p,r}(v)}$, then we can replace estimate (5.32) by

$$\|f\|_{L^{p,r}(v)} \le \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/r} \phi([w]_{A_q^\varsigma})^{1/p} W(\{|g_\varrho| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}} \|f\|_{L^{q,r}(w)},$$

and follow the proof of Theorem 5.13 to conclude that

$$\|g\|_{L^{q\alpha,\infty}(W)} \le \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}-\frac{1}{p}} \Psi([w]_{A^{\varsigma}_{q}}) \|f\|_{L^{q,r}(w)}$$

A more familiar presentation of Theorem 5.13 follows assuming that $0 < \sigma \leq 1$, in which case we can fix an exponent q > p and choose $\varsigma := \frac{\sigma p}{\sigma p + (1-\sigma)q} > 0$. This restriction on σ appears in $A_{\vec{P}}$ extrapolation.

34

Corollary 5.16. Fix $0 \le \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 \le p < \infty$ and $0 < \sigma \le 1$, and every $v \in A_p^{\sigma}$,

$$||g||_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi([v]_{A_{p}^{\sigma}})||f||_{L^{p}(v)}$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every finite exponent $q \ge p$, and every $w \in A_{q}^{\varsigma}$,

$$||g||_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi([w]_{A_{q}^{\varsigma}}) ||f||_{L^{q,p}(w)},$$

where $\varsigma = \frac{\sigma p}{\sigma p + (1-\sigma)q}$, $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function.

6. Multi-variable extrapolation

This section presents our theorems on multi-variable mixed and restricted weaktype extrapolation.

6.1. Main results.

The following general extrapolation scheme is a combination of Theorems 5.1, 5.3, and 5.7, and Corollary 5.16.

Theorem 6.1. Fix $1 \leq N_1, \ldots, N_m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, and $0 \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}} \leq \ell \leq \ell_{\mathfrak{M}} \leq m$. Given measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m , and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i, N_i+1}$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell_{\mathcal{R}}$, $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i, N_i}$, $i = \ell_{\mathcal{R}} + 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $v_i \in A_{p_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, (6.1)

$$\begin{aligned} \|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v_1^{p/p_1}\dots v_m^{p/p_m})} &\leq \varphi(\|v_1\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_1,N_1+1}},\dots,\|v_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}+1}}\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}}+1},N_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}+1}}}},\dots,[v_{\ell+1}]_{A_{p_{\ell+1}}},\dots) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v_i)}\right) \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i}(v_i)}\right),\end{aligned}$$

where $\varphi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. Then, for all finite exponents $1 \leq q_1 \leq p_1, \ldots, q_{\ell_R+1} \geq p_{\ell_R+1}, \ldots, 1 < q_{\ell+1} \leq p_{\ell+1}, \ldots, q_{\ell_m+1} \geq p_{\ell_m+1}, \ldots, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{q_i, N_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$,

(6.2)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1}\dots w_m^{q/q_m})} \leq \Phi(\|w_1\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,N_1}},\dots,[w_{\ell+1}]_{A_{q_{\ell+1}}},\dots) \times \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|f_i\|_{L^{q_i,\min\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\}}(w_i)}\right) \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{q_i,\min\{p_i,q_i\}}(w_i)}\right),$$

where $\Phi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. If for some $1 \le i \le \ell_R$, $q_i = 1$, then we can take $N_i = 0$.

Proof. We are going to prove this theorem in m consecutive steps, one for each variable. The argument is simple, but the notation is appalling.

At step $1 \le i \le m$, we take $p^{(i)} := p_i, q^{(i)} := q_i, f^{(i)} := f_i, g^{(i)} := g, v^{(i)} := v_i, w^{(i)} := w_i,$

$$\alpha^{(i)} := \left(\sum_{1 \le j < i} \frac{1}{q_j}\right) + \left(\sum_{i < j \le m} \frac{1}{p_j}\right), \quad \text{and} \quad \nu^{(i)} := \left(\prod_{1 \le j < i} w_j^{\frac{1}{\alpha^{(i)}q_j}}\right) \left(\prod_{i < j \le m} v_j^{\frac{1}{\alpha^{(i)}p_j}}\right).$$

If $1 \leq i \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}}$, we pick $N^{(i)} := N_i$, and

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(i)}(\xi) &\coloneqq \left(\prod_{1 \le j < i} \mathscr{E}_j(\dots, \|w_{i-1}\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{i-1}, N_{i-1}}}, \xi, \|v_{i+1}\|_{\hat{A}_{p_{i+1}, N_{i+1}+1}}, \dots)\right) \\ &\times \varphi(\dots, 4\|w_{i-1}\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{i-1}, N_{i-1}}}^{\mathfrak{e}_{i-1}}, \xi, \|v_{i+1}\|_{\hat{A}_{p_{i+1}, N_{i+1}+1}}, \dots) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{1 \le j < i} \|f_j\|_{L^{q_j, \frac{q_j}{p_j}}(w_j)}\right) \left(\prod_{i < j \le \ell} \|f_j\|_{L^{p_j, 1}(v_j)}\right) \prod_{\ell < j \le m} \|f_j\|_{L^{p_j}(v_j)}, \quad \xi \ge 1, \end{split}$$

and apply Theorem 5.1. Here, for $1 \leq j \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}}$, if $N_j < \infty$, then $\mathfrak{e}_j := \frac{q_j}{p_j}$, and \mathscr{E}_j is as in (5.9), and if $N_j = \infty$, then $\mathfrak{e}_j := 1$, and \mathscr{E}_j is as in (5.11), taking into account Proposition 3.8 to handle $\nu^{(i)}$; that is,

$$[\nu^{(i)}]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{\max\{q_1,\dots,q_{i-1},p_{i+1},\dots,p_m\}}} \leq \mathfrak{C}_i \left(\prod_{1 \leq j < i} [w_j]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{q_j}}^{\frac{1}{\alpha^{(i)}q_j}}\right) \left(\prod_{i < j \leq m} [v_j]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{p_j}}^{\frac{1}{\alpha^{(i)}p_j}}\right), \quad \mathfrak{C}_i \geq 1.$$

Alternatively, one could also use [75, Lemma 4.1.11].

If $\ell_{\mathcal{R}} + 1 \leq i \leq \ell$, we pick $N^{(i)} := N_i$, and

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(i)}(\xi) &\coloneqq \left(\prod_{1 \le j \le \ell_{\mathcal{R}}} \mathscr{E}_{j}(\dots, \|w_{i-1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{i-1},N_{i-1}}}, \xi, \|v_{i+1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{i+1},N_{i+1}}}, \cdots)\right) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}} < j < i} \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{j}(\dots, \|w_{i-1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{i-1},N_{i-1}}}, \xi, \|v_{i+1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{i+1},N_{i+1}}}, \cdots)\right) \\ &\times \varphi(\cdots, \mathfrak{c}_{n} \mathfrak{C}_{p_{i-1},q_{i-1}}^{1} \left(2\|w_{i-1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{i-1},N_{i-1}}}\right)^{q_{i-1}/p_{i-1}}, \xi, \|v_{i+1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{i+1},N_{i+1}}}, \cdots) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{1 \le j < i} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{q_{j},\min\left\{1,\frac{q_{j}}{p_{j}}\right\}}(w_{j})}\right) \left(\prod_{i < j \le \ell} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{p_{j},1}(v_{j})}\right) \prod_{\ell < j \le m} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{p_{j}}(v_{j})}, \quad \xi \ge 1, \end{split}$$

and apply Theorem 5.3. Here, for $\ell_{\mathcal{R}} + 1 \leq j \leq \ell$, if $N_j < \infty$, then $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_j$ is as in (5.21), and if $N_j = \infty$, then $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_j$ is as in (5.22), handling $\nu^{(i)}$ as before. If $\ell + 1 \leq i \leq \ell_{\mathfrak{M}}$, we pick $\sigma^{(i)} := 1 =: \varsigma^{(i)}$, and

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(i)}(\xi) &\coloneqq \left(\prod_{1 \le j \le \ell_{\mathcal{R}}} \mathscr{E}_{j}(\cdots, [w_{i-1}]_{A_{q_{i-1}}}, \xi, [v_{i+1}]_{A_{p_{i+1}}}, \cdots)\right) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{\ell < j \le \ell} \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{j}(\cdots, [w_{i-1}]_{A_{q_{i-1}}}, \xi, [v_{i+1}]_{A_{p_{i+1}}}, \cdots)\right) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{\ell < j \le \ell} 2^{1 - \frac{q_{j}}{p_{j}}} \mathfrak{C}^{(j)}\right) \varphi(\cdots, \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_{0}^{(i-1)}[w_{i-1}]_{A_{q_{i-1}}}^{\frac{p_{i-1}-1}{q_{i-1}-1}}, \xi, [v_{i+1}]_{A_{p_{i+1}}}, \cdots) \\ &\times \left(\prod_{1 \le j \le \ell} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{q_{j}, \min\left\{1, \frac{q_{j}}{p_{j}}\right\}}(w_{j})}\right) \left(\prod_{\ell < j < i} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{q_{j}}(w_{j})}\right) \prod_{i < j \le m} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{p_{j}}(v_{j})}, \quad \xi \ge 1, \end{split}$$

and apply Theorem 5.7 and Remark 5.8 to get better constants.

Finally, if $\ell_{\mathfrak{M}} + 1 \leq i \leq m$, we pick $\sigma^{(i)} := 1 =: \varsigma^{(i)}$, and for $\xi \geq 1$, $\psi^{(i)}(\xi) := \left(\prod_{1 \leq j \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}}} \mathscr{E}_{j}(\cdots, [w_{i-1}]_{A_{q_{i-1}}}, \xi, [v_{i+1}]_{A_{p_{i+1}}}, \cdots)\right)$ $\times \left(\prod_{\ell < j \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}}} 2^{1-\frac{q_{j}}{p_{j}}} \mathfrak{C}^{(j)}\right) \left(\prod_{\ell \mathfrak{M} < j < i} \left(\frac{p_{j}}{q_{j}}\right)^{1/p_{j}} 2^{q_{j}'\left(\frac{1}{p_{j}} - \frac{1}{q_{j}}\right)}\right)$ $\times \varphi(\cdots, (2\mathfrak{c}_{n}q_{i-1})^{1-\frac{p_{i-1}-1}{q_{i-1}-1}} [w_{i-1}]_{A_{q_{i-1}}}, \xi, [v_{i+1}]_{A_{p_{i+1}}}, \cdots)$ $\times \left(\prod_{1 \leq j \leq \ell} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{q_{j},\min\left\{1,\frac{q_{j}}{p_{j}}\right\}}(w_{j})}\right) \left(\prod_{\ell < j < i} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{q_{j},\min\left\{p_{j},q_{j}\right\}}(w_{j})}\right) \prod_{i < j \leq m} \|f_{j}\|_{L^{p_{j}}(v_{j})},$

and apply Corollary 5.16 and Remark 5.14 to get better constants.

Hence, (6.2) holds, with

Remark 6.2. Note that in the case $\ell = 0$, we obtain an alternative proof of the weak-type extrapolation schemes in [19, Theorem 3.12] and [46, Theorem 6.1], and the one that follows from [35, Theorem 6.1].

We have presented Theorem 6.1 in its general form, for (m+1)-tuples of functions (f_1, \ldots, f_m, g) . In the next corollary, we deduce the corresponding extrapolation result for *m*-variable operators.

Corollary 6.3. Let *T* be an *m*-variable operator defined for suitable measurable functions. Fix $1 \leq N_1, \ldots, N_m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, and $0 \leq \ell_{\mathcal{R}} \leq \ell \leq \ell_{\mathfrak{M}} \leq m$, and suppose that for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty, \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i+1}$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell_{\mathcal{R}}$, $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}$, $i = \ell_{\mathcal{R}} + 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $v_i \in A_{p_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, (6.3) $T: L^{p_1,1}(v_1) \times \cdots \times L^{p_{\ell},1}(v_{\ell}) \times L^{p_{\ell+1}}(v_{\ell+1}) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m}(v_m) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v_1^{p/p_1} \ldots v_m^{p/p_m})$, with constant bounded as in (6.1). Then, for all finite exponents $1 \leq q_1 \leq p_1, \ldots, q_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}+1}} \geq p_{\ell_{\mathcal{R}+1}}, \ldots, 1 < q_{\ell+1} \leq p_{\ell+1}, \ldots, q_{\ell_{\mathcal{M}+1}} \geq p_{\ell_{\mathcal{M}+1}}, \ldots, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, (6.4) $T: \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} L^{q_i,\min\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\}}(w_i)\right) \times \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} L^{q_i,\min\{p_i,q_i\}}(w_i)\right) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \ldots w_m^{q/q_m})$, with constant bounded as in (6.2). If for some $1 \le i \le \ell_R$, $q_i = 1$, then we can take $N_i = 0$.

Proof. Given $f_i \in L^{q_i,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\right\}}(w_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $f_i \in L^{q_i,\min\left\{p_i,q_i\right\}}(w_i)$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, take $g := |T(f_1, \ldots, f_m)|$, and for every natural number $\varrho \geq 1$, let $g_{\varrho} := \min\{g, \varrho\}\chi_{B(0,\varrho)}$. We can perform this step under the vague assumption that T is defined for suitable measurable functions, including f_1, \ldots, f_m . Note that for every $\varrho \geq 1$, $g_{\varrho} \leq g$, so from (6.3) we deduce (6.1) for g_{ϱ} , and by Theorem 6.1, we obtain (6.2) for g_{ϱ} . Finally, we get (6.4) by taking the supremum over all $\varrho \geq 1$, since $g_{\varrho} \uparrow g$ and

$$\|g\|_{L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1}\dots w_m^{q/q_m})} = \sup_{\varrho \ge 1} \|g_{\varrho}\|_{L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1}\dots w_m^{q/q_m})}.$$

Remark 6.4. If the operator T is initially defined for some nice functions, say bounded functions with compact support or simple functions, and (6.3) only holds for these, then we can recover (6.4) in full generality via a standard density argument, assuming that T is multi-sub-linear (see [44, Proposition 7.2.3]).

6.2. A one-weight scheme.

For simplicity, suppose that $\ell_{\mathcal{R}} = 0$ and $\ell = m = 2$. Although from Theorem 6.1 we can deduce a one-weight conclusion, we need to assume a two-weight hypothesis to get it because, in general, the weights v_1 and v_2 that we chose in (5.14) are different. However, for $q_1 > p_1 > 1$ and $q_2 > p_2 > 1$ such that $\frac{p_1-1}{q_1-1} = \frac{p_2-1}{q_2-1}$, we can have $v_1 = v_2$. That is, these weights can coincide if the points (p_1, p_2) and (q_1, q_2) in $(1, \infty)^2$ lay on a straight line passing through the point (1, 1). Equivalently, for some $\gamma > 0$, the points $P = (\frac{1}{p_1}, \frac{1}{p_2})$ and $Q = (\frac{1}{q_1}, \frac{1}{q_2})$ in $(0, 1)^2$ belong to the graph of the function $F_{\gamma}(x) := \frac{x}{(1-\gamma)x+\gamma}$, defined for $0 < x \leq 1$. Adding this assumption in Theorem 6.1 allows us to obtain the following one-weight theorem, and the corresponding extrapolation scheme for multi-variable operators. See Figure 2 for a pictorial representation of these results.

Theorem 6.5. Fix integers $N_1, \ldots, N_m \ge 1$. Given measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m , and g, suppose that for some exponents $p_1 = \cdots = p_m = 1$ or $1 < p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and every weight $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{p_i, N_i}$,

(6.5)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le \varphi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_1,N_1}},\dots,\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_m,N_m}}) \prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v)},$$

where $\varphi: [1,\infty)^m \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. Then, for all finite exponents $q_1 \ge p_1, \ldots, q_m \ge p_m$ such that $\frac{p_1-1}{q_1-1} = \cdots = \frac{p_m-1}{q_m-1}, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m},$ and every weight $w \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i},$

(6.6)
$$||g||_{L^{q,\infty}(w)} \le \Phi(||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,N_1}},\ldots,||w||_{\widehat{A}_{q_m,N_m}})\prod_{i=1}^m ||f_i||_{L^{q_i,1}(w)},$$

where $\Phi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function that increases in each variable. The same result is valid if for some index $0 \leq \ell < m$, $N_{\ell+1} = \cdots = N_m = \infty$ and $N_1, \ldots, N_\ell < \infty$.

Proof. We will follow the steps of the proof of Theorem 5.3, skipping most of the tedious computations.

Note that if for some $1 \leq i \leq m$, $q_i = p_i$, then $q_1 = p_1, \ldots, q_m = p_m$ and there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that $q_i > p_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Fix a natural number $\varrho \geq 1$, and let $g_{\varrho} := |g|\chi_{B(0,\varrho)}$. We will prove (6.6) for the tuple $(f_1, \ldots, f_m, g_{\varrho})$. Pick a weight $w \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}$ and fix y > 0 such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^w(y) \neq 0$.

In order to apply (6.5), we want to find a weight $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{m} \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}$ such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{w}(y) \leq \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{v}(y)$. If $1 < p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, then the restrictions on the exponents allow us to take any $1 \leq j \leq m$, and choose

$$v := w^{\frac{p_j - 1}{q_j - 1}} M(w\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{q_j - p_j}{q_j - 1}}$$

In virtue of Lemma 3.7, we see that for $i = 1, \ldots, m, v \in \widehat{A}_{p_i, N_i}$, with

$$\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}} \lesssim_n \left(\frac{q_i-1}{p_i-1}\right)^{1/p_i} \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}}^{q_i/p_i}$$

If $p_1 = \cdots = p_m = 1$, then we argue as follows: for $q_0 := \min\{q_1, \ldots, q_m\}$, and $N := \max\{N_1, \ldots, N_m\}$, $\bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{q_i, N_i} \subseteq \widehat{A}_{q_0, N}$, so we can find measurable functions $h_1, \ldots, h_N \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, parameters $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N \in (0, 1]$, with $\theta_1 + \cdots + \theta_N = 1$, and a weight $u \in A_1$ such that $w = \left(\prod_{j=1}^N (Mh_j)^{\theta_j}\right)^{1-q_0} u$, with $[u]_{A_1}^{1/q_0} \leq (1 + \frac{1}{q_0}) \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_0, N}}$. In particular, for $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

(6.7)
$$w = \left(M(\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n})^{1 - \frac{q_0 - 1}{q_i - 1}} \prod_{j=1}^N (Mh_j)^{\frac{\theta_j(q_0 - 1)}{q_i - 1}} \right)^{1 - q_i} u$$

This step is crucial to guarantee that we can apply Theorem 4.1 m times, one for each of the exponents q_1, \ldots, q_m , and always working with the same weight $u \in A_1$.

Now, write $q_{\infty} := \max\{q_1, \ldots, q_m\}$, and choose $\theta := 1 - \frac{1}{5q_{\infty}}$, $\tau := 1 + \frac{1}{2^{n+1}[u]_{A_1}}$, and $\mu := 1 - \frac{1-\theta}{\tau}$, and define $w_{\theta} := wu^{\theta-1}$ and

$$v := M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})u^{\tau(1-\mu)}.$$

In virtue of (5.15), we see that $v \in A_1$, with

$$[v]_{A_1} \lesssim_n \frac{\|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_0,N}}^{q_0}}{1-\theta} \lesssim q_{\infty} \max_{1 \le k \le m} \left\{ \|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_k,N_k}} \right\}^{q_0}$$

Observe that, in any case, $v \ge w\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}$, so (6.5) implies that

(6.8)
$$\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{w}(y) \leq \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{v}(y) \leq \frac{1}{y^{p}} \varphi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{1},N_{1}}}, \dots, \|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{m},N_{m}}})^{p} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{p_{i},1}(v)}^{p}$$
$$\leq \frac{\widetilde{\varphi}^{p}}{y^{p}} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{p_{i},1}(v)}^{p},$$

where $\tilde{\varphi}$ is given by

$$\begin{cases} \varphi(\mathfrak{c}_{n}\left(\frac{q_{1}-1}{p_{1}-1}\|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{1},N_{1}}}^{q_{1}}\right)^{1/p_{1}},\ldots,\mathfrak{c}_{n}\left(\frac{q_{m}-1}{p_{m}-1}\|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{m},N_{m}}}^{q_{m}}\right)^{1/p_{m}}), & 1 < p_{j} < \infty, \\ \varphi(\mathfrak{c}_{n}q_{\infty}\max_{1 \le k \le m}\left\{\|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{k},N_{k}}}\right\}^{q_{0}},\ldots,\mathfrak{c}_{n}q_{\infty}\max_{1 \le k \le m}\left\{\|w\|_{\hat{A}_{q_{k},N_{k}}}\right\}^{q_{0}}), & p_{j} = 1. \end{cases}$$

For i = 1, ..., m, we want to replace $||f_i||_{L^{p_i,1}(v)}$ by $||f_i||_{L^{q_i,1}(w)}$ in (6.8). Applying Hölder's inequality with exponent $\frac{q_i}{p_i} > 1$, we obtain that for every t > 0,

$$\lambda_{f_i}^{v}(t) \leq \frac{q_i}{p_i} w(\{|f_i| > t\})^{p_i/q_i} \times \begin{cases} \left\| \frac{M(w\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})}{w} \right\|_{L^{q'_i,\infty}(w)}^{\frac{q_i - p_i}{q_i - 1}}, & 1 < p_i < \infty, \\ \\ \left\| \frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})}{w_{\theta}} \right\|_{L^{q'_i,\infty}(w)}, & p_i = 1. \end{cases}$$

Now, [74, Theorem 8] gives us that

$$\left\|\frac{M(w\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w}\right\|_{L^{q'_{i},\infty}(w)} \lesssim_{n,q_{i}} [w]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{q_{i}}}^{q_{i}+1} w(\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\})^{1/q'_{i}}$$

and from (6.7) and Theorem 4.1, we deduce that

$$\left\|\frac{M^{\mu}(w_{\theta}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w_{\theta}}\right\|_{L^{q'_{i},\infty}(w)} \lesssim_{n,q_{i},q_{\infty}} [u]_{A_{1}}[w]^{2}_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{q_{i}}}w(\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\})^{1/q'_{i}}.$$

Thus, in virtue of Theorem 3.4,

$$\lambda_{f_i}^v(t) \le \frac{q_i}{p_i} \phi_i^{\frac{q_i - p_i}{q_i - 1}} w(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{1 - \frac{p_i}{q_i}} w(\{|f_i| > t\})^{p_i/q_i},$$

with

$$\phi_i := \begin{cases} \mathfrak{C}_{q_i}^n \left(N_i \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}} \right)^{q_i+1}, & 1 < p_i < \infty, \\\\ \mathfrak{C}_{q_i,q_{\infty}}^n \left(N_i \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}} \right)^2 \max_{1 \le k \le m} \left\{ \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_k,N_k}} \right\}^{q_0}, & p_i = 1, \end{cases}$$

for some constants $\mathfrak{C}_{q_i}^n, \mathfrak{C}_{q_i,q_{\infty}}^n \geq 1$, and hence,

(6.9)
$$\|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v)} \le \left(\frac{p_i}{q_i}\right)^{1/p'_i} \phi_i^{\frac{1}{p_i} \cdot \frac{q_i - p_i}{q_i - 1}} w(\{|g_\varrho| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p_i} - \frac{1}{q_i}} \|f_i\|_{L^{q_i,1}(w)}.$$

Combining the estimates (6.8) and (6.9), we have that

$$\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{w}(y) \leq \frac{1}{y^{p}} \Phi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{1},N_{1}}}, \dots, \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{m},N_{m}}})^{p} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{q_{i},1}(w)}^{p}\right) \lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{w}(y)^{1-\frac{p}{q}},$$

with

$$\Phi(\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,N_1}},\dots,\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_m,N_m}}) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^m \left(\frac{p_i}{q_i}\right)^{1/p'_i} \phi_i^{\frac{1}{p_i},\frac{q_i-p_i}{q_i-1}}\right) \widetilde{\varphi}_i$$

and the desired result follows.

Now, suppose that for some index $0 \leq \ell < m$, $N_{\ell+1} = \cdots = N_m = \infty$ and $N_1, \ldots, N_\ell < \infty$. By hypothesis, we have that for every weight $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}$, (6.10)

$$\|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le \varphi(\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_1,N_1}},\dots,\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_\ell,N_\ell}},\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{\ell+1},\infty}},\dots,\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_m,\infty}})\prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v)}$$

Pick a weight $w \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{m} \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}$. For $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, we can find an integer $N_i^0 \ge 1$ such that $w \in \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i^0}$, with $\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}} \le N_i^0 \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i^0}} \le 2\|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}}$. From (6.10), we

deduce that for every weight $v \in \left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\ell} \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}\right) \cap \left(\bigcap_{i=\ell+1}^{m} \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i^0}\right)$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le \varphi(\dots, \|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{\ell},N_{\ell}}}, N^{0}_{\ell+1}\|v\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_{\ell+1},N^{0}_{\ell+1}}}, \dots) \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{p_{i},1}(v)},$$

and applying Theorem 6.5 for $N_1, \ldots, N_{\ell}, N_{\ell+1}^0, \ldots, N_m^0$, we conclude that

$$\|g\|_{L^{q,\infty}(w)} \le \Phi(\dots, \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{\ell},N_{\ell}}}, \|w\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_{\ell+1},\infty}}, \dots) \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{q_i,1}(w)}$$

with $\Phi(\vec{\xi})$ defined for $\vec{\xi} \in [1,\infty)^m$ as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\frac{p_{i}}{q_{i}}\right)^{1/p_{i}'} \times \begin{cases} \mathfrak{C}_{q_{i}}^{n} \Upsilon_{i}^{q_{i}+1}, & 1 < p_{i} < \infty, \\ \mathfrak{C}_{q_{i},q_{\infty}}^{n} \Upsilon_{i}^{2} \max\left\{\dots, \xi_{\ell}, 2\xi_{\ell+1}, \dots\right\}^{q_{0}}, & p_{i} = 1, \end{cases} \overset{\frac{1}{p_{i}} \frac{q_{i}-p_{i}}{q_{i}-1}}{p_{\ell}-1} \\ \times \begin{cases} \varphi(\dots, \mathfrak{c}_{n} \left(\frac{q_{\ell}-1}{p_{\ell}-1}\xi_{\ell}^{q_{\ell}}\right)^{1/p_{\ell}}, \mathfrak{c}_{n} \left(\frac{q_{\ell+1}-1}{p_{\ell+1}-1}(2\xi_{\ell+1})^{q_{\ell+1}}\right)^{1/p_{\ell+1}}, \dots), & 1 < p_{j} < \infty, \\ \varphi(\dots, \mathfrak{c}_{n}q_{\infty} \max\left\{\dots, \xi_{\ell}, 2\xi_{\ell+1}, \dots\right\}^{q_{0}}, \dots), & p_{j} = 1, \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

where $\Upsilon_i := N_i \xi_i$ for $1 \le i \le \ell$, and $\Upsilon_i := 2\xi_i$ for $\ell + 1 \le i \le m$.



FIGURE 2. Pictorial representation of Theorem 6.5 and Corollary 6.6 for m = 2.

As usual, from Theorem 6.5 we can obtain the corresponding extrapolation result for multi-variable operators arguing as in the proof of Corollary 6.3.

Corollary 6.6. Let T be an m-variable operator defined for suitable measurable functions. Fix $1 \leq N_1, \ldots, N_m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$. Suppose that for some exponents $p_1 = \cdots = p_m = 1$ or $1 < p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and every weight $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}$, $T: L^{p_1,1}(v) \times \cdots \times L^{p_m,1}(v) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v)$, with constant bounded as in (6.5). Then, for all finite exponents $q_1 \ge p_1, \ldots, q_m \ge p_m$ such that $\frac{p_1-1}{q_1-1} = \cdots = \frac{p_m-1}{q_m-1}, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and every weight $w \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{q_i,N_i}$,

$$T: L^{q_1,1}(w) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,1}(w) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w),$$

with constant bounded as in (6.6).

Remark 6.7. One-weight strong-type extrapolation for multi-variable operators was studied in [46, Theorem 1.2], assuming an alternative condition on the exponents; that is, $\frac{p_1}{q_1} = \cdots = \frac{p_m}{q_m}$. An analog for restricted weak-type operators in the downwards case was obtained in [4, Theorem 1.3].

7. Applications

In this section, we apply the extrapolation results previously introduced to produce mixed and restricted weak-type bounds for classical operators.

7.1. Weak-type operators.

We will demonstrate that, under suitable conditions, a weak-type hypothesis for a multi-sub-linear operator T is more than enough to run an extrapolation argument yielding the full range of weighted restricted weak-type bounds for such an operator. In particular, we extend outside the Banach range the well-known equivalence between weak-type for characteristic functions and restricted weak-type (see [9, 65, 81]). Also, we show that weighted restricted weak-type conditions are stronger than the usual weighted weak-type ones.

The next result follows applying Theorems 6.1 and 2.4, Corollary 6.3, and the standard extension argument in [9, Page 256] if q > 1.

Theorem 7.1. Let T be a multi-sub-linear operator defined for suitable measurable functions. Suppose that for some exponents $1 \le p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and all weights $v_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$\|T(\chi_{E_1},\ldots,\chi_{E_m})\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v_1^{p/p_1}\ldots,v_m^{p/p_m})} \le \varphi(\|v_1\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_1}},\ldots,\|v_m\|_{\widehat{A}_{p_m}}) \prod_{i=1}^m v_i(E_i)^{1/p_i},$$

for all measurable sets $E_1, \ldots, E_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, where $\varphi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. Then, for all exponents $1 \leq q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$T: L^{q_1,1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,1}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

with monotonically increasing dependence of the constant on $(||w_i||_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}})_{1 \leq i \leq m}$, provided that q > 1 or T is (ε, δ) -atomic approximable or iterative (ε, δ) -atomic approximable.

Remark 7.2. This result provides positive evidence for the conjecture that given p > 1, and $v \in \widehat{A}_{p,\infty}$, there exists a weight $v_0 \in \widehat{A}_p$ such that $v_0 \equiv v$, with implicit constants depending only on p, $||v||_{\widehat{A}_{p,\infty}}$, and the dimension n.

Remark 7.3. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 7.1, and assuming that T is (ε, δ) -atomic approximable or iterative (ε, δ) -atomic approximable, we can extrapolate down to the endpoint $(1, \ldots, 1, \frac{1}{m})$ with Theorems 6.1 and 2.4, and in virtue of the classical multi-variable weak-type Rubio de Francia's extrapolation in [46, Theorem

6.1], we deduce that for all exponents $1 < q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$T: L^{q_1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

with monotonically increasing dependence of the constant on $([w_i]_{A_{q_i}})_{1 \leq i \leq m}$.

Recently, the following class of operators has been extensively studied in [13].

Definition 7.4. Given a Banach space \mathbb{B} , we say that an *m*-variable operator T is a \mathbb{B} -valued multi-linear bounded oscillation operator if there is a \mathbb{B} -valued *m*-linear (or *m*-sub-linear if $\mathbb{B} = \mathbb{R}$) operator \mathcal{T} such that for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $T(\vec{f})(x) = \|\mathcal{T}(\vec{f})(x)\|_{\mathbb{B}}$, and there exist constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that for all functions $f_1, \ldots, f_m \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

(a) For every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a cube $P \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ so that $Q \subsetneq P$, and

$$\sup_{x \in Q} \|\mathcal{T}(\vec{f}\chi_{5P})(x) - \mathcal{T}(\vec{f}\chi_{5Q})(x)\|_{\mathbb{B}} \le C_1 \prod_{i=1}^m \oint_{5P} |f_i|$$

(b) For every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sup_{x,y\in Q} \left\| \left(\mathcal{T}(\vec{f}) - \mathcal{T}(\vec{f}\chi_{5Q}) \right)(x) - \left(\mathcal{T}(\vec{f}) - \mathcal{T}(\vec{f}\chi_{5Q}) \right)(y) \right\|_{\mathbb{B}} \le C_2 \prod_{i=1}^m \sup_{P\supseteq Q} \oint_P |f_i|.$$

It follows immediately from [13, Theorem 1.7] that we can transfer the weaktype $(1, \ldots, 1, \frac{1}{m})$ bounds for \mathcal{M} in [60, Theorem 3.3] to general \mathbb{B} -valued multilinear bounded oscillation operators, and we can apply our extrapolation scheme in Corollary 6.3 to obtain the corresponding mixed and restricted weak-type estimates.

Theorem 7.5. Let T be a \mathbb{B} -valued multi-linear bounded oscillation operator defined for suitable measurable functions, and suppose that

$$T: L^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \cdots \times L^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Then, for all exponents $1 \leq q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}, i = 1, \ldots, m$,

$$T: L^{q_1,1}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,1}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

with monotonically increasing dependence of the constant on $(||w_i||_{\widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}})_{1\leq i\leq m}$. Likewise, we also get mixed-type inequalities for T.

Many well-known multi-variable operators satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 7.5, meaning that we automatically cover the full range of mixed and restricted weaktype bounds for them. Among these, we find multi-linear Littlewood-Paley square operators (see [13, Theorem 2.13]), multi-linear Fourier integral operators (see [13, Theorem 2.20]), higher order Calderón commutators (see [13, Theorem 2.24]), and maximally modulated multi-linear singular integrals (see [13, Theorem 2.27]). The multi-sub-linear maximal operator \mathcal{M} (see [13, Theorem 2.1]), and *m*-variable ω -Calderón-Zygmund operators with ω satisfying the Dini condition (see [13, Theorem 2.5]) also satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 7.5, but we managed to produce better results for them in [74, Theorem 10], [75, Theorem 5.2.7], and [75, Remark 5.2.9].

7.2. Product-type operators and commutators.

We start with the following result, that gives us mixed-type bounds for products of one-variable operators.

Proposition 7.6. Let T_1, \ldots, T_m be one-variable operators defined for suitable measurable functions. For $i = 2, \ldots, m$, suppose that for some $p_i > 1$, and every weight $v_i \in A_{p_i}$,

$$T_i: L^{p_i,1}(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{p_i,1}(v_i)$$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_{p_i}})$, where $\varphi_i : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Suppose also that for some $p_1 \ge 1$, and every weight $v_1 \in A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}$,

$$T_1: L^{p_1,1}(v_1) \longrightarrow L^{p_1,\infty}(v_1),$$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_1([v_1]_{A_{p_1}})$, where $\varphi_1: [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. If $\frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} = \frac{1}{p} < 1$, then for all weights $w_1 \in A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}$, and $w_i \in A_{p_i}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$, and all suitable measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m ,

$$\|T_1f_1\dots T_mf_m\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w_1^{p/p_1}\dots w_m^{p/p_m})} \le \Phi([w_1]_{A_{p_1}}, [w_2]_{A_{p_2}}, \dots) \prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(w_i)}$$

where $\Phi: [1,\infty)^m \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable.

Proof. Writing $w := w_1^{p/p_1} \dots w_m^{p/p_m}$ and applying [75, Lemma 2.2.1], we get that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_1 f_1 \dots T_m f_m\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w)} &\leq \frac{2^{2m-2}p'}{p_2 \dots p_m} \left(\prod_{i=2}^m \|T_i f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(w_i)}\right) \|T_1 f_1\|_{L^{p_1,\infty}(w_1)} \\ &\leq \frac{2^{2m-2}p'}{p_2 \dots p_m} \left(\prod_{i=2}^m \varphi_i([w_i]_{A_{p_i}})\right) \varphi_1([w_1]_{A_{p_1}}) \prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(w_i)}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 7.7. For i = 2, ..., m, if T_i is sub-linear, and for some $p_i > 1$, and every weight $v_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$,

 $T_i: L^{p_i,1}(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{p_i,\infty}(v_i),$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_{p_i}})$, then in virtue of [75, Theorem 3.1.9], T_i satisfies the hypotheses of Proposition 7.6.

For operators as in Remark 7.7, we should be able to extend Proposition 7.6 for $p_1, \ldots, p_m \ge 1$, without restrictions on p, and assuming that for $1 \le \ell \le m$, $w_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$, $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$, and $w_i \in A_{p_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$. This question is still open due to the lack of a Hölder-type inequality for Lorentz spaces with the change of measures (see [75, Page 27] or [17]) and a complete mixed-type generalization of [75, Lemma 2.2.1], although we managed to do the job for the particular case of the point-wise product of Hardy-Littlewood maximal operators (see [74, Theorem 3] and [75, Remark 2.4.2]). Fortunately, we can use Corollary 6.3, and Remarks 5.9 and 5.15, to improve the conclusion of Proposition 7.6.

Theorem 7.8. Let T_1, \ldots, T_m be sub-linear operators defined for suitable measurable functions. For $i = 1, \ldots, m$, suppose that for some $p_i > 1$, and every weight $v_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$,

$$T_i: L^{p_i,1}(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{p_i,\infty}(v_i),$$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}})$, where $\varphi_i: [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Consider the operator

$$T^{\otimes}(f_1,\ldots,f_m)(x) := T_1f_1(x)\ldots T_mf_m(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

defined for suitable measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m . If $\frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} = \frac{1}{p} < 1$, then for all exponents $1 \le q_1 < \infty, 1 < q_2, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, and $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_1 \in \widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}$, and $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$,

$$T^{\otimes}: L^{q_1,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_1}{p_1}\right\}}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_m}{p_m}\right\}}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

with monotonically increasing dependence of the constant on $||w_1||_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}}$, and $[w_i]_{A_{q_i}}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$. If q > 1, then we can replace the space $L^{q_i,\min\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\}}(w_i)$ by $L^{q_i,1}(w_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Let us recall some basic concepts on commutators (see [23, 42, 60]). Given a function $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the sharp maximal operator $M^{\#}$ is defined by

$$M^{\#}f(x) := \sup_{Q \ni x} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} \left| f - \oint_{Q} f \right|, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

If $b \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is such that $M^{\#}b \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we say that b is a function of bounded mean oscillation, and we denote by BMO the class of all these functions. For $b \in BMO$, we write

$$||b||_{BMO} := ||M^{\#}b||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Given an *m*-variable operator T defined for measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n , and measurable functions b_1, \ldots, b_m , with $\vec{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_m)$, the *m*-variable commutators $[\vec{b}, T]_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, are formally defined for measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m by

$$[\vec{b}, T]_i(f_1, \dots, f_m)(x) \coloneqq b_i(x)T(f_1, \dots, f_m)(x) - T(f_1, \dots, f_{i-1}, b_i f_i, f_{i+1}, \dots, f_m)(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

In particular, if $T = T^{\otimes}$, then

$$[\vec{b}, T^{\otimes}]_i(f_1, \dots, f_m)(x) = [b_i, T_i]f_i(x)\prod_{j\neq i} T_j f_j(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Hence, these operators are, in fact, product-type operators, and we can follow the approach of Theorem 7.8 to prove weighted bounds for them, using known estimates for commutators of one-variable operators, as we show in the next result.

Corollary 7.9. Fix $1 \le i \le m$, and let T_i be a linear operator such that for every weight $u \in A_2$,

 $T_i: L^2(u) \longrightarrow L^2(u),$

with constant bounded by $\phi_i([u]_{A_2})$, where $\phi_i : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Also, for every $1 \leq j \neq i \leq m$, let T_j be a sub-linear operator such that for some $p_j > 1$, and every weight $v_j \in A_{p_j}^{\mathcal{R}}$,

$$T_j: L^{p_j,1}(v_j) \longrightarrow L^{p_j,\infty}(v_j),$$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_j([v_j]_{A_{p_j}^{\mathcal{R}}})$, where $\varphi_j: [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is an increasing function. Let $b_i \in BMO$, and fix an index $\ell \neq i$. If $\sum_{j\neq i} \frac{1}{p_j} < 1$, then for all finite

exponents $\frac{1}{p_i} < 1 - \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{1}{p_j}$, $1 \leq q_\ell < \infty$, $1 < q_1, \dots, q_{\ell-1}, q_{\ell+1}, \dots, q_m < \infty$, and $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \dots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_\ell \in \widehat{A}_{q_\ell,\infty}$, and $w_j \in A_{q_j}$, $1 \leq j \neq \ell \leq m$,

 $[\vec{b}, T^{\otimes}]_i: L^{q_1, \min\left\{1, \frac{q_1}{p_1}\right\}}(w_1) \times \dots \times L^{q_m, \min\left\{1, \frac{q_m}{p_m}\right\}}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q, \infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$

with constant bounded by $\Phi_{\vec{b}}([w_1]_{A_{q_1}},\ldots,\|w_\ell\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_\ell,\infty}},[w_{\ell+1}]_{A_{q_{\ell+1}}},\ldots)$, and as usual, $\Phi_{\vec{b}}:[1,\infty)^m \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. If q > 1, then we can replace the space $L^{q_j,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_j}{p_j}\right\}}(w_j)$ by $L^{q_j,1}(w_j), j = 1,\ldots,m$.

Proof. In virtue of [20, Corollary 3.3], we have that for $1 < r < \infty$, and every weight $v_i \in A_r$

$$[b_i, T_i]: L^r(v_i) \longrightarrow L^r(v_i),$$

with constant bounded by

$$\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_r}) := c_{n,r} \phi_i(C_{n,r}[v_i]_{A_r}^{\max\left\{1,\frac{1}{r-1}\right\}})[v_i]_{A_r}^{\max\left\{1,\frac{1}{r-1}\right\}} \|b_i\|_{BMO}$$

In particular,

$$[b_i, T_i]: L^r(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{r,\infty}(v_i),$$

with constant also bounded by $\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_r})$, and arguing as in the proof of [75, Theorem 3.1.9, we get that for every weight $v_i \in A_r$,

$$[b_i, T_i]: L^{r,1}(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{r,1}(v_i),$$

with constant bounded by $\widetilde{c}_{n,r}[v_i]_{A_r}^{\frac{2}{r-1}}\varphi_i(\widetilde{C}_{n,r}[v_i]_{A_r}^2)$. Choosing $1 < r := p_i < \infty$, and writing $\frac{1}{p} := \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} < 1$, we deduce the desired result applying Proposition 7.6, Remark 7.7, Corollary 6.3, and Remarks 5.9 and 5.15.

Since $[b, T^{\otimes}]_i$ is multi-sub-linear, the conclusion for q > 1 follows from the standard $\triangleright \triangleright \triangleright$ extension argument in [9, Page 256].

Remark 7.10. It is worth mentioning that the function $\Phi_{\vec{b}}$ that we obtain is of the form $\Phi_{\vec{b}} = \|b_i\|_{BMO} \Phi$, where $\Phi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable and independent of b.

7.3. Averaging operators and *NBV* Fourier multipliers.

We have seen in Theorem 7.8 that, sometimes, we can use extrapolation techniques to avoid the application of some Hölder-type inequalities for Lorentz spaces. In the next result, we will see that we can also use extrapolation theorems to overcome the lack of Minkowski's integral inequality for the Lorentz quasi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{q,\infty}(w)}$ when $q \leq 1.$

Theorem 7.11. Let $\{T_1^{t_1}\}_{t_1 \in \mathbb{R}}, \ldots, \{T_m^{t_m}\}_{t_m \in \mathbb{R}}$ be families of sub-linear operators defined for suitable measurable functions. For i = 1, ..., m, suppose that for some $p_i > 1$, every $t_i \in \mathbb{R}$, and every weight $v_i \in A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}$,

$$T_i^{t_i}: L^{p_i,1}(v_i) \longrightarrow L^{p_i,\infty}(v_i)$$

with constant bounded by $\varphi_i([v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\mathcal{R}}})$, where $\varphi_i: [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is an increasing function independent of t_i . For a measure μ on \mathbb{R}^m such that $|\mu|(\mathbb{R}^m) < \infty$, consider the averaging operator

$$T_{\mu}(f_1,\ldots,f_m)(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} T_1^{t_1} f_1(x) \ldots T_m^{t_m} f_m(x) d\mu(t_1,\ldots,t_m), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

defined for suitable measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m . If $\frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} = \frac{1}{p} < 1$, then for all exponents $1 \le q_1 < \infty$, $1 < q_2, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, and $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and all weights $w_1 \in \widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}$, and $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$,

$$T_{\mu}: L^{q_1,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_1}{p_1}\right\}}(w_1) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_m}{p_m}\right\}}(w_m) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_1^{q/q_1} \dots w_m^{q/q_m}),$$

with monotonically increasing dependence of the constant on $||w_1||_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}}$, and $[w_i]_{A_{q_i}}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$. If q > 1, then we can replace the space $L^{q_i,\min\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\}}(w_i)$ by $L^{q_i,1}(w_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Proof. Since p > 1, in virtue of Minkowski's integral inequality (see [79, Proposition 2.1] and [5, Theorem 4.4]), we have that for all weights $v_1 \in A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}$, $v_i \in A_{p_i}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$, and $v := v_1^{p/p_1} \ldots v_m^{p/p_m}$,

$$\|T_{\mu}(f_1,\ldots,f_m)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le p' \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \|T_1^{t_1}f_1\ldots T_m^{t_m}f_m\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d|\mu|(t_1,\ldots,t_m)|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d|\mu|(t_1,\ldots,t_m)|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le p' \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \|T_1^{t_1}f_1\ldots T_m^{t_m}f_m\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d|\mu| d|\mu|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d|\mu|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le p' \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \|T_1^{t_1}f_1\ldots T_m^{t_m}f_m\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d|\mu|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} d$$

and applying Proposition 7.6, we get that

$$\|T_{\mu}(f_1,\ldots,f_m)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le p'|\mu|(\mathbb{R}^m)\Phi([v_1]_{A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}},[v_2]_{A_{p_2}},\ldots)\prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v_i)}$$

where $\Phi : [1, \infty)^m \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function that increases in each variable. The desired result follows from Corollary 6.3, taking into account Remarks 5.9 and 5.15, and the standard extension argument in [9, Page 256] if q > 1.

Now, let us recall some classical definitions from [78, Chapter 8].

Definition 7.12. Given a function $f : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, we say that f is of bounded variation if

$$V(f) := \lim_{x \to \infty} \sup \sum_{j=1}^{N} |f(x_j) - f(x_{j-1})| \in \mathbb{R},$$

where the supremum is taken over all N and over all choices of x_0, \ldots, x_N such that $-\infty < x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_N = x < \infty$. We call V(f) the *total variation* of f. The class of all functions f of bounded variation will be denoted by $BV(\mathbb{R})$.

We say that a function $f \in BV(\mathbb{R})$ is normalized if $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x) = 0$. The class of these functions will be denoted by $NBV(\mathbb{R})$.

We say that a function $f : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is absolutely continuous if for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} (b_j - a_j) < \delta \quad \text{implies} \quad \sum_{j=1}^{N} |f(b_j) - f(a_j)| < \varepsilon,$$

whenever $(a_1, b_1), \ldots, (a_N, b_N)$ are disjoint segments. The class of all such functions will be denoted by $AC(\mathbb{R})$.

Let us focus our attention to [34, Corollary 3.8]. This result tells us that for a function $\mathfrak{m} \in NBV(\mathbb{R})$ that is right-continuous at every point of \mathbb{R} , we can write

(7.1)
$$\mathfrak{m}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} d\mathfrak{m}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(-\infty,\xi)}(t) d\mathfrak{m}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(t,\infty)}(\xi) d\mathfrak{m}(t), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R},$$

where $d\mathfrak{m}$ denotes the Lebesgue-Stieltjes measure associated with \mathfrak{m} . Therefore, the linear multiplier operator $T_{\mathfrak{m}}$ given by

$$\widehat{T_{\mathfrak{m}}f}(\xi) := \mathfrak{m}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(t,\infty)}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)d\mathfrak{m}(t), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R},$$

initially defined for Schwartz functions f on \mathbb{R} , can be written as

$$T_{\mathfrak{m}}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} S_{t,\infty}f(x)d\mathfrak{m}(t), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

where

$$S_{t,\infty}f(x) := \frac{1}{2}f(x) + \frac{i}{2}e^{2\pi i tx}H(e^{-2\pi i t \cdot t}f)(x) =: \frac{1}{2}f(x) + \frac{i}{2}e^{2\pi i tx}H_tf(x).$$

As usual, H denotes the *Hilbert transform* on \mathbb{R} , defined as

$$Hf(x) := \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R} : |x-y| > \varepsilon\}} \frac{f(y)}{x-y} dy, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

and for a Schwartz function $f : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, we denote by \hat{f} its Fourier transform, given by

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(y) e^{-2\pi i y \xi} dy, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Since for $1 , <math>H : L^p(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R})$ with constant bounded by c_p , in virtue of Minkowski's integral inequality we conclude that

$$\|T_{\mathfrak{m}}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|S_{t,\infty}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})} d|\mathfrak{m}|(t) \leq \frac{1+c_{p}}{2} V(\mathfrak{m})\|f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})},$$

and \mathfrak{m} is an L^p Fourier multiplier for every 1 .

Inspired by this result, let us take a measure μ on \mathbb{R}^m such that $|\mu|(\mathbb{R}^m) < \infty$, and define the function

(7.2)

$$\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{m}) := \int_{\{(r_{1},\ldots,r_{m})\in\mathbb{R}^{m}:r_{1}<\xi_{1},\ldots,r_{m}<\xi_{m}\}} d\mu(r_{1},\ldots,r_{m})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m} \chi_{(-\infty,\xi_{j})}(r_{j})\right) d\mu(r_{1},\ldots,r_{m})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m} \chi_{(r_{j},\infty)}(\xi_{j})\right) d\mu(r_{1},\ldots,r_{m}),$$

for $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_m \in \mathbb{R}$. It is clear that $\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)} \leq |\mu|(\mathbb{R}^m) < \infty$, so it makes sense to consider the *m*-linear multiplier operator

$$T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}(\vec{f})(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{m}_{\mu}(\vec{\xi}) \widehat{f}_{1}(\xi_{1}) \dots \widehat{f}_{m}(\xi_{m}) e^{2\pi i x (\xi_{1} + \dots + \xi_{m})} d\xi_{1} \dots d\xi_{m}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

initially defined for Schwartz functions f_1, \ldots, f_m .

Arguing as we did in the linear case, and applying Fubini's theorem, we have that

$$T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}(\vec{f})(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(r_j,\infty)}(\xi_j) \widehat{f_j}(\xi_j) e^{2\pi i x \xi_j} d\xi_j \right) d\mu(r_1,\dots,r_m)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m S_{r_j,\infty} f_j(x) \right) d\mu(r_1,\dots,r_m),$$

so $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}$ is, in fact, an *m*-variable averaging operator, and we can follow the approach of Theorem 7.11 to prove weighted bounds for it, exploiting known restricted weaktype bounds for the Hilbert transform, as we show in the next theorem, which generalizes and extends [4, Corollary 1.4] and [4, Corollary 1.6], being this last result primarily based on Corollary 3.3.14, Proposition 3.4.1, and Theorem 3.4.7 in [75].

Theorem 7.13. Given exponents $1 \leq q_1 < \infty$, $1 < q_2, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, and $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and weights $w_1 \in \widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}$, $w_i \in A_{q_i}$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$, and $w = w_1^{q/q_1} \ldots w_m^{q/q_m}$,

(7.3)
$$T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}: L^{q_{1},1}(w_{1}) \times \prod_{i=2}^{m} L^{q_{i},\min\left\{1,\frac{q_{i}}{p_{i}}\right\}}(w_{i}) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(w_{1}^{q/q_{1}}\dots w_{m}^{q/q_{m}})$$

for all exponents $1 < p_2, \ldots, p_m < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{p_2} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} < 1$, with constant bounded by $\Phi(||w_1||_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}}, [w_2]_{A_{q_2}}, \ldots)$, where $\Phi : [1,\infty)^m \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. If q > 1, then we can replace the space $L^{q_i,\min\left\{1,\frac{q_i}{p_i}\right\}}(w_i)$ by $L^{q_i,1}(w_i)$, $i = 2, \ldots, m$. Moreover, for all exponents $1 \le q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and every weight $u \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \widehat{A}_{q_i,\infty}$, (7.4) $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}} : L^{q_1,1}(u) \times \cdots \times L^{q_m,1}(u) \longrightarrow L^{q,\infty}(u)$,

with constant bounded by $\widetilde{\Phi}(\|u\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_1,\infty}},\ldots,\|u\|_{\widehat{A}_{q_m,\infty}})$, where $\widetilde{\Phi}:[1,\infty)^m \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable.

Proof. It follows from [74, Theorem 10] and [59, Theorem 1.1] that for every $p \ge 1$, and every weight $v \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, $H: L^{p,1}(v) \longrightarrow L^{p,\infty}(v)$, with constant bounded by

$$\phi([v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}) := \begin{cases} c_p[v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p+1}, & p > 1, \\ c[v]_{A_1}(1 + \log[v]_{A_1}), & p = 1, \end{cases}$$

so for every $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, and every $h \in L^{p,1}(v)$,

$$\|S_{\sigma,\infty}h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le \|h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} + \|H_{\sigma}h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \le \left(\frac{1}{p} + \phi([v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}})\right) \|h\|_{L^{p,1}(v)}.$$

Choosing exponents $1 < p_2, \ldots, p_m < \infty$ such that $\frac{1}{p_2} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m} < 1$, and $0 < \frac{1}{p_1} < 1 - \sum_{i=2}^m \frac{1}{p_i}$, and applying Theorem 7.11, we get that for all weights $u_1 \in A_1, w_i \in A_{q_i}, i = 2, \ldots, m$, with $\frac{1}{q_0} := 1 + \frac{1}{q_2} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$,

(7.5)
$$T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}: L^{1,\frac{1}{p_{1}}}(u_{1}) \times \prod_{i=2}^{m} L^{q_{i},\min\left\{1,\frac{q_{i}}{p_{i}}\right\}}(w_{i}) \longrightarrow L^{q_{0},\infty}(u_{1}^{q_{0}}w_{2}^{q_{0}/q_{2}}\dots w_{m}^{q_{0}/q_{m}}),$$

with suitable control of the constant.

It was proved in [4] that $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}$ can be approximated by some iterative (ε, δ) -atomic operators $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{k_1,\ldots,k_m}}$ associated to the multipliers $\mathfrak{m}_{k_1,\ldots,k_m}(\vec{\xi}) := \mathfrak{m}_{\mu}(\vec{\xi})e^{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}\frac{\xi_j^2}{k_j}}$, and these also satisfy (7.5) uniformly on $k_1,\ldots,k_m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, so in virtue of Fatou's lemma and Theorem 2.3, we can replace the space $L^{1,\frac{1}{p_1}}(u_1)$ by $L^1(u_1)$ in (7.5), and extrapolating the first variable with Corollary 6.3, we establish (7.3), taking into account the standard extension argument in [9, Page 256] if q > 1.

Finally, (7.4) follows immediately from the one-weight weak-type $(1, \ldots, 1, \frac{1}{m})$ bounds for $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}$ in [4, Corollary 1.4] and our extrapolation scheme in Corollary 6.6. **Remark 7.14.** For simplicity, fix m = 2. Observe that for $1 \leq p_1, p_2 < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} < 1$, $v_1 \in A_{p_1}^{\mathcal{R}}$, $v_2 \in A_{p_2}^{\mathcal{R}}$, and $v = v_1^{p/p_1} v_2^{p/p_2}$, and in virtue of [75, Lemma 2.2.1], we get that for $\sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\begin{aligned} &\|(S_{\sigma,\infty}f)(S_{\tau,\infty}g)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \\ &\leq \|fg\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} + \|fH_{\tau}g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} + \|gH_{\sigma}f\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} + \|(H_{\sigma}f)(H_{\tau}g)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)} \\ &\leq \varphi([v_{1}]_{A_{p_{1}}^{\mathcal{R}}}, [v_{2}]_{A_{p_{2}}^{\mathcal{R}}})\|f\|_{L^{p_{1},1}(v_{1})}\|g\|_{L^{p_{2},1}(v_{2})} + \|(H_{\sigma}f)(H_{\tau}g)\|_{L^{p,\infty}(v)}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\varphi : [1, \infty)^2 \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable and independent of σ and τ . Hence, if we could prove restricted weak-type bounds for the point-wise product of Hilbert transforms, we would be able to transfer them to the operator $T_{\mathfrak{m}_{\mu}}$ using our extrapolation results, arguing as in the proof of Theorem 7.13.

If we take right-continuous functions $\mathfrak{m}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{m}_m \in NBV(\mathbb{R})$, we can easily construct a function like (7.2) by merely considering their product, since by (7.1),

$$(\mathfrak{m}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathfrak{m}_m)(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_m) := \mathfrak{m}_1(\xi_1) \dots \mathfrak{m}_m(\xi_m)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m \chi_{(r_j, \infty)}(\xi_j) \right) d\mathfrak{m}_1(r_1) \dots d\mathfrak{m}_m(r_m),$$

and

$$\|\mathfrak{m}_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\mathfrak{m}_m\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)}\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}}\cdots\int_{\mathbb{R}}d|\mathfrak{m}_1|(r_1)\ldots d|\mathfrak{m}_m|(r_m)=V(\mathfrak{m}_1)\ldots V(\mathfrak{m}_m)<\infty.$$

The following result, which is a combination of Theorems 8.17 and 8.18 in [78], will allow us to construct another simple yet more elaborate example of a function like (7.2), along with many examples of functions in $NBV(\mathbb{R})$.

Theorem 7.15. If $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, and for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$f(x) := \int_{-\infty}^{x} \psi(r) dr,$$

then $f \in NBV(\mathbb{R}) \cap AC(\mathbb{R})$, and $f' = \psi$ almost everywhere. Conversely, if $f \in NBV(\mathbb{R}) \cap AC(\mathbb{R})$, then f is differentiable almost everywhere, $f' \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, and for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$f(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} f'(r) dr.$$

An immediate consequence of Theorem 7.15 is the next lemma.

Lemma 7.16. For a function $\mathfrak{m} \in NBV(\mathbb{R}) \cap AC(\mathbb{R})$, and for all $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_m \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\mathfrak{m}_*(\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m) := \mathfrak{m}(\min\{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m\}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m \chi_{(r,\infty)}(\xi_j)\right) \mathfrak{m}'(r) dr,$$

with $\|\mathfrak{m}_*\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)} \leq \|\mathfrak{m}'\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} < \infty$.

Proof. By Theorem 7.15, we have that

$$\mathfrak{m}(\min\{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m\}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\min\{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m\}} \mathfrak{m}'(r)dr$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m \chi_{(-\infty,\xi_j)}(r) \right) \mathfrak{m}'(r)dr = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^m \chi_{(r,\infty)}(\xi_j) \right) \mathfrak{m}'(r)dr.$$
$$\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$$

50

The function \mathfrak{m}_* is an example of a function like (7.2) with the measure μ restricted to \mathbb{R} . More generally, we can take a subset $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$, and a measure ν on E such that $|\nu|(E) < \infty$, and consider the function

(7.6)
$$\mathfrak{m}_{\nu,E}(\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m) := \nu(E \cap R_{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m}), \quad \|\mathfrak{m}_{\nu,E}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)} \le |\nu|(E) < \infty$$

with $R_{\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m} := \{(r_1,\ldots,r_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m : r_1 < \xi_1,\ldots,r_m < \xi_m\}$. This example was suggested to us by M. J. Carro. See Figure 3 for a pictorial representation of it.



FIGURE 3. Pictorial representation of the function in (7.6) for m = 2.

In the particular case when $E = (0, 1)^m$, the unit *m*-cube, and ν is the Lebesgue measure on E, we obtain that

$$\mathfrak{m}_{\nu,E}(\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_m) = \prod_{j=1}^m \min\{1,\xi_j\}\chi_{\{r\in\mathbb{R}\,:\,r>0\}}(\xi_j).$$

We get a more elaborate example if we consider the unit half-ball,

$$E = \{ (x_1, \dots, x_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m : x_m \ge 0, x_1^2 + \dots + x_m^2 \le 1 \},\$$

and ν the Lebesgue measure on E (see [75, Page 112]).

8. To $A_{\vec{P}}$ and beyond

In this section, we adapt our techniques to establish multi-variable weak-type extrapolation theorems for tuples of measures analogous to the ones presented in [61, 62, 70], omitting classical constructions of weights involving Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm. We will deduce our extrapolation schemes from one-variable off-diagonal results obtained with an approach that differs fundamentally from [62, Theorem 3.1] and [35, Theorem 5.1].

This time, the underlying measure won't be the Lebesgue measure as before, but a more general doubling measure μ . Sometimes, we will invoke statements that appear in the literature for the Lebesgue measure but are also valid for μ , with almost identical proofs, and apply them in the form that suits our needs without prior notice.

8.1. Weighted weights.

Before proceeding, let us push our understanding of $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ further. The following is a restricted weak-type version of [27, Lemma 2.1].

Lemma 8.1. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$, and $u \in A_1$. If $v \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(u)$, then $uv \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, with $[uv]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq [u]_{A_1}[v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(u)}.$

Proof. This result follows directly from the definitions of $[uv]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}$ and $[v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(u)}$, since for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\frac{1}{|Q|} \left(\int_Q uv \right)^{1/p} \le \frac{[u]_{A_1}}{u(Q)} \left(\int_Q vdu \right)^{1/p} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x \in Q} u(x),$$

and

$$\|\chi_Q u^{-1} v^{-1}\|_{L^{p',\infty}(uv)} \operatorname{essinf}_{x \in Q} u(x) \le \|\chi_Q v^{-1}\|_{L^{p',\infty}(vdu)}.$$

 $\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$

Remark 8.2. We showed in [74, Lemma 2] that if $u \in A_{\infty}$, then $uv \in A_{\infty}$ if, and only if $v \in A_{\infty}(u)$, so it would be interesting to study a version of Lemma 8.1 relating $[u]_{A_q^{\mathcal{R}}}, [v]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(u)}$, and $[uv]_{A_r^{\mathcal{R}}}$ for suitable exponents $1 \leq p, q, r < \infty$ other than those above.

The next result is an extension of [18, Lemma 2.12], and the proof is similar.

Lemma 8.3. Let μ be a positive, locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$, and fix $0 < \delta < 1$. For a μ -measurable function $0 \neq h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mu)$ such that $M_{\mu}h < \infty \mu$ -a.e., and $w \in A_1(\mu)$, let $v = (M_{\mu}h)^{1-\delta}w^{\delta}$. Then, $v \in A_1(\mu)$, and

(8.1)
$$[v]_{A_1(\mu)} \le \frac{\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu}}{\delta} [w]_{A_1(\mu)}$$

where $\kappa > 1$ is a universal constant. In particular, if $d\mu(y) = u(y)dy$ and $u \in A_1$, then $(uM_uh)^{1-\delta}(uw)^{\delta} \in A_1$, with constant independent of h.

Proof. In virtue of [50, Theorem 1.1], taking

$$D_{\mu} := \log_2 C_{\mu}, \quad \text{and} \quad r := 1 + \frac{1}{6 \cdot 800^{D_{\mu}} [w]_{A_1(\mu)}},$$

we have that $w^r \in A_1(\mu)$, with

$$[w^{r}]_{A_{1}(\mu)} \leq (2 \cdot 4^{D_{\mu}}[w]_{A_{1}(\mu)})^{r} \leq 4e^{1/e} 16^{D_{\mu}}[w]_{A_{1}(\mu)}.$$

For $p := \frac{r}{\delta} > 1, \ 0 < p'(1-\delta) < 1$, and from [53, Proposition 2.10] and [50, (3.11)] (see also [43, Exercise 2.1.1]), we deduce that $(M_{\mu}h)^{p'(1-\delta)} \in A_1(\mu)$, with

(8.2)
$$[(M_{\mu}h)^{p'(1-\delta)}]_{A_1(\mu)} \le \frac{\kappa_0 C_{\mu}^{\kappa_0}}{1 - p'(1-\delta)}$$

where $\kappa_0 > 1$ is a universal constant; $\kappa_0 = 6$ works.

Applying Hölder's inequality with exponent p, we get that for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $0 < \mu(Q) < \infty$, and μ -a.e. $x \in Q$,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} v d\mu &\leq \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w^{r} d\mu\right)^{1/p} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} (M_{\mu}h)^{p'(1-\delta)} d\mu\right)^{1/p'} \\ &\leq (4e^{1/e} 16^{D_{\mu}} [w]_{A_{1}(\mu)})^{1/p} w(x)^{\delta} \left(\frac{\kappa_{0} C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}}}{1 - p'(1-\delta)}\right)^{1/p'} M_{\mu}h(x)^{1-\delta} \\ &\leq 28e^{1/e} \kappa_{0} \frac{C_{\mu}^{14+\kappa_{0}}}{\delta} [w]_{A_{1}(\mu)} v(x), \end{aligned}$$

and (8.1) holds for $\kappa = 28e^{1/e}\kappa_0$.

52

Finally, for $u \in A_1$, it follows from (8.1), Lemma 8.1, and [43, Proposition 7.1.5] that $uv \in A_1$, with

$$[(uM_uh)^{1-\delta}(uw)^{\delta}]_{A_1} \le \frac{2^{n\kappa}\kappa}{\delta} [u]_{A_1}^{\kappa+1}[w]_{A_1(u)}.$$

We present a novel generalization of Theorem 2.7 and Corollary 2.8 in [16], following a different approach.

Lemma 8.4. Let μ be a positive, locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$, and fix $1 . For a <math>\mu$ -measurable function $0 \neq h \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mu)$ such that $M_{\mu}h < \infty \mu$ -a.e., and $v \in A_1(\mu)$, let $w = (M_{\mu}h)^{1-p}v$. Then, $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)$, and

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)} \le (\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{1/p'} [v]_{A_1(\mu)}^{1/p},$$

where $\kappa > 1$ is a universal constant. In particular, if $d\mu(y) = u(y)dy$ and $u \in A_1$, then $(M_uh)^{1-p}uv \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, with constant independent of h.

Proof. We first discuss the case v = 1; that is, $w = (M_{\mu}h)^{1-p}$, by adapting an unpublished argument for $d\mu(y) = dy$ by C. Pérez ([73]).

From the definition of $[w]_{A_n^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)}$ and an elementary estimate, we get that

$$[w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)}^{p} = \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \frac{\|\chi_{Q}(M_{\mu}h)^{p-1}\|_{L^{p',\infty}(wd\mu)}^{p}}{\mu(Q)^{p-1}}$$

$$= \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\frac{\|\chi_{Q}M_{\mu}h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(wd\mu)}^{p}}{\mu(Q)} \right)^{p-1}$$

$$= \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\sup_{t>0} \frac{t^{p}}{\mu(Q)} \int_{\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}h(x) > t\}} (M_{\mu}h)^{1-p} d\mu \right)^{p-1}$$

$$\leq \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\sup_{t>0} \frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}h(x) > t\})}{\mu(Q)} \right)^{p-1}.$$

It is well-known (see [42, Page 160]) that for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $0 < \mu(Q) < \infty$, and μ -a.e. $x \in Q$,

$$M_{\mu}(h\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n\backslash 3Q})(x) \le C^2_{\mu}\,\mu\text{-}\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in Q}\,M_{\mu}(h\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n\backslash 3Q})(y) =: J_{\mu,Q},$$

so $M_{\mu}h(x) \leq M_{\mu}(h\chi_{3Q})(x) + J_{\mu,Q}$. Hence, for t > 0,

(8.4)
$$\frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}h(x) > t\})}{\mu(Q)} \leq \frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}(h\chi_{3Q})(x) + J_{\mu,Q} > t\})}{\mu(Q)}$$
$$\leq \frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : J_{\mu,Q} > \frac{t}{2}\})}{\mu(Q)} + \frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}(h\chi_{3Q})(x) > \frac{t}{2}\})}{\mu(Q)} =: I + II.$$

Now,

(8.5)
$$I \le 2J_{\mu,Q} \le 2C_{\mu}^2 \,\mu\text{-} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} M_{\mu}h(y),$$

and

(8.6)
$$II \leq \frac{t\mu\left(\left\{M_{\mu}(h\chi_{3Q}) > \frac{t}{2}\right\}\right)}{\mu(Q)} \leq \frac{2}{\mu(Q)} \|M_{\mu}(h\chi_{3Q})\|_{L^{1,\infty}(\mu)}$$
$$\leq \frac{\kappa_{0}C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}}}{\mu(Q)} \int_{3Q} |h|d\mu \leq \frac{\kappa_{0}C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2}}{\mu(3Q)} \int_{3Q} |h|d\mu \leq \kappa_{0}C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2}\mu - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in Q} M_{\mu}h(y),$$

with $\kappa_0 \geq 2$ universal. Note that in the third inequality of (8.6), we have used the weak-type (1, 1) bound for M_{μ} in [43, Exercise 2.1.1].

Combining (8.3), (8.4), (8.5), and (8.6), we obtain that

$$[w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)}^{p} \leq \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} (M_{\mu}h)^{1-p} d\mu \right) \left(2\kappa_{0} C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2} \mu \operatorname{-} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} M_{\mu}h(y) \right)^{p-1} \\ \leq (2\kappa_{0} C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2})^{p-1}.$$

For the general case; that is, $w = (M_{\mu}h)^{1-p}v$, with $v \in A_1(\mu)$, note that

$$\mu - \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{y \in Q} v(y)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} \le \left(\mu - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} v(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} \le \left([v]_{A_1(\mu)} \frac{\mu(Q)}{\int_Q v d\mu} \right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} =: K^{-1},$$

so for t > 0,

$$\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}h(x)v(x)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} > t\}) \le \mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu}h(x) > Kt\}),$$

and we can reuse (8.4), (8.5), and (8.6) to conclude that $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)$, with

$$\begin{split} [w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)}^{p} &= \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\frac{\|\chi_{Q} v^{\frac{1}{1-p}} M_{\mu} h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(wd\mu)}^{p}}{\mu(Q)} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\sup_{t>0} \frac{t\mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu} h(x) v(x)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} > t\})}{\mu(Q)} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu \right) \left(\sup_{\tau>0} \frac{K^{-1} \tau \mu(\{x \in Q : M_{\mu} h(x) > \tau\})}{\mu(Q)} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq [v]_{A_{1}(\mu)} \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\int_{Q} v d\mu} \int_{Q} (M_{\mu} h)^{1-p} v d\mu \right) \left(2\kappa_{0} C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2} \mu - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} M_{\mu} h(y) \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq (2\kappa_{0} C_{\mu}^{\kappa_{0}+2})^{p-1} [v]_{A_{1}(\mu)}. \end{split}$$

Finally, if $d\mu(y) = u(y)dy$ and $u \in A_1$, it follows from Lemma 8.1 that $uw \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, with

$$[(M_u h)^{1-p} uv]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le (\mathfrak{c}_n^{\kappa_0} [u]_{A_1}^{\kappa_0+2})^{1/p'} [u]_{A_1} [v]_{A_1(u)}^{1/p}.$$

Remark 8.5. It is worth mentioning that for u, v, and h as above, and $0 < \delta < 1$, $(M_u h)^{\delta(1-p)} uv \in A_p, 1 \le p < \infty$. Indeed, in virtue of the argument we used in (8.2), [24, Theorem 4.2], and [27, Lemma 2.1],

$$[(M_u h)^{\delta(1-p)} uv]_{A_p} \le \left(\frac{\mathfrak{c}_n^{\kappa}[u]_{A_1}^{\kappa}}{1-\delta}\right)^{p-1} [u]_{A_1}^p[v]_{A_1(u)},$$

with $\kappa > 1$ universal.

Here, there is another new extension of Theorem 2.7 and Corollary 2.8 in [16].

Lemma 8.6. Let $u \in A_1$, and fix $1 . For a function <math>0 \neq h \in L^1_{loc}(u)$ such that $M_uh < \infty$ a.e., and $v \in A_1$, let $w = (uM_uh)^{1-p}v$. Then, $w \in A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$, and

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}} \le \phi_n([u]_{A_1})^{1/p'} [v]_{A_1}^{1/p},$$

where $\phi_n : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function depending only on the dimension n.

Proof. As in the proof of Lemma 8.4, we first discuss the case $w = (uM_uh)^{1-p}$ by adapting the argument for u = 1 by C. Pérez ([73]). We have that

We know from [42, Page 160] and [43, Proposition 7.1.5] that, for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, and a.e. $x \in Q$,

$$M_u(h\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus 3Q})(x) \le 3^n [u]_{A_1} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in Q} M_u(h\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus 3Q})(y) =: J_{u,Q},$$

so $M_u h(x) \leq M_u(h\chi_{3Q})(x) + J_{u,Q}$. Hence, for t > 0,

(8.8)

$$\frac{t|\{x \in Q : u(x)M_uh(x) > t\}|}{|Q|} \le \frac{t|\{x \in Q : u(x)J_{u,Q} > \frac{t}{2}\}|}{|Q|} + \frac{t|\{x \in Q : u(x)M_u(h\chi_{3Q})(x) > \frac{t}{2}\}|}{|Q|} =: I + II.$$

For the first term, we get that

$$(8.9) \quad I = \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{\{x \in Q : u(x)J_{u,Q} > \frac{t}{2}\}} t \leq \frac{2J_{u,Q}}{|Q|} \int_{\{x \in Q : u(x)J_{u,Q} > \frac{t}{2}\}} u \leq 2J_{u,Q} \oint_{Q} u$$
$$\leq 2 \cdot 3^{n} [u]_{A_{1}}^{2} (\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y)) (\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} M_{u}h(y)) \leq 2 \cdot 3^{n} [u]_{A_{1}}^{2} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y) M_{u}h(y).$$

For the second term, we apply the Sawyer-type inequality in [74, Theorem 1] (see also [27, Theorem 1.3]) to obtain that

$$II \leq \frac{t}{|Q|} \left| \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \frac{M_{u}(h\chi_{3Q})(x)}{u(x)^{-1}} > \frac{t}{2} \right\} \right| \leq \frac{2}{|Q|} \left\| \frac{M_{u}(h\chi_{3Q})}{u^{-1}} \right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

$$(8.10) \qquad \leq \frac{\mathscr{E}_{1,1}^{n}([u]_{A_{1}})}{|Q|} \int_{3Q} |h| u \leq 3^{n} \mathscr{E}_{1,1}^{n}([u]_{A_{1}})[u]_{A_{1}} \frac{u(Q)}{|Q|} \cdot \frac{1}{u(3Q)} \int_{3Q} |h| u$$

$$\leq 3^{n} \mathscr{E}_{1,1}^{n}([u]_{A_{1}})[u]_{A_{1}}^{2} \left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y) \right) \left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} M_{u}h(y) \right)$$

$$\leq 3^{n} \mathscr{E}_{1,1}^{n}([u]_{A_{1}})[u]_{A_{1}}^{2} \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y) M_{u}h(y),$$

where $\mathscr{E}_{1,1}^n: [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is an increasing function that depends only on n.

Combining (8.7), (8.8), (8.9), and (8.10), we deduce that

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}}^p \leq \sup_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} (uM_uh)^{1-p} \right) \left(3^n (\mathscr{E}_{1,1}^n([u]_{A_1}) + 2)[u]_{A_1}^2 \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y)M_uh(y) \right)^{p-1} \\ \leq \left(3^n (\mathscr{E}_{1,1}^n([u]_{A_1}) + 2)[u]_{A_1}^2 \right)^{p-1}.$$

Now, for $v \in A_1$, $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{y \in Q} v(y)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} \le \left([v]_{A_1} \frac{|Q|}{v(Q)} \right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} =: K^{-1}$, and for t > 0,

$$|\{x \in Q : u(x)M_uh(x)v(x)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} > t\}| \le |\{x \in Q : u(x)M_uh(x) > Kt\}|.$$

Thus, if $w = (uM_uh)^{1-p}v$, then by (8.8), (8.9), and (8.10),

$$\begin{split} [w]_{A_{p}^{\mathcal{R}}}^{p} &= \sup_{Q} \left(\int_{Q} w \right) \left(\frac{\|\chi_{Q} v^{\frac{1}{1-p}} u M_{u} h\|_{L^{p,\infty}(w)}^{p}}{|Q|} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \sup_{Q} \left(\int_{Q} w \right) \left(\sup_{t>0} \frac{t |\{x \in Q : u(x) M_{u} h(x) v(x)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} > t\}|}{|Q|} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \sup_{Q} \left(\int_{Q} w \right) \left(\sup_{\tau>0} \frac{K^{-1} \tau |\{x \in Q : u(x) M_{u} h(x) > \tau\}|}{|Q|} \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \phi_{n}([u]_{A_{1}})^{p-1} [v]_{A_{1}} \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{v(Q)} \int_{Q} (u M_{u} h)^{1-p} v \right) \left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} u(y) M_{u} h(y) \right)^{p-1} \\ &\leq \phi_{n}([u]_{A_{1}})^{p-1} [v]_{A_{1}}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\phi_n(\xi) = 3^n (\mathscr{E}_{1,1}^n(\xi) + 2)\xi^2, \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

Remark 8.7. As in Remark 8.5, for u, v, and h as in Lemma 8.6, and $0 < \delta < 1$, $(u(M_uh)^{\delta})^{1-p}v \in A_p, 1 \le p < \infty$, with

$$[(u(M_uh)^{\delta})^{1-p}v]_{A_p} \le \left(\frac{\mathfrak{c}_n^{\kappa}[u]_{A_1}^{\kappa+1}}{1-\delta}\right)^{p-1} [v]_{A_1},$$

and $\kappa > 1$ universal.

It is clear that a factorization of $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}$ has to cover a plethora of unusual weights, and once again, we have to ponder the following question: is \widehat{A}_p enough?

Let us point out that the argument we used in the proof of Lemma 8.4 gives us that for p > 1, and $w \in \widehat{A}_p(\mu)$,

$$[w]_{A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)} \le \sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(Q)} \int_{Q} w d\mu\right)^{1/p} \left(\frac{\|\chi_Q w^{1-p'}\|_{L^{1,\infty}(\mu)}}{\mu(Q)}\right)^{1/p'} < \infty.$$

Does this last condition characterize $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)$?

8.2. One-variable extrapolation remastered.

We are now ready to develop weak-type analogs of [62, Theorem 3.1], starting with downwards extrapolation.

56

Theorem 8.8. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function such that for $\mu = \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, $\mu(x)dx$ is a locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponent $1 , and every positive, measurable function <math>\nu$ such that $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)$,

(8.11)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi([V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)}) \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} v^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every exponent $1 < q \leq p$, and every positive, measurable function w such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$,

(8.12)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le \Psi([W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}) \|f\|_{L^{q}(w)},$$

where $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function.

Proof. We will prove this statement adapting the proof of Theorem 5.7. If q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q < p. Pick w such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$. We may also assume that $||f||_{L^{q}(w)} < \infty$. Fix y > 0 and $\gamma > 0$. We have that

(8.13)
$$\lambda_g^W(y) = \int_{\{|g|>y\}} W \le \lambda_{\mathscr{Z}}^W(\gamma y) + \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \left(\frac{\gamma y}{\mathscr{Z}}\right)^{p_\alpha - q_\alpha} W =: I + II,$$

where

(8.14)

$$\mathscr{Z} := \left(\frac{v^{p_{\alpha}/p}\nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}}{W}\right)^{\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}-p_{\alpha}}} \quad \text{and} \quad v := \left(M_{\mu}(|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}}w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}\mu^{-1})\mu\right)^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{1+\alpha q}}w^{\frac{1+\alpha p}{1+\alpha q}}.$$

For the term I in (8.13), we obtain that

(8.15)
$$I \leq \frac{\|\mathscr{Z}\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)}^{q_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} = \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \left\| M_{\mu}(|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1}) \right\|_{L^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha},\infty}(W\mu^{-1}d\mu)}^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}} \leq \frac{10^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\log_{2}C_{\mu}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)} \|f\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{q},$$

where in the last inequality we have used the weak-type bound for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M_{μ} in [50, (3.11)].

For the term II in (8.13), we argue as follows: since $W\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$, we can find functions $\varpi_0, \varpi_1 \in A_1(\mu)$ such that $W\mu^{-1} = \varpi_0^{\frac{1-q}{1+\alpha q}} \varpi_1$, with

$$[\varpi_0]_{A_1(\mu)} \le (\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu})^{(1+\alpha)q'} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{q-1}}, \ [\varpi_1]_{A_1(\mu)} \le (\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu})^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)},$$

and $\kappa > 1$ universal. The construction of such functions combines the argument in the proof of [72, Lemma 3.18] and the Buckley-type bounds for M_{μ} in [50, Theorem 1.3]. In virtue of Lemma 8.3 and [24, Theorem 4.2], if we write

$$V\mu^{-1} = M_{\mu} (|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1})^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{(1+\alpha p)(1+\alpha q)}} W\mu^{-1}$$
$$= \left(M_{\mu} (|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1})^{\frac{(p-q)(1+\alpha)}{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}} \varpi_{0}^{\frac{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}} \right)^{\frac{1-p}{1+\alpha p}} \varpi_{1},$$

then we see that $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)$, with

$$\begin{split} [V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)} &\leq \left(\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa} \frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)} [\varpi_{0}]_{A_{1}(\mu)}\right)^{\frac{p-1}{1+\alpha p}} [\varpi_{1}]_{A_{1}(\mu)} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{C}_{0} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{1+\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathfrak{C}_{0} := (\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}} \left((\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{1+(1+\alpha)q'} \frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)} \right)^{\frac{p-1}{1+\alpha p}},$$

n-1

 $\triangleright \triangleright \triangleright$

so by (8.11), we get that (8.16)

$$II \leq \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(v^{p_{\alpha}/p_{\nu},\alpha p_{\alpha}})}^{p_{\alpha}} \leq \frac{\gamma^{p_{\alpha}}}{(\gamma y)^{q_{\alpha}}} \psi(\mathfrak{C}_{0}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{1+\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}})^{p_{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{p}(v)}^{p_{\alpha}},$$

and

(8.17)

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f|^{p} \left(M_{\mu}(|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1})\mu\right)^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{1+\alpha q}} w^{\frac{1+\alpha p}{1+\alpha q}}\right)^{1/p} \le \|f\|_{L^{q}(w)}^{q/p}.$$

Finally, if we argue as in the proof of Theorem 5.1, we can combine (8.13), (8.15), (8.16), and (8.17) to conclude that (8.12) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathfrak{C}_1 \xi^{\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}} \psi(\mathfrak{C}_0 \xi^{1 + \frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1,$$

where

$$\mathfrak{C}_1 := \left(\frac{p_\alpha}{p_\alpha - q_\alpha}\right)^{1/q_\alpha} \left(\frac{p_\alpha - q_\alpha}{q_\alpha}\right)^{1/p_\alpha} C_\mu^{4(1+\alpha)q_\alpha\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)}.$$

Remark 8.9. As in Remark 5.8, for q > 1, we can take

$$v := \left(\mathscr{R}_{\mu}(|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1})\mu\right)^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{1+\alpha q}} w^{\frac{1+\alpha p}{1+\alpha q}}$$

where for a measurable function $h \in L^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(W\mu^{-1}d\mu)$,

$$\mathscr{R}_{\mu}h := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M_{\mu}^{k}(|h|)}{2^{k} \|M_{\mu}\|_{L^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(W\mu^{-1}d\mu)}^{k}}$$

and rewrite the proof of Theorem 8.8 to conclude that (8.12) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = 2^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)} \mathfrak{C}\psi(\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_{0}\xi^{\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1,$$

where \mathfrak{C} is as in (5.29), and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_0 := (\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu}(1+\alpha)q')^{(1+\alpha)(p_{\alpha}-q_{\alpha})}$.

The proof of Theorem 8.8 extends to the case q = 1 almost verbatim, taking proper care of the terms with divisions by q - 1.

Theorem 8.10. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function such that for $\mu = \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, $\mu(x)dx$ is a locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponent $1 , and every positive, measurable function <math>\nu$ such that $V\mu^{-1} \in \widehat{A}_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi(\|V\mu^{-1}\|_{\widehat{A}_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)}) \|f\|_{L^{p,1}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p}v^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every positive, measurable function w such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A_1(\mu)$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha},\infty}(W)} \le p^{3-\frac{1}{p}-p} \mathfrak{C}_{1}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{1}(\mu)}^{1/p'} \psi([W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{1}(\mu)}^{\frac{1}{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}}) \|f\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p}}(w)}^{1/p'}$$

where $W = w^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}\mu$.

Remark 8.11. Note that for $\alpha = 0$ and $\nu = 1$, we recover [16, Theorem 2.11].

As usual, we will now focus on the upwards extrapolation.

Theorem 8.12. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function such that for $\mu = \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, $\mu(x)dx$ is a locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$. Given measurable functions f and g, suppose that for some exponent $1 \leq p < \infty$, and every positive, measurable function v such that $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)$,

(8.18)
$$\|g\|_{L^{p_{\alpha},\infty}(V)} \le \psi([V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)})\|f\|_{L^{p}(v)},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{p} + \alpha$, $V = v^{p_{\alpha}/p} \nu^{\alpha p_{\alpha}}$, and $\psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for every finite exponent $q \ge p$, and every positive, measurable function w such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$,

(8.19)
$$\|g\|_{L^{q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)} \leq \Psi([W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}) \|f\|_{L^{q,p}(w)},$$

where $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$, $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q} \nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$, and $\Psi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function.

Proof. We will adapt the proofs of Theorems 5.3 and 5.13. If q = p, then there is nothing to prove, so we may assume that q > p.

Pick w such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$. By duality, $w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q'}(\mu)$, with $[w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q'}(\mu)} = [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{q-1}}$, and it follows from [50, Theorem 1.2] that $w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)q'-\varepsilon}(\mu)$, with $\varepsilon := \frac{1+\alpha q}{\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu}(q-1)}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{-1}$, and $[w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q'-\varepsilon}(\mu)} \le 2^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{q-1}}C^{2(1+\alpha)q'}_{\mu}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{q-1}}$.

Note that $W \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $g_{\varrho} := |g|\chi_{B(0,\varrho)}$, with $\varrho \ge 1$, and y > 0 such that $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^W(y) \neq 0$. If we take $\beta := 1 + \alpha - \frac{\varepsilon}{q'}$, and

(8.20)
$$v := \begin{cases} M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q\beta}} W^{\frac{1}{q'\beta}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\beta}, & p = 1, \\ M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q(1+\alpha)}} W^{\frac{1}{q'(1+\alpha)}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{q-1}} w^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}}, & p > 1, \end{cases}$$

then we can write

$$V\mu^{-1} = \begin{cases} M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q\beta}} W^{\frac{1}{q'\beta}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{\beta}{1+\alpha}}, & p = 1, \\ M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q(1+\alpha)}} W^{\frac{1}{q'(1+\alpha)}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}} (W\mu^{-1})^{\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}, & p > 1. \end{cases}$$

Choose $\varpi_0, \varpi_1 \in A_1(\mu)$ such that $W\mu^{-1} = \varpi_0^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha q}} \varpi_1$, with $[\varpi_0]_{A_1(\mu)} \leq (\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{(1+\alpha)q'} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{q-1}}, \ [\varpi_1]_{A_1(\mu)} \leq (\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}} [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)},$ and $\kappa > 1$ universal. In virtue of Lemma 8.3 and [24, Theorem 4.2], we see that $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)$, with

$$[V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p_{\alpha}}(\mu)} \leq \mathfrak{C}_{0}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}^{1+\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}},$$

and

$$\mathfrak{C}_{0} := \begin{cases} \kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa} (1+\alpha) q_{\alpha}, & p = 1, \\ \\ \\ (\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{1+(1+\alpha)\left(q_{\alpha} + \frac{q'(p-1)}{1+\alpha p}\right)} \frac{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}, & p > 1. \end{cases}$$

Observe that $V \ge W\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}}$, and we can apply (8.18) to control $\lambda_{g_{\varrho}}^{W}(y)$, as we did in (5.16). Now, for p > 1,

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le w(\{|f| > t\})^{p/q} \left\| \frac{M_{\mu}(w^{\frac{1}{q(1+\alpha)}}W^{\frac{1}{q'(1+\alpha)}}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})}{w^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}} \right\|_{L^{(1+\alpha)q'(w)}}^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{q-1}},$$

and for p = 1,

$$v(\{|f|>t\}) \le w(\{|f|>t\})^{1/q} \left\| \frac{M_{\mu}(w^{\frac{1}{q\beta}}W^{\frac{1}{q'\beta}}\chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}|>y\}})}{w^{1/\beta}} \right\|_{L^{\beta q'}(w)}^{\beta}.$$

By the Buckley-type bounds for M_{μ} in [50, Theorem 1.3],

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q(1+\alpha)}} W^{\frac{1}{q'(1+\alpha)}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}) \right\|_{L^{(1+\alpha)q'} (w^{\frac{1}{1-q}} \mu^{-1} d\mu)} &\leq \kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa} (1+\alpha) q_{\alpha} [W \mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)} \\ & \times W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{\frac{1}{(1+\alpha)q'}}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q\beta}} W^{\frac{1}{q'\beta}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}}) \right\|_{L^{\beta q'} (w^{\frac{1}{1-q}} \mu^{-1} d\mu)} &\leq \kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa} (\beta q')' [w^{\frac{1}{1-q}} \mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q'-\varepsilon}(\mu)}^{\frac{1}{\beta q'-1}} \\ &\times W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{\frac{1}{\beta q'}}. \end{split}$$

Note that $\frac{1}{q'} < \beta < 1 + \alpha$, and

$$\frac{1}{\beta q'-1} = \frac{q-1}{1+\alpha q} \cdot \frac{\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}}{\kappa C^{\kappa}_{\mu}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)} - 1} \le \frac{(q-1)\kappa'}{1+\alpha q}.$$

Moreover,

$$\frac{\beta q'}{\beta q'-1} = \frac{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)} - 1}{\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa}[W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)} - 1} \le \frac{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\kappa - 1}{\kappa - 1},$$

so $(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha} \leq (\beta q')' \leq (1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\kappa'$.

Combining the previous estimates, we get that

$$v(\{|f| > t\}) \le \phi([W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)})W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{1-\frac{p}{q}}w(\{|f| > t\})^{p/q},$$

and

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(v)} \leq \left(\frac{p}{q}\phi([W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)})\right)^{1/p} W(\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\})^{\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}} \|f\|_{L^{q,p}(w)},$$

60

with

Finally, if we follow the proof of Theorem 5.3 performing the previous changes, we conclude that (8.19) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \left(\frac{p}{q}\phi(\xi)\right)^{1/p}\psi(\mathfrak{C}_0\xi^{1+\frac{(p-1)(1+\alpha q)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

Remark 8.13. As in Remark 5.14, if $1 \le p < q < \infty$, then we can take

$$v := \mathscr{R}'_{\mu} (w^{\frac{1}{q(1+\alpha)}} W^{\frac{1}{q'(1+\alpha)}} \chi_{\{|g_{\varrho}| > y\}})^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{q-1}} w^{\frac{p-1}{q-1}},$$

where for a measurable function $h \in L^{(1+\alpha)q'}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1}d\mu),$

$$\mathscr{R}'_{\mu}h := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{M^{k}_{\mu}(|h|)}{2^{k} \|M_{\mu}\|^{k}_{L^{(1+\alpha)q'}(w^{\frac{1}{1-q}}\mu^{-1}d\mu)}}$$

and argue as before to conclude that (8.19) holds, with

$$\Psi(\xi) = \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{1/p} 2^{(1+\alpha)q'\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} \psi(((1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}\kappa C_{\mu}^{\kappa})^{\frac{(q-p)(1+\alpha)}{(q-1)(1+\alpha p)}}\xi), \quad \xi \ge 1.$$

At this point, we suspect that, to deduce restricted weak-type analogs of Theorems 8.8 and 8.12, we should examine the following conjecture and a convenient dual version yet to be determined.

Conjecture 8.14. Fix $0 \leq \alpha < \infty$, and let ν be a positive, measurable function such that for $\mu = \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, $\mu(x)dx$ is a locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $1 \leq C_{\mu} < \infty$. Fix an exponent $q \geq 1$, and write $\frac{1}{q_{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{q} + \alpha$. Let w be a positive, measurable function such that $W\mu^{-1} \in A^{\mathcal{R}}_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)$, where $W = w^{q_{\alpha}/q}\nu^{\alpha q_{\alpha}}$. Then, there exists a function $\phi : [1, \infty)^2 \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$, increasing in each variable, such that for every measurable function f,

$$\left\| M_{\mu}(|f|^{\frac{1+\alpha q}{1+\alpha}} w^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}} \mu^{-1}) \right\|_{L^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha},\infty}(W)}^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}} \le \phi(C_{\mu}, [W\mu^{-1}]_{A^{\mathcal{R}}_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}(\mu)}) \|f\|_{L^{q,1}(w)}^{q}.$$

Equivalently,

$$\left\|\frac{M_{\mu}f}{v}\right\|_{L_{v}^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha},\infty}(wv^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}})} \leq \phi(C_{\mu}, [W\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)})^{\frac{1}{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha}}} \|f\|_{L_{v}^{(1+\alpha)q_{\alpha},\frac{1+\alpha}{1+\alpha q}}(w)}$$

where $v = \left(\frac{\nu}{w}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}$, and for $1 \leq r < \infty$ and $0 < s \leq \infty$, $L_v^{r,s}(\varpi)$ is the weighted Lorentz space given by the quasi-norm $\|f\|_{L_v^{r,s}(\varpi)} := \|fv\|_{L^{r,s}(\varpi)}$.

Remark 8.15. Further hypotheses on ν and w may be required (see Subsection 8.3). In particular, $\mu, w^{\varepsilon} \in A_{\infty}$ for some $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$.

Observe that $L^{p,p}_{w^{1/p}}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(w)$, but this relation generally fails for arbitrary exponents r and s. We wonder what would happen if we were to replace the spaces $L^{p,1}(w)$ and $L^{p,\infty}(w)$ with $L^{p,1}_{w^{1/p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $L^{p,\infty}_{w^{1/p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the definition of restricted weak-type, and how this would affect the characterizations of $A^{\mathcal{R}}_p$ and the corresponding extrapolation schemes. Similar weak-type questions were studied in [67].

8.3. Extensions of $A_{\vec{P}}$ and extrapolation.

Given exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, with $\vec{P} = (p_1, \ldots, p_m)$, write

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{p_2} + \dots + \frac{1}{p_m}$$
 and $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \alpha$

Also, for positive, measurable functions v_1, \ldots, v_m , with $\vec{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$, write

$$\nu = \prod_{i=2}^{m} v_i^{\frac{1}{\alpha p_i}}, \quad \mu = \nu^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}, \text{ and } V = \nu_{\vec{v}} = v_1^{p/p_1} \nu^{\alpha p}.$$

In virtue of [62, Lemma 3.2] and Definition 5.4, if $\vec{v} \in A_{\vec{p}}$, then for $i = 2, \ldots, m$, $v_i \in A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}$, with $\sigma_i = \frac{1}{1+p_i(m-1)}$, $\mu \in A_{\frac{m}{1+\alpha}}$, and $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p}(\mu)$, with

$$[v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}} \le [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}^{\sigma_i p_i}, \quad [\mu]_{A_{\frac{m}{1+\alpha}}} \le [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}^{\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}, \quad \text{and} \quad [V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p}(\mu)} \le [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}^p.$$

Conversely, if v_2, \ldots, v_m , and μ are as above, and v_1 is such that $V\mu^{-1} \in A_{(1+\alpha)p}(\mu)$, then $\vec{v} \in A_{\vec{P}}$, with

$$[\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}} \leq [V\mu^{-1}]_{A_{(1+\alpha)p}(\mu)}^{1/p} [\mu]_{A_{\frac{m}{1+\alpha}}}^{1+\alpha} \prod_{i=2}^{m} [v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}}^{\frac{1}{\sigma_i p_i}}$$

Note that μ is a positive, locally finite, doubling Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , with doubling constant $C_{\mu} \leq 2^{\frac{nm}{1+\alpha}} [\mu]_{A_{\frac{m}{1+\alpha}}}$ (see [43, Proposition 7.1.5]).

Hence, we can combine Theorems 8.8 and 8.12 as we did in the proof of Theorem 6.1 to establish the weak-type $A_{\vec{p}}$ extrapolation theory in an alternate manner from [61, 62, 70], avoiding the use of Rubio de Francia's iteration algorithm as the primary tool in constructing measures.

Theorem 8.16. Given measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m , and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and every $\vec{v} \in A_{\vec{P}}$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{v}})} \le \varphi([\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}) \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i}(v_i)}$$

where $\varphi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. Then, for all exponents $1 < q_1, \ldots, q_m < \infty, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{q_m}$, and every $\vec{w} \in A_{\vec{Q}}$,

$$\|g\|_{L^{q,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})} \le \Phi([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{Q}}}) \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{q_i,\min\{p_i,q_i\}}(w_i)}$$

where $\Phi : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function. If for some $1 \le i \le m$, $p_i = 1$, then we can also take $q_i = 1$.

The first step towards a restricted weak-type analog of this theorem is to define a proper class of tuples of measures to extrapolate. We introduce some ideas that may not be final but point in the right direction.

Let us review the structure of $A_{\vec{p}}$. It follows from [60, Theorem 3.6] that $\vec{v} \in A_{\vec{p}}$ if, and only if for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, $v_i \in A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}$, with $\sigma_i = \frac{1}{1+p_i(m-1)}$, and $\nu_{\vec{v}} \in A_{mp}$. Moreover,

$$[\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}} \le [\nu_{\vec{v}}]_{A_{mp}}^{1/p} \prod_{i=1}^{m} [v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}}^{\frac{1}{\sigma_i p_i}}, \quad [\nu_{\vec{v}}]_{A_{mp}} \le [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}^p, \quad \text{and} \quad [v_i]_{A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}} \le [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}}^{\sigma_i p_i}.$$

This argument motivates the next definition.

62

Definition 8.17. Fix $1 \leq N_1, \ldots, N_m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, and $0 < \ell < m$. Given exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty, \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and $\sigma_i = \frac{1}{1+p_i(m-1)}, i = 1, \ldots, m$, and positive, measurable functions w_1, \ldots, w_m , with $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m)$, we say that:

- (a) $\vec{w} \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{N}}$, with $\vec{P} = (p_1, \ldots, p_m)$ and $\vec{N} = (N_1, \ldots, N_m)$, if $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}^{\sigma_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and $\nu_{\vec{w}} \in \widehat{A}_{mp,N_1 + \cdots + N_m}$. If $N_1 = \cdots = N_m = 1$, we simply write $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P}}$.
- (b) $\vec{w} \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{p},\vec{R},\vec{N}}^{r}$, with $\vec{R} = (p_1, \dots, p_\ell)$, $\vec{N} = (N_1, \dots, N_\ell)$, $\vec{P} = (p_{\ell+1}, \dots, p_m)$, if $w_i \in \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}^{\sigma_i}$, $i = 1, \dots, \ell$, $w_i \in A_{p_i}^{\sigma_i}$, $i = \ell + 1, \dots, m$, and $\nu_{\vec{w}} \in A_{mp}$ (or $\widehat{A}_{mp,N_1+\dots+N_\ell+m-\ell}$).

If
$$\ell = 0$$
, we take $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{N}} := A_{\vec{P}}$, and if $\ell = m$, we take $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{N}} := \widehat{A}_{\vec{R},\vec{N}}$

Remark 8.18. It is clear that these classes contain $A_{\vec{P}}$. Moreover, $\prod_{i=1}^{m} \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i} \subseteq \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{N}}$ and $\left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \widehat{A}_{p_i,N_i}\right) \times \left(\prod_{i=\ell+1}^{m} A_{p_i}\right) \subseteq \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{N}}$, and we want to believe that $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{N}} \subseteq A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$ and $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{N}} \subseteq A_{\vec{P},\vec{R}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, but proof is required. It would be helpful to produce characterizations of $A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$ and $A_{\vec{P},\vec{R}}^{\mathcal{R}}$ resembling [60, Theorem 3.6].

Note that if we take parameters $-n(1 + p_i(m-1)) < \beta_i \leq n(p_i-1), i = 1, \ldots, m$, with $-n < \sum_{i=1}^m \frac{p\beta_i}{p_i} \leq n(mp-1)$, then $\vec{w} = (|x|^{\beta_1}, \ldots, |x|^{\beta_m}) \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{n},\vec{1}}$ and if for $i = \ell + 1, \ldots, m$, we also impose that $\beta_i < n(p_i - 1)$, then $\vec{w} \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{1}}$ (see [43, Example 7.1.7]). In particular, if for some $1 \leq j \leq m, p_j \neq 1$, then for $\beta_j = n(p_j-1),$ $\vec{w} \notin A_{\vec{P}}$ if $1 \leq j \leq \ell$, and $\vec{w} \notin \widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{1}}$ if $\ell + 1 \leq j \leq m$.

It is worth mentioning that, mimicking the case m = 1, we can identify the following well-behaved subclass of $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P}}$.

Definition 8.19. Given exponents $1 \leq p_1, \ldots, p_m < \infty$, $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \cdots + \frac{1}{p_m}$, and positive, measurable functions w_1, \ldots, w_m , we say that $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m)$ belongs to $\hat{a}_{\vec{P}}$ if there exist functions $h_1, \ldots, h_m \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\vec{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_m) \in A_{\vec{1}}$ such that

$$\vec{w} = \left((Mh_1)^{1-p_1} u_1^{\frac{p_1}{mp}}, \dots, (Mh_m)^{1-p_m} u_m^{\frac{p_m}{mp}} \right).$$

We associate to this class the constant given by

$$\|\vec{w}\|_{\hat{a}_{\vec{P}}} := \inf [\vec{u}]_{A_{\vec{1}}},$$

where the infimum is taken over all suitable representations of \vec{w} .

Remark 8.20. In practice, for $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m) \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{P}}$, it would be convenient to construct functions $h_1, \ldots, h_m \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\vec{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ such that $\vec{w} = ((Mh_1)^{1-p_1}u_1, \ldots, (Mh_m)^{1-p_m}u_m)$, with $u_i^{\frac{1}{1+p_i(m-1)}} \in A_1$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and $u_1^{p/p_1} \ldots u_m^{p/p_m} \in A_1$. Is there a similar factorization result for $\vec{w} \in A_{\vec{P}}$, replacing Mh_1, \ldots, Mh_m by $v_1, \ldots, v_m \in A_1$?

After all we have seen so far, it seems reasonable to consider extrapolation theories for $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{N}}$ and $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{R},\vec{N}}$ (or even $\widehat{a}_{\vec{P}}$), but for now, we cannot follow the road map suggested by Theorems 8.8 and 8.12 because, given $(w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_m) \in \widehat{A}_{\vec{Q}}$, with $\vec{Q} = (q_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m)$, we don't know if for v_1 as in (8.14) or (8.20), (v_1, w_2, \ldots, w_m) is in $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P},\vec{N}}$, with $\vec{P} = (p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m)$ and $\vec{N} = (2, 1, \ldots, 1)$, or $\widehat{A}_{\vec{P}}$ if $q_1 = 1$. Luckily, for $\vec{Q} = \vec{1}$, we have that $\mu = w_2^{1/m} \ldots w_m^{1/m} \in A_1$, and something can be arranged.

EDUARD ROURE-PERDICES

We are now ready to present the first restricted weak-type extrapolation scheme assuming multi-variable conditions on the tuples of measures involved, which is an endpoint result that falls outside the classical multi-variable Rubio de Francia's extrapolation theory in [61, 62, 70]. Remarkably, our favorite Sawyer-type inequality saves the day through Lemma 8.6.

Theorem 8.21. Fix $m \ge 2$. Given measurable functions f_1, \ldots, f_m , and g, suppose that for some exponents $1 < p_1 < \infty$, $p_2 = \cdots = p_m = 1$, and $p = \frac{p_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}$, and every m-tuple of positive, measurable functions $\vec{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ such that $v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}} \in A_{\frac{mp_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}^{\mathcal{R}}, v_2^{1/m}, \ldots, v_m^{1/m} \in A_1$, and $\nu_{\vec{v}} \in A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}$, (8.21)

$$\|g\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{v}})} \leq \varphi([v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}]_{A_{\frac{mp_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}}, [v_2^{1/m}]_{A_1}, \dots, [v_m^{1/m}]_{A_1}, [\nu_{\vec{v}}]_{A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}})\prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v_i)},$$

where $\varphi : [1, \infty)^{m+1} \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is a function increasing in each variable. Then, for every $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m) \in A_{\vec{1}}$,

(8.22)
$$\|g\|_{L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})} \le \Phi([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}) \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_i\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p_i}}(w_i)}$$

where $\Phi: [1,\infty) \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$ is an increasing function.

Proof. We will adapt the proof of Theorem 8.8. Pick $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m) \in A_{\vec{1}}$. We know from [60, Theorem 3.6] and [62, Lemma 3.2] that for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and $\mu := w_2^{1/m} \ldots w_m^{1/m}$,

(8.23)
$$\max\left\{ [w_i^{1/m}]_{A_1}, [\mu]_{A_1}, [w_1^{1/m}]_{A_1(\mu)}, [\nu_{\vec{w}}]_{A_1} \right\} \le [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m}.$$

Fix y > 0 and $\gamma > 0$. We have that

(8.24)
$$\lambda_g^{\nu_{\vec{w}}}(y) = \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \nu_{\vec{w}} \le \lambda_{\mathscr{Z}}^{\nu_{\vec{w}}}(\gamma y) + \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \left(\frac{\gamma y}{\mathscr{Z}}\right)^{p-\frac{1}{m}} \nu_{\vec{w}} =: I + II,$$

where $\mathscr{Z} := M_{\mu} (f_1 w_1^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \mu^{-1})^m$.

To estimate the term I in (8.24), in virtue of (8.23), [50, (3.11)], and [43, Proposition 7.1.5], we deduce that

$$I \leq \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} \|\mathscr{Z}\|_{L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})}^{1/m} = \frac{1}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} \left\| M_{\mu}(f_{1}w_{1}^{1-\frac{1}{m}}\mu^{-1}) \right\|_{L^{1,\infty}(w_{1}^{1/m}d\mu)}$$
$$\leq \frac{10^{n+\log_{2}[\mu]_{A_{1}}}}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} [w_{1}^{1/m}]_{A_{1}(\mu)} \|f_{1}\|_{L^{1}(w_{1})} \leq \frac{p_{1}^{1-p_{1}}}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} 10^{n+\frac{1}{m}\log_{2}[\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m} \|f_{1}\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p_{1}}}(w_{1})}.$$

To estimate the term II in (8.24), take

(8.26)
$$v_1 := \left(M_{\mu} (f_1 w_1^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \mu^{-1}) \mu \right)^{1-p_1} w_1^{\frac{1+p_1(m-1)}{m}}$$

and $v_i := w_i, i = 2, \dots, m$. Since $\frac{1-p_1}{1+p_1(m-1)} = 1 - \frac{mp_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}$, it follows from (8.23) and Lemma 8.6 that $v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}} \in A_{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, with

$$[v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}]_{A_{\vec{1}}^{\mathcal{R}},\frac{mp_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}} \le \phi_n([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{\frac{1}{mp_1'}}[\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1}{m^2p}}$$

where $\phi_n : [1, \infty) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ is an increasing function depending only on the dimension n. Moreover,

$$\nu_{\vec{v}} = v_1^{p/p_1} v_2^{p/p_2} \dots v_m^{p/p_m} = v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}} \mu^{mp} = M_\mu (f_1 w_1^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \mu^{-1})^{1-mp} \mu w_1^{1/m},$$

and Lemma 8.4 tells us that $\nu_{\vec{v}} \in A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}$, with

$$[\nu_{\vec{v}}]_{A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}} \leq (\mathfrak{c}_{n}[\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1}{m}\left(1+\frac{1}{mp}\right)} = \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1}{m}\left(1+\frac{1}{mp}+\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}\right)},$$

and $\kappa > 1$ universal.

Hence, by (8.21) and the monotonicity of φ , we get that

$$II = \frac{(\gamma y)^p}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} \int_{\{|g|>y\}} \nu_{\vec{v}}$$

$$\leq \frac{\gamma^p}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} \varphi(\phi_n([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{\frac{1}{mp_1'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1}{m^2p}}, [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m}, \dots, \mathfrak{c}_n^{\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1+\kappa}{m}})^p \prod_{i=1}^m \|f_i\|_{L^{p_i,1}(v_i)}^p,$$

and $||f_1||_{L^{p_1,1}(v_1)} \le p_1 ||f_1||_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p_1}}(w_1)}^{1/p_1}$

Combining the estimates (8.24), (8.25), and (8.27), we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{g}^{\nu_{\vec{w}}}(y) &\leq \frac{p_{1}^{1-p_{1}}}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} 10^{n+\frac{1}{m}\log_{2}[\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m} \|f_{1}\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p_{1}}}(w_{1})} \\ &+ \frac{p_{1}^{p}\gamma^{p}}{(\gamma y)^{1/m}} \varphi(\phi_{n}([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{\frac{1}{mp_{1}'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1}{m2p}}, [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m}, \dots, \mathfrak{c}_{n}^{\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}} [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{\frac{1+\kappa}{m}})^{p} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{1,\frac{1}{p_{i}}}(w_{i})}^{p/p_{i}}, \end{split}$$

and taking the infimum over all $\gamma > 0$ (see [75, Lemma 3.1.1]), (8.22) holds, with (8.28)

$$\Phi(\xi) = \mathfrak{C}_{p_1}^m \left(10^{n + \frac{1}{m} \log_2 \xi} \xi^{1/m} \right)^{1 - \frac{1}{p_1}} \varphi(\phi_n(\xi^{1/m})^{\frac{1}{mp_1'}} \xi^{\frac{1}{m^2 p}}, \xi^{1/m}, \dots, \mathfrak{c}_n^{\frac{\kappa}{(mp)'}} \xi^{\frac{1+\kappa}{m}}), \quad \xi \ge 1,$$

where $\mathfrak{C}_{p_1}^m := p_1^{3 - \frac{1}{p_1} - p_1} (mp)^m (mp - 1)^{\frac{1}{p_1} - 1}.$ $\triangleright \triangleright \blacktriangleright$

From Theorem 8.21, we can obtain the following extrapolation result for multivariable operators arguing as in the proof of Corollary 6.3.

Corollary 8.22. Fix $m \ge 2$, and let T be an m-variable operator defined for characteristic functions. Suppose that for some exponents $1 < p_1 < \infty$, $p_2 = \cdots = p_m = 1$, and $p = \frac{p_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}$, every m-tuple of positive, measurable functions $\vec{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ such that $v_1^{\frac{1}{1+p_1(m-1)}} \in A_{\frac{mp_1}{1+p_1(m-1)}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, $v_2^{1/m}, \ldots, v_m^{1/m} \in A_1$, and $\nu_{\vec{v}} \in A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}$, and all measurable sets $E_1, \ldots, E_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|T(\chi_{E_1},\ldots,\chi_{E_m})\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\nu_{\vec{v}})} \le \varphi(v_1,\ldots,v_m,\nu_{\vec{v}}) \prod_{i=1}^m v_i(E_i)^{1/p_i}$$

with φ as in (8.21). Then, for every $\vec{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_m) \in A_{\vec{1}}$, and all measurable sets $F_1, \ldots, F_m \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|T(\chi_{F_1},\ldots,\chi_{F_m})\|_{L^{\frac{1}{m},\infty}(\nu_{\vec{w}})} \le p_1^{p_1-1}\Phi([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}})\prod_{i=1}^m w_i(F_i),$$

with Φ as in (8.28).

Remark 8.23. The extension of this last bound to the full weak-type $(1, \ldots, 1, \frac{1}{m})$ would require a version of Theorem 2.4 for tuples of measures in $A_{\vec{1}}$. At the time of writing, such a result is not available.

Note that for $\vec{w} \in A_{\vec{1}}$, and v_1, \ldots, v_m as in (8.26), we have that $\vec{v} \in A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, with $\vec{P} = (p_1, 1, \ldots, 1)$. Indeed, by the argument in the proof of Lemma 8.6, and using (8.23), we get that for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\frac{\|\chi_Q v_1^{-1}\|_{L^{p'_1,\infty}(v_1)}}{|Q|} \le \phi_n([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{1-\frac{1}{p_1}} \left([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m} \frac{\mu(Q)}{\nu_{\vec{w}}(Q)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p_1}+m-1} \times \left(\left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in Q} \mu(y)\right)\left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in Q} M_\mu h(y)\right)\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p_1}} |Q|^{-\frac{1}{p_1}}$$

where $h := f_1 w_1^{1-\frac{1}{m}} \mu^{-1}$. Also, from [62, Lemma 3.2] and [60, Theorem 3.6], we deduce that the *m*-tuple $(1, w_2, \ldots, w_m)$ is in $A_{\vec{1}}$, with

$$[(1, w_2, \dots, w_m)]_{A_{\vec{1}}} := \sup_Q \left(\frac{\mu(Q)}{|Q|}\right)^m \prod_{i=2}^m \left(\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in Q} w_i(y) \right)^{-1} \le [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^m.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} [\vec{v}]_{A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}} &\coloneqq \sup_{Q} \nu_{\vec{v}}(Q)^{1/p} \frac{\|\chi_{Q} v_{1}^{-1}\|_{L^{p_{1}',\infty}(v_{1})}}{|Q|} \prod_{i=2}^{m} \frac{\mathrm{ess\,} \sup_{y \in Q} w_{i}(y)^{-1}}{|Q|} \\ &\leq \phi_{n}([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{1-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \sup_{Q} \left(\operatorname{ess\,} \inf_{y \in Q} \mu(y) \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} |Q|^{1-m-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \prod_{i=2}^{m} \left(\operatorname{ess\,} \inf_{y \in Q} w_{i}(y) \right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m} \frac{\mu(Q)}{\nu_{\vec{w}}(Q)} \int_{Q} (M_{\mu}h)^{\frac{1-p_{1}}{1+p_{1}(m-1)}} \nu_{\vec{w}} \right)^{\frac{1}{p_{1}}+m-1} \left(\operatorname{ess\,} \inf_{y \in Q} M_{\mu}h(y) \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \\ &\leq [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{m+\frac{1}{mp}} \phi_{n}([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{1-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \sup_{Q} \left(|Q| \operatorname{ess\,} \inf_{y \in Q} \mu(y) \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p_{1}}} \mu(Q)^{\frac{1}{p_{1}}-1} \\ &\leq [\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{m+\frac{1}{mp}} \phi_{n}([\vec{w}]_{A_{\vec{1}}}^{1/m})^{1/p_{1}'}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the extrapolation argument described in the proof of Theorem 8.21 and Corollary 8.22 can be applied to classical multi-variable operators such as the multi-sub-linear maximal operator \mathcal{M} , sparse operators like $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$, and multi-linear Calderón-Zygmund operators, for which we can prove weighted restricted weak-type bounds (see [74, Theorem 10]).

Theorem 8.21 and Corollary 8.22 are proof of concept; they show that a genuinely multi-variable restricted weak-type extrapolation theory is conceivable, and that the appropriate conditions on the measures involved are close to $v_i^{\frac{1}{1+p_i(m-1)}} \in A_{\frac{m_p}{1+p_i(m-1)}}^{\mathcal{R}}$, $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and $\nu_{\vec{v}} \in A_{mp}^{\mathcal{R}}$, which should characterize $A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$.

To keep advancing, one may have to develop the theory of $A_p^{\mathcal{R}}(\mu)$ weights further, generalize Subsection 8.1 for $\mu \in A_{\infty}$, prove restricted weak-type versions of [62, Lemma 3.2] and [60, Theorem 3.6], and make some progress with Conjecture 8.14 and suitable dual forms of it.

In [74], we suggested that multi-variable Sawyer-type inequalities for \mathcal{M} might play a role in $A_{\vec{P}}^{\mathcal{R}}$ extrapolation, but for now, this doesn't seem to be the case. Nevertheless, the relation between [74, Conjecture 1] and Conjecture 8.14 should be explored.

Author's note

The reader may encounter the phantom reference *Endpoint weighted estimates for bi-linear Fourier multipliers via restricted bi-linear extrapolation* in the literature, an unfinished draft containing E. R. P.'s ideas, results, and figure designs from Chapter 3 of his Ph.D. dissertation. Due to the censorship, discrimination, and contempt that E. R. P. suffered from the principal investigators of his former research group while preparing such a manuscript, he decided to discontinue the project and not authorize its publication. That material should not have been circulated without proper citation; that is, [75]. The present document supersedes the one above.

Coping with rights violations, negligence, unethical behavior, toxic workplace culture, and the challenges posed by COVID-19 resulted in mental and emotional exhaustion. There have been plenty of reasons to let this research rot, yet here it is, fresh as a fish, against all odds. The intervention of two individuals made it possible. The author is indebted to Carlos Pérez Moreno for his trust, support, and mentorship, especially during the aftermath of the pandemic. The author also wishes to express gratitude to Marta de León Contreras for providing an opportunity that motivated him enough to jump-start this study again, as well as to the personnel he met at UPV/EHU and BCAM for their help and assistance.

Regarding funding, the Margarita Salas grant was advertised as highly competitive and prestigious but did not comply, forcing part of its beneficiaries to resign or file a lawsuit against the employing universities. By contrast, PGC2018-094522-B-I00 worked like a charm.

References

- Andersen, K. F.; Muckenhoupt, B.: Weighted weak type Hardy inequalities with applications to Hilbert transforms and maximal functions. *Studia Math.* 72 (1982), no. 1, 9–26.
- [2] Auscher, P.; Martell, J. M.: Weighted norm inequalities, off-diagonal estimates and elliptic operators. I. General operator theory and weights. Adv. Math. 212 (2007), no. 1, 225–276.
- [3] Baena-Miret, S.; Carro, M. J.: On weak-type (1,1) for averaging type operators. J. Funct. Anal. 284 (2023), no. 10, Paper No. 109902, 24 pp.
- [4] Baena-Miret, S.; Carro, M. J.; Luque, T.; Sánchez-Pascuala, L.: Bilinear Fourier Multipliers of Bounded Variation. Int. Math. Res. Not. (2023), no. 24, 21943–21975.
- [5] Barza, S.; Kolyada, V.; Soria, J.: Sharp constants related to the triangle inequality in Lorentz spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 (2009), no. 10, 5555–5574.
- [6] Bastero, J.; Milman, M.; Ruiz, F. J.: Rearrangement of Hardy-Littlewood maximal functions in Lorentz spaces. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 128 (2000), no. 1, 65–74.
- [7] Benedetto, J. J.; Czaja, W.: Integration and modern analysis. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, 2009.
- [8] Bennett, C.; DeVore, R. A.; Sharpley, R.: Weak-L[∞] and BMO. Ann. of Math. (2) 113 (1981), no. 3, 601–611.
- [9] Bennett, C.; Sharpley, R.: Interpolation of operators. Pure and Applied Mathematics, 129, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988.
- [10] Bernardis, A. L.; Crescimbeni, R.; Martín-Reyes, F. J.: Multilinear Cesàro maximal operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 397 (2013), no. 1, 191–204.
- [11] Bloom, S.: Solving weighted norm inequalities using the Rubio de Francia algorithm. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 101 (1987), no. 2, 306–312.
- [12] Buckley, S.: Estimates for operator norms on weighted spaces and reverse Jensen inequalities. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **340** (1993), no. 1, 253–272.
- [13] Cao, M.; Ibañez-Firnkorn, G.; Rivera-Ríos, I. P.; Xue, Q; Yabuta, K.: A class of multilinear bounded oscillation operators on measure spaces and applications. *Math. Ann.* 388 (2024), no. 4, 3627–3755.
- [14] Carro, M. J.: From restricted weak type to strong type estimates. J. London Math. Soc. 70 (2004), no. 3, 750–762.

- [15] Carro, M. J.; Grafakos, L.; Martell, J. M.; Soria, F.: Multilinear extrapolation and applications to the bilinear Hilbert transform. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 357 (2009), no. 2, 479–497.
- [16] Carro, M. J.; Grafakos, L.; Soria, J.: Weighted weak-type (1, 1) estimates via Rubio de Francia extrapolation. J. Funct. Anal. 269 (2015), no. 5, 1203–1233.
- [17] Carro, M. J.; Roure-Perdices, E: Weighted boundedness of the 2-fold product of Hardy-Littlewood maximal operators. *Math. Nachr.* 291 (2018), no. 8-9, 1208–1215.
- [18] Carro, M. J.; Soria, J.: Restricted weak-type Rubio de Francia extrapolation for $p > p_0$ with applications to exponential integrability estimates. *Adv. Math.* **290** (2016), 888–918.
- [19] Carro, M. J.; Soria, J.; Torres, R. H.: Rubio de Francia's extrapolation theory: estimates for the distribution function. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 85 (2012), no. 2, 430–454.
- [20] Chung, D.; Pereyra, M. C.; Pérez, C.: Sharp bounds for general commutators on weighted Lebesgue spaces. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 364 (2012), no. 3, 1163–1177.
- [21] Coifman, R. R.; Meyer, Y.: On commutators of singular integrals and bilinear singular integrals. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 212 (1975), 315–331.
- [22] Coifman, R. R.; Meyer, Y.: Commutateurs d'intégrales singulières et opérateurs multilinéaires. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 28 (1978), no. 3, xi, 177–202.
- [23] Coifman, R. R.; Rochberg, R.; Weiss, G.: Factorization theorems for Hardy spaces in several variables. Ann. of Math. (2) 103 (1976), no. 3, 611–635.
- [24] Cruz-Uribe, D.: Extrapolation and Factorization. arXiv:1706.02620 [math.CA], June 8, 2017.
- [25] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Martell, J. M.: Limited range multilinear extrapolation with applications to the bilinear Hilbert transform. *Math. Ann.* **371** (2018), no. 1-2, 615–653.
- [26] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Martell, J. M.; Pérez, C.: Extrapolation from A_∞ weights and applications. J. Funct. Anal. 213 (2004), no. 2, 412–439.
- [27] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Martell, J. M.; Pérez, C.: Weighted weak-type inequalities and a conjecture of Sawyer. Int. Math. Res. Not. (2005), no. 30, 1849–1871.
- [28] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Martell, J. M.; Pérez, C.: Weights, extrapolation and the theory of Rubio de Francia. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 215, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [29] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Moen, K.: A multilinear reverse Hölder inequality with applications to multilinear weighted norm inequalities. *Georgian Math. J.* 27 (2020), no. 1, 37–42.
- [30] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Neugebauer, C. J.: The structure of the reverse Hölder classes. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 347 (1995), no. 8, 2941–2960.
- [31] Cruz-Uribe, D.; Pérez, C.: Two weight extrapolation via the maximal operator. J. Funct. Anal. 174 (2000), no. 1, 1–17.
- [32] Chung, H. H.; Hunt, R.; Kurtz, D. S.: The Hardy-Littlewood maximal function on L(p,q) spaces with weights. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 31 (1982), 109–120.
- [33] Dragičević, O.; Grafakos, L.; Pereyra, M. C.; Petermichl, S.: Extrapolation and sharp norm estimates for classical operators on weighted Lebesgue spaces. *Publ. Mat.* 49 (2005), no. 1, 73–91.
- [34] Duoandikoetxea, J.: Fourier analysis. Translated and revised from the 1995 Spanish original by David Cruz-Uribe. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 29, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001.
- [35] Duoandikoetxea, J.: Extrapolation of weights revisited: new proofs and sharp bounds. J. Funct. Anal. 260 (2011), no. 6, 1886–1901.
- [36] Duoandikoetxea, J.; Martín-Reyes, F. J.; Ombrosi, S.: On the A_∞ conditions for general bases. Math. Z. 282 (2016), no. 3-4, 955–972.
- [37] Duoandikoetxea, J.; Oruetxebarria, O.: Weighted mixed-norm inequalities through extrapolation. Math. Nachr. 292 (2019), no. 7, 1482–1489.
- [38] Fefferman, C.; Stein, E. M.: Some maximal inequalities. Amer. J. Math. 93 (1971), 107–115.
- [39] Folland, G. B.: Real analysis. Modern techniques and their applications. Second edition. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Wiley-Interscience Publ., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1999.
- [40] Fujita, M.; Tomita, N.: Weighted norm inequalities for multilinear Fourier multipliers. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 364 (2012), no. 12, 6335–6353.
- [41] García-Cuerva, J.: An extrapolation theorem in the theory of A_p weights. *Proc. Amer. Math.* Soc. 87 (1983), no. 3, 422–426.

- [42] García-Cuerva, J.; Rubio de Francia, J. L.: Weighted norm inequalities and related topics. North-Holland Math. Stud., 116, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1985.
- [43] Grafakos, L.: Classical Fourier analysis. Third edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 249, Springer, New York, 2014.
- [44] Grafakos, L.: Modern Fourier analysis. Third edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 250, Springer, New York, 2014.
- [45] Grafakos, L.; Kalton, N. J.: The Marcinkiewicz multiplier condition for bilinear operators. Studia Math. 146 (2001), no. 2, 115–156.
- [46] Grafakos, L.; Martell, J. M.: Extrapolation of weighted norm inequalities for multivariable operators and applications. J. Geom. Anal. 14 (2004), no. 1, 19–46.
- [47] Grafakos, L.; Torres, R. H.: Multilinear Calderón-Zygmund theory. Adv. Math. 165 (2002), no. 1, 124–164.
- [48] Harboure, E.; Macías, R. A.; Segovia, C.: Extrapolation results for classes of weights. Amer. J. Math. 110 (1988), no. 3, 383–397.
- [49] Hardy, G. H.; Littlewood, J. E.: A maximal theorem with function-theoretic applications. Acta Math. 54 (1930), no. 1, 81–116.
- [50] Hytönen, T.; Pérez, C.; Rela, E.: Sharp reverse Hölder property for A_{∞} weights on spaces of homogeneous type. J. Funct. Anal. **263** (2012), no. 12, 3883–3899.
- [51] Kenig, C. E.; Stein, E. M.: Multilinear estimates and fractional integration. Math. Res. Lett. 6 (1999), no. 1, 1–15.
- [52] Kerman, R. A.; Torchinsky, A.: Integral inequalities with weights for the Hardy maximal function. *Studia Math.* **71** (1982), no. 3, 277–284.
- [53] Kurki, E.-K.; Mudarra, C.: On the extension of Muckenhoupt weights in metric spaces. Nonlinear Anal. 215 (2022), Paper No. 112671, 20 pp.
- [54] Lacey, M.: The bilinear maximal functions map into L^p for 2/3 . Ann. of Math. (2)**151**(2000), no. 1, 35–57.
- [55] Lacey, M.; Thiele, C.: L^p estimates on the bilinear Hilbert transform for 2 Math. (2) 146 (1997), no. 3, 693–724.
- [56] Lacey, M.; Thiele, C.: On Calderón's conjecture for the bilinear Hilbert transform. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998), no. 9, 4828–4830.
- [57] Lacey, M.; Thiele, C.: On Calderón's conjecture. Ann. of Math. (2) 149 (1999), no. 2, 475–496.
- [58] Leckband, M. A.; Neugebauer, C. J.: Weighted iterates and variants of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **279** (1983), no. 1, 51–61.
- [59] Lerner, A. K.; Ombrosi, S.; Pérez, C.: A₁ bounds for Calderón-Zygmund operators related to a problem of Muckenhoupt and Wheeden. *Math. Res. Lett.* 16 (2009), no. 1, 149–156.
- [60] Lerner, A. K.; Ombrosi, S.; Pérez, C.; Torres, R. H.; Trujillo-González, R.: New maximal functions and multiple weights for the multilinear Calderón-Zygmund theory. Adv. Math. 220 (2009), no. 4, 1222–1264.
- [61] Li, K.; Martell, J. M.; Martikainen, H.; Ombrosi, S.; Vuorinen, E.: End-point estimates, extrapolation for multilinear Muckenhoupt classes, and applications. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 374 (2021), no. 1, 97–135.
- [62] Li, K.; Martell, J. M.; Ombrosi, S.: Extrapolation for multilinear Muckenhoupt classes and applications. Adv. Math. 373 (2020), 107286.
- [63] Li, K.; Ombrosi, S.; Rivera-Ríos, I. P.: Upper endpoint estimates and extrapolation for commutators. *Rev. Un. Mat. Argentina* 66 (2023), no. 1, 213–228.
- [64] Maldonado, D.; Naibo, V.: Weighted norm inequalities for paraproducts and bilinear pseudodifferential operators with mild regularity. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 15 (2009), no. 2, 218–261.
- [65] Moon, K. H.: On restricted weak type (1,1). Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 42 (1974), 148–152.
- [66] Muckenhoupt, B.: Weighted norm inequalities for the Hardy maximal function. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 165 (1972), 207–226.
- [67] Muckenhoupt, B.; Wheeden, R. L.: Some weighted weak-type inequalities for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function and the Hilbert transform. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 26 (1977), no. 5, 801–816.
- [68] Muscalu, C.; Tao, T.; Thiele, C.: Multi-linear operators given by singular multipliers. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 (2002), no. 2, 469–496.
- [69] Neugebauer, C. J.: A double weight extrapolation theorem. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 93 (1985), no. 3, 451–455.

- [70] Nieraeth, Z.: Quantitative estimates and extrapolation for multilinear weight classes. Math. Ann. 375 (2019), no. 1-2, 453–507.
- [71] Nieraeth, Z.; Rey, G.: Weighted BMO estimates for singular integrals and endpoint extrapolation in Banach function spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 521 (2023), no. 1, Paper No. 126942, 18 pp.
- [72] Pérez, C.: Singular integrals and weights. *Harmonic and geometric analysis*, 91–143, Adv. Courses Math. CRM Barcelona, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2015.
- [73] Pérez, C.: About $[(M\mu)^{1-p}]_{A_{p,1}} \approx c_n$. Unpublished notes, July 3, 2015.
- [74] Pérez, C.; Roure-Perdices, E.: Sawyer-type inequalities for Lorentz spaces. Math. Ann. 383 (2022), no. 1-2, 493–528.
- [75] Roure-Perdices, E.: Restricted Weak Type Extrapolation of Multi-Variable Operators and Related Topics. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Barcelona, 2019. Available at http://hdl. handle.net/2445/148841 and http://hdl.handle.net/10803/668407.
- [76] Rubio de Francia, J. L.: Factorization and extrapolation of weights. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 7 (1982), no. 2, 393–395.
- [77] Rubio de Francia, J. L.: Factorization theory and A_p weights. Amer. J. Math. 106 (1984), no. 3, 533–547.
- [78] Rudin, W.: Real and complex analysis. Second edition. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Düsseldorf-Johannesburg, 1974.
- [79] Schep, A. R.: Minkowski's integral inequality for function norms. Operator theory in function spaces and Banach lattices, 299–308, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 75, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995.
- [80] Stein, E. M.: Editor's note: the differentiability of functions in \mathbb{R}^n . Ann. of Math. (2) 113 (1981), no. 2, 383–385.
- [81] Stein, E. M.; Weiss, G.: An extension of a theorem of Marcinkiewicz and some of its applications. J. Math. Mech. 8 (1959), no. 2, 263–284.
- [82] Strömberg, J.-O.; Torchinsky, A.: Weighted Hardy spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1381, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989.
- [83] Vargas, A. M.: Weighted weak type (1, 1) bounds for rough operators. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 54 (1996), no. 2, 297–310.
- [84] Xue, Q.; Yan, J.: Multilinear version of reversed Hölder inequality and its applications to multilinear Calderón-Zygmund operators. J. Math. Soc. Japan 64 (2012), no. 4, 1053–1069.

Vicerectorat de Recerca, Universitat de Barcelona, 08007 Barcelona, Spain.

Department of Mathematics, University of the Basque Country UPV/EHU, Sarriena s/n, 48940 Leioa - Bizkaia, Spain.

Email address: eduardroure@protonmail.ch